NOTICE OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE
LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES & TOWNS
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Friday, November 14, 2014 at 10:00 a.m.
League Office Building
1820 West Washington, Phoenix
Notice is hereby given to the members of the Executive Committee and to the general public that the Executive
Committee will hold a meeting open to the public on November 14, 2014 at 10:00 a.m. Members of the
Executive Committee will attend either in person or by telephone conference call. The Executive Committee
may vote to recess the meeting and move into Executive Session on any item on this agenda. Upon
completion of Executive Session, the Executive Committee may resume the meeting, open to the public, to
address the remaining items on the agenda. A copy of the agenda is available at the League office building in
Suite 200 or on the League website at www.azleague.org.

Agenda
All items on this agenda are scheduled for discussion and possible action, unless otherwise noted.
CONSENT AGENDA: All items listed with an asterisk (*) will be considered as a group by the
Executive Committee and will be enacted with one motion. There will be no separate discussion of these
items unless a member requests, in which event the item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and
considered as a separate item in its normal sequence on the Agenda.
Call to Order; Flag Salute
Introduction of New Executive Committee Members
1. Resignation and Appointment of Executive Committee Member from City of Mesa
Consent Agenda
*2. Minutes
*3. Policy Committee Chairs and Process Memo; Budget Subcommittee Chair
*4. Recent League Amicus Briefs
*5. Resolutions of Appreciation
Regular Agenda
6. TPT Implementation Update
7. Legislative Policy Discussion
• Election Results; legislative makeup and leadership
• Shared Revenue Issues
• PSPRS Task Force
• League Resolutions
8. League Annual Survey Results
9. Report on AZ Cities @ Work Campaign
10. Recap of 2014 Annual Conference
11. 2012-2013 Audit Report
Adjournment
Additional informational materials are included in the agenda packet but are not part of the agenda.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
Friday, November 14, 2014 at 10:00 a.m.

Agenda Item #1

Resignation and Appointment of Executive Committee Member from
City of Mesa

Summary:

There is currently a vacancy on the Executive Committee. According to the
League Charter, the Executive Committee may make appointments to fill
vacancies, delay appointment until a later meeting or refer the vacancy to the
Nominating Committee at the League Conference next August.

Responsible Person:

Mayor Bob Rivera, Nominating Committee Chairman

Attachments:

Resignation letter from Councilmember Alex Finter

Action Requested:

Approval

CITY COUNCIL

October 22, 2014
Mayor Mark Mitchell
President, Arizona League of Cities and Towns
1820 W. Washington St.
Phoenix, AZ 85007
Mayor Mitchell,
On August 20, 2014, I was selected by the League Nominating Committee to serve on the League
Executive Committee. Since that time, the City of Mesa held a special election for the Office of Mayor
and John Giles was sworn in on September 18, 2014. Consequently, I concluded my service as Mayor
and returned to my council seat representing the residents of District 2.
Mayor John Giles is dedicated to the ideals of local control and self-governance and has an extensive
history working with municipal issues as a former Mesa City Councilmember. As Mesa’s Mayor he
would like to represent our City on the League Executive Committee and continue the 46 years of
service Mesa has contributed to this committee and organization. Therefore, I ask that you accept my
resignation and allow Mayor John Giles the opportunity to serve on the League Executive Committee.
Thank you for your consideration.
Sincerely,

Councilmember Alex Finter
District 2
cc: Ken Strobeck, Executive Director

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
Friday, November 14, 2014 at 10:00 a.m.

Consent Agenda
Item #2*

Minutes

Summary:

Minutes of the previous meeting and minutes from the Annual Business
Meeting are enclosed for your review and approval.

Responsible Person:

President Mark Mitchell

Attachments:

August 20, 2014 Executive Committee Minutes
August 21, 2014 Annual Business Meeting Minutes

Action Requested:

Approval

MINUTES
LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
Wednesday, August 20, 2014 at 11:45 a.m.
Sheraton Phoenix Downtown Hotel, Ahwatukee Room
340 North 3rd Street
Phoenix, Arizona
MEMBERS
Mark Nexsen, Mayor, Lake Havasu City
Thomas L. Schoaf, Mayor, Litchfield Park
Ed Honea, Mayor, Marana
Kenny Evans, Mayor, Payson
Bob Barrett, Mayor, Peoria*
Greg Stanton, Mayor, Phoenix
Harvey Skoog, Mayor, Prescott Valley*
Lynne Skelton, Councilmember, Sahuarita
W.J. "Jim" Lane, Mayor, Scottsdale
Rob Adams, Mayor, Sedona
Rick Mueller, Mayor, Sierra Vista
Sharon Wolcott, Mayor, Surprise
Bob Rivera, Mayor, Thatcher
Jonathan Rothschild, Mayor, Tucson

President
Doug Von Gausig, Mayor, Clarkdale
Vice President
Mark Mitchell, Mayor, Tempe
Treasurer
Jay Tibshraeny, Mayor, Chandler

Gilbert Lopez, Councilmember, Coolidge
Lana Mook, Mayor, El Mirage
John Lewis, Mayor, Gilbert
Jerry Weiers, Mayor, Glendale
*Not in attendance

League President Doug Von Gausig called the meeting to order at 12:05 p.m.
1. REVIEW AND ADOPTION OF MINUTES
Mayor Jonathan Rothschild moved to approve minutes of May 9, 2014 Executive Committee meeting;
Mayor Bob Rivera seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.

2. REPORT ON LEGISLATIVE ISSUES/LEAGUE OUTREACH & LEGISLATIVE TOUR
President Doug Von Gausig recognized League Executive Director Ken Strobeck to give a Legislative
update.
Executive Director Strobeck told the group that League Staff went on its annual tour of cities and towns
for the Legislative Roadshow, an overview presentation of the 2014 legislative session. He noted that the
League’s legislative team had covered a large portion of the state with the roadshow, giving 12 total
presentations.
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Mr. Strobeck then talked to the group about the upcoming legislative session, highlighting specifically the
concerns the League has with K-12 Education Funding. He reminded the committee that, in September
2013, the Arizona Supreme Court had ruled that the Legislature was required to increase K-12 education
funding by an annual inflationary factor. The Legislature suspended the inflation factor for four years,
citing the recession, but resumed funding in the 2014 budget. Because the Legislature did not
retroactively fund the inflation factor, the court determined that the Legislature would need to incorporate
the $317 million a year from retroactive funding to the education budget.
Mr. Strobeck also told the committee that funding for other programs may suffer as a result, which could
potentially cause the greatest threat to shared revenue in the history of the shared revenue program. He
noted that shared revenue is protected by Proposition 208, with any shift in allocation of tax funds
between state and cities/counties requiring a 2/3 vote in both chambers. While this has historically never
occurred, it is possible cities and towns could lose support if a situation called for legislators to choose
education over municipalities. Mr. Strobeck told the group that they needed to be prepared to confront
this challenge, noting that League Vice President Mark Mitchell has already started building a coalition of
support with local businesses through the creation of the business roundtable.
Vice President Mark Mitchell then urged members of the Executive Committee to reach out to businesses
in their communities.
Executive Director Strobeck also told the group that SB1525 had gone into full effect as of August 1. He
noted that the current moratorium on impact fee legislation would expire when Governor Brewer left
office. The League thinks it is possible the homebuilders may ask for more changes to impact fees during
the next legislative session and told the Executive Committee that an interested workgroup was created to
develop suggestions from municipalities on this issue.

3. TPT IMPLEMENTATION UPDATE
League President Doug Von Gausig introduced League Deputy Director Tom Belshe to give an update on
TPT Implementation.
Deputy Director Belshe told the Executive Committee that the ongoing process of TPT implementation
had garnered some success, but there were also several concerns with the timeline. He also recognized the
City of Phoenix staff for having gone out of their way to make a good transition for self-collecting cities.
He told the Executive Committee that the process of determining the handling of the audit process has
gone well. City and town auditors have been representing cities at the state, ensuring that they are capable
of working closely with Arizona Department of Revenue (ADOR). He said that an audit manual has been
prepared and is nearly ready to go, with the League being comfortable with how this process is going. Mr.
Belshe also noted that the standardizing process for tax licensing implementation has been going well,
with inspection continuing to be handled by city staff. Program cities will benefit with improved reporting
that will come directly from ADOR.
Mr. Belshe then told the committee that the main issue was with the current timeline of the portal. He
noted that the group is continuing work on AZTaxes.Gov, which will be the interface that businesses will
use to enter their tax. This interface, however, is not currently working cohesively with the database that
collects information and distributes it to the cities and towns. Mr. Belshe told the group that because cities
and towns have thousands of taxpayers that the state doesn’t have, it is a difficult process to identify those
particular taxpayers and place them into the system. He said that the group may need to hold discussion
with the Governor’s office if they don’t meet the current deadline.
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4. REPORT ON PSPRS TASK FORCE
President Doug Von Gausig welcomed League Legislative Director René Guillen to brief the Executive
Committee on actions of League Staff regarding pension reform.
Legislative Director Guillen told the committee that the League had formed a workgroup in partnership
with the Arizona City/County Management Association (ACMA) and the Government Finance Officers
of Arizona (GFOAz). The group was a 15-member panel with five delegates from each organization. Mr.
Guillen informed the group that Scott McCarty, finance director from the town of Paradise Valley, was
serving as the chair of the committee, with Mike Townsend, deputy county manager of Coconino County,
serving as co-chair.
This taskforce was formed with the assignment of looking at the PSPRS retirement system and reviewing
it for potential long-term stability and long-term viability. The group would also make recommendations
for support from the League, so the Executive Committee will be briefed regarding future discussions on
potential legislative action.
Mr. Guillen said the taskforce had held a few meetings, with the most recent being a day-long educational
meeting with presentations from PSPRS administrative staff. He noted that the next meeting will bring in
national groups that represent public pension administrators and public pensions to present their research
on what national trends are and what structures are being used in other states.

5. RECOGNITION OF OUTGOING COMMITTEE MEMBER
President Doug Von Gausig read the Resolution of Appreciation to Marie Lopez Rogers, former Mayor of
Avondale. He recognized her for her work as a mayor and member of the Executive Committee, as well
as her work serving as president of the National League of Cities. Mayor Bob Rivera moved to pass the
Resolution of Appreciation; Mayor Rick Mueller seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.
President Doug Von Gausig also gave words of appreciation to Mayor Rob Adams of Sedona and
Councilmember Lynne Skelton of Sahuarita, for serving as members of the Executive Committee.

6. EXECUTIVE SESSION: ANNUAL EVALUATION OF LEAGUE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
The committee moved to convene in executive session to conduct the annual evaluation of Executive
Director Ken Strobeck.
Seeing no further business, President Von Gausig adjourned the meeting at 1:35 p.m.
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MINUTES OF THE
ANNUAL BUSINESS MEETING
of the
LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
Thursday, August 21, 2014 - 4:00 p.m.
Ahwatukee Room, Sheraton Phoenix Downtown Hotel
Phoenix, Arizona

IN ATTENDANCE
Voting Delegates from Member Cities and Towns as follows:
MEMBERS
Jim McDonald, Councilmember, Avondale
Jack Hakim, Mayor, Bullhead City
Charles German, Mayor, Camp Verde
Doug Von Gausig, Mayor, Clarkdale
John Schempf, Manager, Clifton
Gilbert Lopez, Vice Mayor, Coolidge
Diane Joens, Mayor, Cottonwood
Jerry Nabours, Mayor, Flagstaff
Linda Kavanagh, Mayor, Fountain Hills
John Lewis, Mayor, Gilbert
Jerry Weiers, Mayor, Glendale
Terence Wheeler, Mayor, Globe
Georgia Lord, Mayor, Goodyear
Rebecca Jimenez, Mayor, Guadalupe
Samuel Hosler, Mayor, Kearny
Janet Watson, Mayor, Kingman
Mark Nexsen, Mayor, Lake Havasu City

I.

Thomas Schoaf, Mayor, Litchfield Park
Ed Honea, Mayor, Marana
Christian Price, Mayor, Maricopa
Bill Diak, Mayor, Page
Kenny Evans, Mayor, Payson
Jeff McCormick, Manager, Pima
Harvey Skoog, Mayor, Prescott Valley
John Martinez, Councilmember, Sedona
Daryl Seymore, Mayor, Show Low
Rick Mueller, Mayor, Sierra Vista
Sharon Wolcott, Mayor, Surprise
Andrew Ching, Manager, Tempe
Bob Rivera, Mayor, Thatcher
Greg Bryan, Mayor, Tusayan
James Deermer, Mayor, Wellton
Douglas Nicholls, Mayor, Yuma

CALL TO ORDER
President Doug Von Gausig, Mayor of Clarkdale, called the meeting to order at 4:05 p.m.

II.

INTRODUCTORY REMARKS
President Von Gausig welcomed the delegates to the meeting and reminded everyone that each city and
town has one vote.

III.

DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ADOPTION OF AMENDMENT TO LEAGUE CONSTITUTION
President Von Gausig introduced the amendment to the League Constitution and explained that it provided
a comprehensive update to the League governing document as approved by the Executive Committee at its
May 9, 2014 meeting.
Mayor Kenny Evans, Payson moved for adoption of the constitutional amendment and Mayor Rick
Mueller, Sierra Vista seconded. The amendment was adopted.

IV.

REPORT OF RESOLUTIONS COMMITTEE AND ADOPTION OF 2015 MUNICIPAL
POLICY STATEMENT
Mayor Mark Nexsen of Lake Havasu City, Chairman of the Resolutions Committee, was recognized by
President Von Gausig to give the Resolution Committee’s report. Mayor Nexsen reported that the
resolutions adopted by the Resolutions Committee were before them and asked if there were any
objections. M ayor Diane Joens of Cottonwood moved to adopt the Resolutions as adopted by the
Resolutions Committee. Mayor Ed Honea of Marana, seconded and the motion carried. The
Resolutions are attached and made a part of these minutes.

V.

REPORT OF NOMINATING COMMITTEE AND ELECTION OF EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Mayor Bob Rivera of Thatcher, Chairman of the Nominating Committee, was recognized by President
Von Gausig to give the Nominating Committee's report.
Mayor Rivera thanked the Nominating Committee members for their participation and all the applicants
for their interest in serving. He then read the recommendations for the Executive Committee officer and
member positions and made a motion to adopt the report of the Nominating Committee. President Von
Gausig then asked if there were any nominations from the floor. There were none. Vice Mayor Gilbert
Lopez of Coolidge seconded the motion and those nominated were elected without objection. The report
of the Nominating Committee is attached and made a part of these minutes.

VI.

OTHER BUSINESS
Presentation of gavels
Mayor Von Gausig asked Mark Mitchell, Mayor of Tempe, to join him on the stage and presented a
gavel to him, symbolizing his election as President of the League. Mayor Mitchell made a brief speech
to the members, thanking them for his election and recognizing the positive example set by his father,
former Tempe Mayor and League President Harry Mitchell. Mayor Mitchell promised to continue the
League’s tradition of strong advocacy and he encouraged all the cities and towns in the state to work
cooperatively together. He then presented a gavel plaque to Mayor Von Gausig and thanked him for his
service and leadership as League President from 2012-2014.
President Mitchell asked if there was any other business to bring before the body. There was none.

VII.

ADJOURNMENT
The meeting was adjourned at 4:19 p.m.

PRESIDENT

Executive Director

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
Friday, November 14, 2014 at 10:00 a.m.

Consent Agenda
Item #3*

Summary:

Policy Committee Chairs and Process Memo; Budget Subcommittee Chair

President Mark Mitchell appointed Chairs of each of the League’s five new
policy committees and information has gone out asking for city and town
officials to participate on them.
Additionally, President Mark Mitchell has appointed Mayor Thomas Schoaf of
Litchfield Park as Chairman of the League Budget Subcommittee.

Responsible Person:

Ken Strobeck

Attachments:

Policy Committee memo
Meeting schedule

Action Requested:

Information only

October 20, 2014
To: Mayors, Managers, Finance Directors, City and Town Attorneys
Re: Resolutions Process
Good morning;
In May, the League Executive Committee approved a change in the Resolutions process. The new
system will allow for more in-depth research and greater involvement by elected officials and staff
in developing the League’s Municipal Policy Statement.
There will be five separate policy committees that will more thoroughly vet the issues. These
policy committees will be chaired by a member of the Executive Committee, and will consist of
elected officials and municipal staff. At times, other stakeholders may be invited to participate to
provide needed expertise and perspective. League personnel will coordinate and staff these
committees.
The five policy committees and their chairs will be:
• Budget, Finance and Economic Development, Mayor Kenny Evans of Payson;
• General Administration, Human Resources and Elections, Mayor Lana Mook of El
Mirage;
• Neighborhoods, Quality of Life and Sustainability, Councilmember Gilbert Lopez of
Coolidge;
• Public Safety, Military Affairs and Courts, Mayor Jerry Weiers of Glendale; and
• Transportation, Infrastructure and Public Works, Mayor Jonathan Rothschild of Tucson.
The chairs of these committees and League staff will review and assign the submitted ideas to the
relevant committees. Each committee will meet to discuss and process these ideas, and will craft
the actual resolution to be submitted to the Resolutions Subcommittee. Completed resolutions will
then go to the full Resolutions Committee at the Annual Conference. The chairs of each committee
will be responsible for presenting these new resolutions to the full Resolutions Committee.
In this new process, cities and towns will be able to submit policy ideas to the League at any time
during the year and do not need to have a co-sponsoring city or town. If your city or town wishes
to submit an idea for consideration, you can send it with a brief yet thorough explanation to
resolutions@azleague.org. You do not need to create a full resolution as you did in the past.
However, you may be consulted to provide more information on the idea and also may be invited
to speak to the issue at one of the policy committee meetings. As in past years, Resolutions will be
debated for final passage at the League’s Annual Conference.
We are inviting you as elected officials and municipal staff to volunteer to participate in
these committees. If you are interested, please submit your name, title and committee of interest

to resolutions@azleague.org. We expect these committees to meet a few times a year. We are
including a general schedule of meeting dates in this correspondence. The actual committee
membership and meeting schedule will be set by the committee chairs. Since we are just initiating
this process, the first set of meetings will occur as soon as practical. In the future we expect
committee work to be conducted year round as needed.
If you have any further questions please feel free to contact me. We look forward to your active
involvement in this new process.
Sincerely,

Ken Strobeck
Executive Director
cc:

Intergovs
Intergovs 2
Clerks without Managers
Ryan Anderson

2

General meeting schedule for Policy Committees
(Chairs are ultimately responsible for setting their schedules and agendas.)
November 2014
• Policy committees formed; chairs select members. Cities and towns invited to submit ideas
for consideration. The chair may convene a meeting if there are pressing issues.
• Submitted ideas are discussed and committee decides on a course of action – decline,
further study, or proceeds with drafting the resolution. League staff will draft the formal
resolution.
• At the meeting subsequent to the approval of the issue going forward, the resolutions are
reviewed and voted on for advancement. The committee may decide to have further
refinements take place before actually voting. It may take several meetings before the
resolution is ready to advance.
December – June
• Policy committees meet to continue to process issues. Frequency is determined by need
and workload. League staff will keep chairs and committee members apprised of ideas
submitted.
• Resolutions Subcommittee (consisting of each Policy Committee Chair and the full
Resolutions Committee Chair) meet to review all submitted resolutions and make
recommendations for disposition by the full Resolutions Committee.
July
• Cities and towns receive completed resolutions for review prior to the Annual Conference.
Late August (League Annual Conference)
• Full Resolutions Committee reviews and votes on recommended Resolutions. Policy
Committee Chairs are responsible for presenting their resolutions to the full Resolutions
Committee. Approved Resolutions go to the Annual Business meeting for final adoption.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
Friday, November 14, 2014 at 10:00 a.m.

Consent Agenda
Item #4*

Summary:

Recent League Amicus Briefs

The League is participating as amicus curiae in three court cases this year. The
City of Flagstaff initially requested our involvement in the Ponderosa Fire
District v. Coconino County case which was recently decided by the Court of
Appeals. It would have required local government to install full infrastructure
in developments even if they were not being built. Plaintiffs are appealing the
decision.
The Attorney General’s office initially requested our support in the case of
Glazer v. State of Arizona. This case is before the Arizona Supreme Court. It
would require governments to upgrade all roadways to current construction
standards instead of doing maintenance and repair to streets and roads that
were built to previous standards.
Rolling v. City of Tucson is pending in the Court of Appeals and the League
brief is not written yet. In brief, this case found the city liable for water
damage allegedly from utility pipes under claims or nuisance and trespass.
Each of these cases has serious ramifications for all cities and towns in the
state.
The State Supreme Court issued an opinion in the case of Phoenix v. Garretson
which was initially filed last year. The court ruled against the city and said that
property owners may be entitled to monetary damages for eliminating a point
of access in order to accommodate a public works project, in this case,
downtown light rail.

Responsible Person:

Ken Strobeck

Attachments:

Court of Appeals Decision in Ponderosa Case
League Brief in Glazer Case
Supreme Court Opinion in Garretson Case

Action Requested:

Information only

IN THE

ARIZONA COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION ONE
PONDEROSA FIRE DISTRICT, a political subdivision of the State of
Arizona; UTILITY SOURCE, L.L.C., an Arizona limited liability company;
TOWNHOMES AT FLAGSTAFF MEADOWS HOMEOWNERS
ASSOCIATION, an Arizona non-profit corporation; FLAGSTAFF
MEADOWS PROPERTY OWNERS’ ASSOCIATION, an Arizona nonprofit corporation; THE FLAGSTAFF MEADOWS UNIT 3
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, an Arizona non-profit corporation; and
BELLEMONT 276 L.L.C., an Arizona limited liability company,
Plaintiffs/Appellees,
v.
COCONINO COUNTY, ARIZONA, a political subdivision of the State of
Arizona; COCONINO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, the duly
elected governing board of Coconino County, Arizona; COCONINO
COUNTY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT, a department of Coconino
County, Defendants/Appellants.
No. 1 CA-CV 13-0545
FILED 07-22-2014
Appeal from the Superior Court in Coconino County
S0300CV201200366
The Honorable Dan R. Slayton, Judge
REVERSED AND REMANDED
COUNSEL
Freeman Huber Law PLLC, Flagstaff
By Shelton L. Freeman and Matthew J. Mansfield
Counsel for Plaintiffs/Appellees

Gammage & Burnham PLC, Phoenix
By Cameron C. Artigue and Christopher L. Hering
Counsel for Defendants/Appellants
Mangum Wall Stoops & Warden PLLC, Flagstaff
By Michelle D’Andrea
Counsel for Amicus Curiae City of Flagstaff
Maricopa County Attorney’s Office, Phoenix
By Wayne J. Peck
Counsel for Amicus Curiae Maricopa County
Holloway Odegard & Kelly PC, Phoenix
By Ellen M. Van Riper
Counsel for Amicus Curiae League of Arizona Cities and Towns

OPINION
Judge Andrew W. Gould delivered the opinion of the Court, in which
Presiding Judge Lawrence F. Winthrop and Judge Maurice Portley joined.

G O U L D, Judge:
¶1
We are asked to decide whether Coconino County, Arizona,
the Coconino County Board of Supervisors (“Board”), and the Coconino
County Community Development Department (collectively “the County”)
have the discretion to call performance bonds posted by a developer to
ensure completion of subdivision improvements pursuant to Arizona
Revised Statute (“A.R.S.”) section 11-821(C) and Coconino County
Subdivision Ordinance No. 82-3 (“Ordinance”), section 4.14(A)(2) (May 3,
1982). We hold that A.R.S. § 11-821(C) and Ordinance § 4.14(A)(2) allow
the County to exercise discretion in deciding when, and under what
circumstances, it may call the performance bonds. Accordingly, we
reverse the trial court’s judgment.
FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY
¶2
Empire
Residential
Construction,
L.P.
(“Empire”)
subdivided land and developed Flagstaff Meadows, a residential
community, in Coconino County. The subdivision consists of three Units;
Units 1 and 2 contain completed single-family homes and townhomes. In
2
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2006, Empire applied to the Coconino County Planning and Zoning
Commission to develop Unit 3 into a residential community for singlefamily homes and multiple-family residences.
The Board voted
unanimously to approve Empire’s application.
¶3
On October 17, 2006, the Board issued a resolution
approving Empire’s proposed Unit 3 preliminary plat, including the
requirement that:
In accordance with Section 4.14 of the Subdivision Ordinance,
all improvements must be completed prior to submittal of a
final plat or a cash deposit, letter of credit, performance
bond, or other acceptable financial security shall be required
for the costs of any improvements and construction not
completed, plus a 10% contingency. This includes, but is not
limited to, all roadways, drainage structures, utilities, traffic
control signs, street identification signs, fencing, park
improvements, pedestrian trails, and landscaping.
Based on the Board’s resolution, in October 2007, Empire acquired four
subdivision bonds totaling $4,396,241.32.
The bonds consisted of
$3,364,428.10 for subdivision improvements, $196,998.22 for emergency
evacuation route improvements, $660,000.00 for fire station additions, and
$174,815.00 for landscaping improvements. The Board approved the final
plat in October 2007.
¶4
Empire began construction of the subdivision improvements
and, upon completion of the emergency evacuation route improvements,
the County released the corresponding $196,998.22 bond. However,
before it could complete the remaining subdivision improvements,
Empire declared bankruptcy and abandoned Unit 3. At the time Empire
abandoned Unit 3, the subdivision’s infrastructure was not finished; there
were no functional internal roads or utilities. In addition, no construction
of homes had begun, and no lots had been sold to consumers. The
remaining subdivision bonds totaled more than $4 million.
¶5
Following a series of trustee’s sales, Bellemont 276, L.L.C.
(“Bellemont”) eventually purchased Unit 3 in March 2011 with the intent
of constructing residences on the subdivided lots and selling them to the
public. Bellemont applied to the County for a building permit to begin
construction. Bellemont also requested the County call the outstanding
Unit 3 subdivision bonds. Over the next several months, the County
negotiated with Bellemont regarding the cost of finishing the Unit 3
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improvements; during these negotiations, the County also sought to
protect itself from the risk of potential litigation costs that might be
incurred in calling the bonds.
¶6
The negotiations did not produce an agreement and the
County ultimately passed a resolution not to call the bonds. In support of
this resolution the County found, among other things, that improvements
in Unit 3 were “essentially unconstructed,” “there [were] no current
residents suffering from lack of infrastructure,” “the public infrastructure
covered by the surety bonds is not needed to serve a substantial public
interest,” calling the bonds “would primarily benefit only the single
current owner of the subdivision property [Bellemont] rather than
substantially benefiting the general public or the neighborhood,” and that
“litigation is likely to result from a call . . . plac[ing] the County general
fund at risk.”
¶7
Because there was no plan in place to complete the necessary
improvements/infrastructure, the County rejected Bellemont’s application
for a building permit. In response, Bellemont filed a complaint alleging
that it had acquired Unit 3 with the expectation the bonds would be called
to pay for the remaining improvements and infrastructure. Bellemont
requested declaratory relief, a writ of mandamus compelling the County
to call the bonds, and monetary damages.
¶8
Several parties joined Bellemont as plaintiffs in its
complaint, alleging their interests were also harmed by the County’s
refusal to call the bonds. Townhomes at Flagstaff Meadows Homeowners
Association and Flagstaff Meadows Property Owners’ Association
(“HOAs”), representing the adjacent lot owners of Units 1 and 2,
complained about the undeveloped status of Unit 3. The HOA’s argued
they were being denied the right to live in the “completed subdivision”
represented in the public report each resident received when purchasing
their property. Ponderosa Fire District (“Ponderosa”) asserted it was
denied improvements to its fire station that had been included in the Unit
3 final plat. Utility Source, L.L.C. (“USource”) argued that its investment
in the infrastructure of Flagstaff Meadows as a whole could not be
sustained without completion and occupation of Unit 3 absent a
substantial increase in fees for the property owners in Units 1 and 2.
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¶9
Appellees requested a hearing for the County to show cause
why Appellees were not entitled to declaratory and mandamus relief.1 At
the hearing, Appellees sought a declaration from the court that the
County’s duty to call the bond was a mandatory, ministerial act, and,
based on this declaration, a writ of mandamus compelling the County to
call the bonds. Appellees argued the County lacked discretion to refuse to
call the bonds for Unit 3. Appellees conceded that the lots were all owned
by Bellemont, and none had been sold or committed to individual
homeowners. The County responded that it had the discretion to decide
whether to call the bonds. The County also objected, on procedural
grounds, to any grant of relief at the show cause hearing.
¶10
At the conclusion of the hearing, the court granted
Appellees’ application and ordered the County to (1) adopt a resolution
stating the improvements were not finished and (2) send the resolution to
the surety. Based on the terms of the surety bonds, this order constituted
an order compelling the County to call the bonds.2
¶11
Following the hearing, the court issued a writ of mandamus
pursuant to A.R.S. § 12-2021, requiring the County to issue a resolution
calling the bonds. The County complied, passing a resolution calling the
bonds. After the court entered a judgment with Rule 54(b) language, the
County filed a timely notice of appeal.
DISCUSSION
¶12
The only claims involved in this appeal are Appellees’
claims for declaratory and mandamus relief regarding the County’s
discretion to call the bonds. We are not asked to decide whether
Because Appellees’ complaint included a claim for monetary
damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the County sought to remove the case to
the federal district court. Upon receipt of the County’s application for
removal, the district court accepted jurisdiction of claims five and six, the
claims for monetary damages, and remanded Appellees’ claims one
through four, the claims for declaratory and injunctive relief.
1

The surety bonds state: “Surety, upon receipt of a resolution of the
Obligee [County] indicating that the improvements have not been
installed or completed, will complete the improvements or pay to Obligee
[County] such amount up to the Principal amount of this bond which will
allow the Obligee [County] to complete the improvements.”
2
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Appellees may bring claims for monetary damages based on the County’s
refusal to call the Unit 3 bonds. Moreover, this case only involves the
County’s discretion to call the subdivision bonds; it does not address the
County’s discretion, if any, to discharge, waive, or release the bonds or to
use the bond monies for some purpose other than completing the Unit 3
improvements.
I.

Standard of Review

¶13
We review the construction of statutes and ordinances de
novo. State ex. rel. Montgomery v. Harris, 234 Ariz. 343, 344, ¶ 8, 322 P.3d
160, 161 (2014); Files v. Bernal, 200 Ariz. 64, 66, 22 P.3d 57, 59 (App. 2001).
II.

Show Cause Hearing

¶14
The County argues the order to show cause procedure used
by Appellees was improper because it denied it a full and fair opportunity
to conduct discovery and present evidence. See Ariz. R. Civ. P. 6(d).
However, the County fails to identify what additional discovery or
evidence would have been helpful in opposing Appellees’ application for
declaratory and mandamus relief. Moreover, the issue presented at the
show cause hearing involved a pure issue of law concerning the
construction of A.R.S. § 11-821(C) and Ordinance § 4.14(A)(2). The record
reflects that the County was given an adequate opportunity to brief this
legal issue and present its arguments at the hearing.
III.

Standing

¶15
Appellees lack standing to call the bonds or to make a claim
directly against the surety. Norton v. First Fed. Sav., 128 Ariz. 176, 180, 624
P.2d 854, 858 (1981). Appellees acknowledge that only the County, as the
obligee, may call the bonds. Id. However, Appellees are not suing the
surety or seeking to collect damages against the bonds. Rather, Appellees
are seeking, by means of combined declaratory and mandamus relief, to
compel the County to call the bonds.
¶16
Pursuant to A.R.S. § 12-1832, a party “whose rights, status,
or other legal relations are affected by a statute, municipal ordinance,
contract or franchise may have [a court] determine[] . . . any question of
construction . . . arising under” the statute or ordinance, “and obtain a
declaration of [his] rights, status or other legal relations thereunder.”
Canyon Del Rio Investors, L.L.C. v. City of Flagstaff, 227 Ariz. 336, 341, ¶ 18,
258 P.3d 154, 159 (App. 2011). “[A] justiciable controversy exists if there is
an assertion of a right, status, or legal relation in which the plaintiff has a
6
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definite interest and a denial of it by the opposing party.” Keggi v.
Northbrook Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 199 Ariz. 43, 45, ¶ 10, 13 P.3d 785, 787
(App. 2000) (internal citation omitted).
¶17
Section 12-1832 grants Appellees standing to pursue their
claim for declaratory relief. Appellees allege their interests are affected by
the County’s refusal to call the bonds based on A.R.S. § 11-821(C) and
Ordinance § 4.14(A)(2). Accordingly, Appellees properly seek a
declaration of their rights under the statute and Ordinance.
¶18
Appellees also seek mandamus relief. A writ of mandamus
allows a “party beneficially interested” in an action to compel a public
official or board “to perform an act imposed by law.” A.R.S. § 12-2021;
Sears v. Hull, 192 Ariz. 65, 68, ¶ 11, 961 P.2d 1013, 1016 (1998). The term
“party beneficially interested” is “applied liberally to promote the ends of
justice.” Barry v. Phx. Union High School, 67 Ariz. 384, 387, 197 P.2d 533,
534 (1948); see Armer v. Superior Court, 112 Ariz. 478, 480, 543 P.2d 1107,
1109 (1975).
¶19
An action for mandamus “does not lie if the public officer is
not specifically required by law to perform the act.” Board of Educ. v.
Scottsdale Educ. Ass’n, 109 Ariz. 342, 344, 509 P.2d 612, 614 (1973). A
mandamus action may only be brought if the statutory duty imposed on
the public official or board is purely “ministerial.” El Paso Natural Gas Co.
v. State, 123 Ariz. 219, 221, 599 P.2d 175, 177 (1979). A ministerial duty is
one that specifically describes the manner of performance and “leaves
nothing to the discretion” of the public official or board. Id. In contrast,
“if an action of a public officer is discretionary that discretion may not be
controlled by mandamus.” Collins v. Krucker, 56 Ariz. 6, 13, 104 P.2d 176,
179 (1940).3
¶20
Appellees claim they are “beneficially interested” in the
County’s refusal to call the bonds, because the bond monies are necessary
Appellees do not assert, as alternative grounds for mandamus, that
the County acted arbitrarily in refusing to call the bonds. Rhodes v. Clark,
92 Ariz. 31, 35, 373 P.2d 348, 350 (1962) (holding that a mandamus action
may only be brought to compel a ministerial duty or, if the action was
discretionary, the public official or board acted arbitrarily and abused his
discretion); Collins, 56 Ariz. at 13, 104 P.2d at 179 (“[I]f it clearly appears
that the officer has acted arbitrarily and unjustly and in the abuse of
discretion, the [mandamus] action may still be brought.”).
3
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to finish the Unit 3 improvements. However, we need not decide the
issue of Appellees’ standing to bring a mandamus action, because even if
we assume Appellees have standing, mandamus relief is not appropriate
in this case.
IV.

Construction of A.R.S. § 11-821(C)

¶21
We begin our analysis with A.R.S. § 11-821(C). Section 11821(C) provides, in relevant part, that subdivision regulations adopted by
a county board of supervisors:
. . . shall require the posting of performance bonds,
assurances or such other security as may be appropriate and
necessary to ensure the installation of required street, sewer,
electric and water utilities, drainage, flood control and
improvements meeting established minimum standards of
design and construction.
¶22
Appellees argue that the County’s interpretation of
Ordinance § 4.14(A)(2) contravenes the plain language of A.R.S. § 11821(C). When there is a conflict between a statute and an ordinance, the
statute controls. Thomas and King, Inc. v. City of Phx., 208 Ariz. 203, 207, ¶
11, 92 P.3d 429, 433 (App. 2004); see City of Tempe v. Outdoor Sys., Inc., 201
Ariz. 106, 109, ¶ 9, 32 P.3d 31, 34 (App. 2001) (“When an ordinance
regulates an area that is also regulated by state statute, the ordinance may
parallel the statute or even reach beyond the parameters of the statute so
long as the ordinance does not conflict with the statute.”).
¶23
Bellemont interprets the language in A.R.S. § 11-821(C) as
stating that once a bond has been posted, the final plat approved, and the
original developer defaults, the obligation to construct and pay for
improvements is transferred from the original developer to the County.4
According to Bellemont, to interpret the statute otherwise renders the
In support of this argument, Bellemont states that upon approval of
the final plat, ownership of the streets and rights of way in Unit 3 was
transferred to the County. We disagree. Although the County approved
the streets in the final plat, this action did not transfer ownership of the
streets to the County; ownership is not transferred to the County until it
determines the streets are “fully completed” in accordance with the final
plat. A.R.S. § 11-822(C); West v. Sundance Dev. Co., 169 Ariz. 579, 583, 821
P.2d 240, 244. (App. 1991)
4
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bond requirement meaningless and allows the County to abandon
unfinished subdivisions. We disagree.
¶24
In construing a statute, we look to the plain language of the
statute, giving effect to every word and phrase, and assigning to each
word its plain and common meaning. Bilke v. State, 206 Ariz. 462, 464, ¶
11, 80 P.3d 269, 271 (2003); Cochise Cnty. v. Broken Arrow Baptist Church, 161
Ariz. 406, 409, 778 P.2d 1302, 1305 (App. 1989). If a statute’s language is
clear and unambiguous, we apply it without resorting to other methods of
statutory interpretation, unless doing so would lead to impossible or
absurd results. Harris, 234 Ariz. at 345, ¶ 13, 322 P.3d at 162; Bilke, 206
Ariz. at 464, ¶ 11, 80 P.3d at 269; State v. Flores, 160 Ariz. 235, 239, 772 P.2d
589, 593 (App. 1989). If a statute’s language is ambiguous, we attempt to
determine the legislative intent by interpreting the statute as a whole,
considering its place in the relevant statutory scheme, as well as the
statute’s “subject matter, historical background, effects and consequences,
and spirit and purpose.” Harris, 234 Ariz. at 345, ¶ 13, 322 P.3d at 162
(internal citations omitted); see CSA 13-101 Loop, LLC, v. Loop 101, LLC, 233
Ariz. 355, 360-61, ¶¶ 14-17, 312 P.3d 1121, 1126-27 (App. 2013).
¶25
In determining whether the County has discretion to call the
bonds under A.R.S. § 11-821(C), we are also guided by the principle that
counties, like cities, have no inherent powers; a county’s authority is
limited to those powers expressly or impliedly delegated to it by the state
constitution or statutes. Associated Dairy Prods. Co. v. Page, 68 Ariz. 393,
395, 206 P.2d 1041, 1043 (1949); Home Builders Assoc. of Cent. Ariz. v. City of
Maricopa, 215 Ariz. 146, 149, ¶ 5, 158 P.3d 869, 873 (App. 2007). Thus, in
performing its duties under A.R.S. § 11-821(C), the County possesses “all
powers that may be fairly implied from, and are necessary for, the
complete exercise of [its] express powers” under the statute. City of Phx. v.
Phx. Civil Serv. Bd., 169 Ariz. 256, 259, 818 P.2d 241, 244 (App. 1991).
¶26
The primary purpose of the bond posting requirement in
A.R.S. § 11-821(C) is to protect the public from bearing the costs of
necessary subdivision improvements by requiring the developer to install
and pay for such improvements. Norton, 128 Ariz. at 179, 624 P.2d at 857
(“Performance bonds which insure the proper completion of street, sewer
and water utilities by subdivision developers protect the city from the
necessity of spending its citizens’ money to fulfill the developers’
responsibilities.”); see West, 169 Ariz. at 583-84, 821 P.2d at 244-45 (noting
that purpose of a developer posting a bond under A.R.S. § 11-806.01(G),
the predecessor statute to A.R.S. § 11-821(C), was to ensure that the
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developer performed its obligation to construct necessary subdivision
improvements).
¶27
Bellemont concedes that developers have the obligation to
install required subdivision improvements. Bellemont asserts, however,
that there is currently no developer or subdivider to complete the
improvements for Unit 3. Bellemont claims that it is not a developer or
subdivider; rather, it is “just a county property owner.” Bellemont further
contends that Arizona law and the Ordinance place no requirement on it,
as a property owner, to complete the improvements simply because it
owns multiple lots in the subdivision.
¶28
We conclude Bellemont is a developer and subdivider for
the purposes of A.R.S. § 11-821(C) because it purchased Unit 3 with the
intent to construct residences on the lots and sell them to the public. The
Ordinance and relevant state statutes all define a subdivider as including
subsequent developers who seek to construct residences on subdivision
lots and sell them. Both section 2.1 of the Ordinance and A.R.S. § 322101(55) define a “subdivider” as anyone “who offers for sale or lease six
or more lots . . . or who causes land to be subdivided . . . or who
undertakes to develop a subdivision.” See Alaface v. Nat’l Inv. Co., 181
Ariz. 586, 592-93 & n.2, 892 P.2d. 1375, 1381-82 & n.2 (App. 1995) (noting
that definition of “subdivider” under A.R.S. § 32-2101, includes
subsequent developers who were not the original subdividers).
¶29
With this statutory purpose in mind, we examine the
language of A.R.S. § 11-821(C). The statute provides that the County
regulations “shall” require the posting of a bond, assurance or other
security. A.R.S. § 11-821(C). Next, the statute mandates that the bond,
assurance or security posted by the developer must be “appropriate and
necessary” to “ensure” the installation of the “required” infrastructure.
¶30
When read together, all of these terms plainly require the
County to “ensure” that the amount of the bond posted by a developer is
sufficient to cover the cost of necessary subdivision improvements. The
statute does not, however, specify when a county is required to call a
bond. Where a statute is silent on an issue, “we will not read into [it]
something which is not within the express manifest intention of the
Legislature as gathered from the statute itself,” nor will we “inflate,
expand, stretch or extend the statute to matters not falling within its
expressed provisions.” See Martin v. Althoff, 27 Ariz. App. 588, 591, 557
P.2d 187, 190 (1976) (citation omitted).
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¶31
We conclude the County’s decision not to call the bonds at
this time was a proper exercise of its necessary and implied power under
A.R.S. § 11-821(C). The legislative purpose of the statute is to require
developers such as Bellemont to pay for the cost of subdivision
improvements. Here, the County determined that calling the bonds did
not serve this interest; rather, the County decided, in its discretion, to
forego calling the bonds and require Bellemont to pay for the cost of the
Unit 3 improvements.
¶32
In support of this conclusion, we note that Bellemont’s
construction of A.R.S. § 11-821(C) would lead to absurd results. Under
Bellemont’s interpretation of the statute, whenever a developer abandons
a subdivision, a county has a mandatory duty to call the bond, regardless
of the circumstances. This leaves counties with an open-ended obligation
to finish all abandoned subdivision improvements, with no discretion to
consider any factors that may arise after the final plat is approved. For
example, counties would be required to call a bond and finish
improvements for a subdivision that may lay vacant for many years.
Indeed, if the County was obligated to call the bonds and finish the Unit 3
improvements as Bellemont contends, then it was required to do so
immediately upon Empire’s default in 2008 – despite the fact that six years
later, the Unit 3 subdivision still remains vacant. This court is charged
with construing statutes to avoid such absurd results. Harris, 234 Ariz. at
345, ¶ 13, 322 P.3d at 162; Bilke, 206 Ariz. at 464, ¶ 11, 80 P.3d at 269.
¶33
We therefore conclude the County properly exercised its
discretion under the statute by seeking to have Bellemont install the
required subdivision improvements rather than calling the bonds.
V.

Construction of Ordinance Section 4.14(A)(2)

¶34
Ordinance § 4.14(A)(2) states the following regarding
subdivision performance bonds:
The Final Plat will be submitted to the Board for approval if
the construction and improvements have been accepted or if
a cash deposit or other financial arrangement acceptable to
the County have been made between the subdivider and the
Board. In the event the subdivider fails to perform within
the time allotted by the Board, then after reasonable notice to
the subdivider of the default, the County may do or have done
all work and charge subdivider’s deposit with all costs and
expenses incurred. (Emphasis added.)
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¶35
The County argues that the use of the word “may,” rather
than “shall,” is permissive and implies discretion. Ordinance § 2.1.
Bellemont argues that the use of the word “may” limits the County’s
discretion to either call the bonds and finish the project itself, or use the
bond monies to hire others to complete the project; the language does not,
however, provide the County with the discretion to refuse to call the
bonds.
¶36
We conclude Ordinance § 4.14(A)(2) allows the County to
exercise its discretion in calling the bonds. The use of the word “may” in
the Ordinance is a permissive term, and implies discretion. Section 2.1 of
the Ordinance states that for the purposes of the Ordinance, the “word
‘shall’ is mandatory; the word ‘may’ is permissive.” See Walter v.
Wilkinson, 198 Ariz. 431, 432, ¶ 7, 10 P.3d 1218, 1219 (App. 2000) (holding
that use of the word “may” in a statute generally indicates permissive
intent, while “shall” generally indicates a mandatory provision).
¶37
Further, this construction is consistent with A.R.S. § 11821(C), which provides the County with discretion in deciding when, and
under what circumstances, to call a bond. Supra, at ¶¶ 31-32. Finally, a
construction that provides the County with discretion to call bonds
promotes the purpose and intent of Coconino County in enacting the
Ordinance, which is “[t]o ensure that the costs of providing” subdivision
improvements “are borne fairly and equitably by the subdivider rather
than by property owners of the County at large.” Ordinance § 1.1. Supra,
at ¶ 26.
VI.

Attorneys’ Fees

¶38
Because we reverse, Appellees’ request for attorneys’ fees on
appeal is denied. Appellees are not a prevailing party, and therefore are
not entitled to an award of fees pursuant to either A.R.S. § 12-2030(A) or
the private attorney general doctrine. See Arnold v. Ariz. Dept. of Health
Servs., 160 Ariz. 593, 609-10, 775 P.2d 521, 537-38 (1989).
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CONCLUSION
¶39
For the reasons discussed above, we conclude the County
properly exercised its discretion under A.R.S. § 11-821(C) and Ordinance §
4.14(A)(2) in refusing to call the Unit 3 bonds. As a consequence, the trial
court erred in issuing its mandamus order compelling the County to call
the bonds. We therefore reverse the trial court’s judgment, and remand
this case to the trial court to enter a judgment in favor of the County on
Appellees’ claims for declaratory and mandamus relief.

:gsh
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INTRODUCTION
The League of Arizona Cities and Towns is a voluntary association
consisting of the 91 incorporated cities and towns in the State of Arizona. 1
These cities and towns comprise approximately 80% of Arizona’s total
population, and they are responsible for thousands of miles of roads within their
city/town limits. The League represents their collective interests at the State
Legislature, and provides advocacy, education, training, technical assistance,
and information sharing for and among its municipal members.
The League files this Amicus Curiae Brief in support of the State of
Arizona’s Petition for Review, Issue # 1.2 The court of appeals’ decision, if
allowed to stand, strips public entities of a valuable affirmative defense. Its
holding that public entities may not invoke A.R.S. § 12–820.03 to defend
against common law roadway-design claims based on post-design change-incircumstances opens the floodgates for tort litigation. Public entities are now
left with the following dilemma: incur exhorbitant litigation costs to defend
such actions, or incur exhorbitant costs to frequently inspect and upgrade every

1

A list of these cities and towns is attached at Attachment A.

2

Because the League’s members are cities and towns, it does not believe
that A.R.C.A.P. 16(a)’s consent or leave requirement applies. Nonetheless, out
of an abundance of caution, all parties have provided written consent to file this
Amicus Curiae Brief. Therefore, leave is not required. A.R.C.A.P. 16(a).
1

mile of road in this State to avoid them. Whichever one they decide, the
citizens of this State will suffer.
Those who live in smaller, rural towns are the most vulnerable. Towns
like Thatcher, Winslow, and Jerome, established near the end of the 19th
century, have smaller and steady populations and roads that adequately and
safely accommodate them. But will these towns now need to close their roads
and rebuild them simply because the circumstances now are different from what
they once used to be? Will irrigation canals built close to the roads they serve,
which were acceptable at the time the roads were built and which the population
has grown accustomed to, need to be modified to avoid unknown future
lawsuits? Will these towns need to begin searching for additional revenue to
fund such major road projects or cut existing (other) plans from their budgets?
Larger cities like Phoenix, Mesa, and Tucson, which have hundreds more miles
of roads, will also not escape the significant burden in having to revamp them.
Since 1984 — the enactment of the Actions Against Public Entities or
Public Employees Act (“the Act”) — the cities and towns of this State have
relied on § 12–820.03. It was an affirmative defense given to them by the
Legislature. The court of appeals’ decision to take that away is legally
untenable. When a statute specifically limits liability for certain conduct, a
court cannot extend that liability to those that it was designed to protect. Estate

2

of Braden ex rel. Gabaldon v. State, 228 Ariz. 323, 327, ¶ 16, 266 P.3d 349,
353 (2011). For the reasons stated in the State’s Petition for Review and that
follow, this Court should grant review and restore the protection the Legislature
explicitly conferred to public entities.
I.

REASONS THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW
A.

Contrary to the Stated Purpose of the Act, the Court of
Appeals Improperly Elevated Judicial Common Law Over
Legislative Mandate.

The State’s examination of our Constitution’s separation-of-powers and
state-immunity provisions correctly concludes that pre-existing common law
liability cannot trump an explicit, statutorily-created defense to that liability.
See Ariz. Const. art. 3; Ariz. Const. art. 4, part 2, § 18; see generally Clouse ex
rel. Clouse v. State, 199 Ariz. 196, 203, ¶ 24, 16 P.3d 757, 764 (2001) (“We
conclude that the immunity clause, by authorizing the legislature to direct by
law the manner in which suits may be brought against the state, confers upon
the legislature a power to control actions against the state.”). In interpreting a
statute such as § 12–820.03, courts must remain faithful to these constitutional
provisions. See State v. Wagstaff, 164 Ariz. 485, 490, 794 P.2d 118, 123 (1990)
(“Our ability to interpret a statute’s meaning or rectify statutory infirmities by
construing the language to achieve a perceived legislative goal, however, is
limited by the constitutionally decreed separation of powers that prohibits this

3

Court from enacting legislation or redrafting defective statutes.”). The lower
courts in this case were not faithful to these provisions.
Their conclusion that common law prevails is even more irreconcilable in
light of the Legislature’s explicit declaration in passing the Act, which makes
clear that the Legislature intended to preserve common law liability and
statutory immunities and defenses to liability equally:
On the other hand, the [L]egislature recognizes that,
while a private entrepreneur may readily be held
liable for negligence within the chosen scope of his
activity, the area with which government has the
power to act for the public good is almost without
limit and therefore government should not have the
duty to do everything that might be done.
Consequently, it is hereby declared to be the public
policy of this state that public entities are liable for
acts and omissions of employees in accordance with
the statutes and common law of this state. All of the
provisions of [the Act] should be construed with a
view to carry out the above legislative purpose.
A.R.S. § 12–820 (historical and statutory notes Laws 1984, Ch. 285, § 1)
(emphasis added). Thus, in addition to preserving common law liability, the
Legislature expressly recognized and declared that: (1) certain common law
liabilities traditionally extending to public entities should be circumscribed;
(2) the Act’s provisions, including § 12–820.03, limit public entity common law
liability; and (3) the affirmative defense conferred in § 12–820.03 must be
construed to further this limitation on liability.

4

The court of appeals concluded, however, that the Act “directs broad
common law liability for the State” (Op., ¶ 14, emphasis added), and Plaintiff
contends that the Act “codified” the common law to the exclusion of all
immunities and defenses. (Resp. at 5-6.) Both are overstatements. The Act
declares that a public entity is liable “in accordance with the statutes and
common law of this state.” A.R.S. § 12–820 (historical and statutory notes
Laws 1984, Ch. 285, § 1) (emphasis added). Thus, although common law
liability may extend to public entities in some circumstances, liability does not
extend if the criterion in § 12–820.03 is satisfied. And though this Court has
characterized the “immunities” afforded by the Act as “exceptions” to the
general rule of liability, Pritchard v. State, 163 Ariz. 427, 431, 788 P.2d 1178,
1182 (1990), they are nonetheless valid, statutorily-granted exceptions that
preclude liability. 3 The Act preserved the “exceptions” just as much as it did
3

As both the court of appeals and Plaintiff recognize, § 12–820.03 is an
affirmative-defense statute, not an immunity statute. (Op., ¶ 13; Resp. at 7.)
See Goss v. City of Globe, 180 Ariz. 229, 233, 883 P.2d 466, 470 (App. 1994)
(“That there is a defense to liability [under § 12–820.03] is, of course,
distinguishable from immunity from suit provided under § 12-820.01.”). Thus,
the principle that “judicial construction of immunity provisions in statutes
applicable to government entities should be restrained and narrow” does not
apply. See Fid. Sec. Life Ins. Co. v. State, Dep’t of Ins., 191 Ariz. 222, 225, ¶ 7,
954 P.2d 580, 583 (1998). Characterizing § 12–820.03 as an “exception” to
liability is also not accurate. It is an affirmative defense to common law
liability, and reflects a legislative determination that the standard of care is met
if the statute’s elements are satisfied (the design was prepared in conformance
with generally accepted standards in effect at the time of its preparation).
5

the common law. See City of Tucson v. Fahringer, 164 Ariz. 599, 600–01,
795 P.2d 819, 820–21 (1990) (“The Act codified various common law doctrines
that conferred absolute and qualified immunity on various public entities and
employees. The Act also permitted governmental entities and their employees
to raise affirmative defenses in actions sounding in tort.”). They cannot be
discounted, nor are they trumped by the common law.
The fact that a common law duty has been recognized by Arizona courts
for some time does not diminish the validity of the statutory exceptions. (See
Op., ¶ 10 [noting that the “Arizona Supreme Court repeatedly has recognized
this common law duty for nearly ninety years”].) 4 The Act replaced the prior
(judicially created) sovereign immunity regime with a new one, under which
4

Notably, of the seven cases cited by the court of appeals to support this
proposition, only one of them involved an accident that occurred after the
enactment of the Act; the rest, including the two cases it quoted – City of
Phoenix v. Clem, 28 Ariz. 315, 327, 237 P. 168 (1925), and City of Phoenix v.
Mayfield, 41 Ariz. 537, 20 P.2d 296 (1933) – and a court of appeals’ decision it
relied on – Bach v. State, 152 Ariz. 145, 730 P.2d 854 (App. 1986) – pre-dated
the Act’s enactment. The one case cited that did involve an accident after the
Act was in effect – Barnes v. City of Tucson, 157 Ariz. 566, 760 P.2d 566 (App.
1988) – was not a decision of this Court, but rather a decision of the court of
appeals. That case involved a claim for negligently erecting two posts on a
sidewalk, and the issue was whether a public entity’s duty to maintain its
sidewalks extends to bicyclists, who are prohibited from riding on sidewalks.
Id. at 567–68, 760 P.2d at 567–68. The application of § 12–820.03 was not at
issue. Prior to the court of appeals’ decision in this case, only one case had
analyzed § 12–820.03 since its enactment more than 30 years ago, Edwards v.
Board of Supervisors, 224 Ariz. 221, 229 P.3d 233 (App. 2010), indicating a
desperate need for judicial guidance.
6

the common law remained intact only where the statutory exceptions do not
apply. Thus, a public entity can raise the affirmative defense afforded under
§ 12–820.03 when charged with a common law negligence claim, and if it
successfully establishes all elements, then it cannot be held liable. If it cannot
establish the affirmative defense — e.g., the plan or design did not conform to
generally accepted standards in effect at the time of the plan or design — then
common law liability is available and it is the plaintiff’s burden to then
establish the standard of care, a breach of that standard, and proximate
causation to recover civil damages. For this reason, it is not unusual that courts
have reiterated the common law duty after the Act’s enactment, see Sanchez v.
City of Tucson, 191 Ariz. 128, 130, ¶ 10, 953 P.2d 168, 170 (1998), or that the
public entity has conceded that the duty applies in a particular case, see Booth v.
State, 207 Ariz. 61, 65, ¶ 10, 83 P.3d 61, 65 (App. 2004).5 But simply because
the common law survived after the Act does not mean that the statutory defense
automatically gives way to it.

5

Of course, a public entity’s failure to raise § 12–820.03 as an
affirmative defense – for whatever reason – is not an admission of nonapplication that binds that same or other public entities in subsequent cases.
See, e.g., DeVries v. State, 221 Ariz. 201, 203, ¶ 3, 211 P.3d 1185, 1187 (App.
2009).
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B.

The Court of Appeals Has Rewritten the Statute and
Significantly Narrowed its Scope.

Because § 12–820.03 is an affirmative defense, the defendant bears the
burden of proving its elements. See Hegel v. O’Malley Ins. Co., Inc., 122 Ariz.
52, 56, 593 P.2d 275, 279 (1979). Under the plain terms of the statute, a
defendant must show that the “injury” is one “arising out of” a plan or design.6
A.R.S. § 12–820.03. The Plaintiff’s allegation in this case is that the decedents
were injured because the State failed to install a median barrier. It is undisputed
that the decision not to install a median barrier was part of the highway’s
original design plan, and that the design plan was in conformance with
generally accepted standards in effect at the time. In other contexts, courts have
construed the phrase “arising out of” loosely, meaning “some causal
connection,” Chaurasia v. Gen. Motors Corp., 212 Ariz. 18, 26, ¶ 25, 126 P.3d
165, 173 (App. 2006), or “some causal relation,” Salerno v. Atl. Mut. Ins. Co.,
198 Ariz. 54, 58, ¶ 16, 6 P.3d 758, 762 (App. 2000). “The causal connection
required is not proximate cause; . . . it need only be related to it.” Transp.
Indem. Co. v. Carolina Cas. Ins. Co., 133 Ariz. 395, 399, 652 P.2d 134, 138

6

The word “injury” is defined under the Act as meaning “death, injury to
a person, damage to or loss of property or any other injury that a person may
suffer that would be actionable if inflicted by a private person.” A.R.S. § 12–
820(2).
8

(1982). Under any of these definitions, the decedents’ injuries “ar[ose] out of”
the initial plan or design to not install a median barrier.
Here, however, the court of appeals did not concentrate on the causal
connection between the decedents’ injuries and the highway’s plan or design.
Instead, it focused on how the Plaintiff alleged the State “breached its duty,”
and concluded that, because her allegation and evidence of breach “focused on”
changes in circumstances after the highway’s original plan or design — i.e.,
more traffic, higher speed limits, and more collisions “occurring on I-10 within
a decade (or less) before the 2007 crash” — the injuries did not arise out of the
plan or design, but rather out of the subsequent change in circumstances. (Op.,
¶¶ 16–20.)
In doing so, the court of appeals has rewritten the statute to require
proximate causation between the injury and the plaintiff’s allegation of breach.
Neither requirement is included in the statute. The statute merely requires that
the injury arise out of the plan or design.7 Here, the injury was clearly related
to the design plan (i.e., the failure to install a median barrier in 1967). Even
applying traditional causation principles (which is something more than “arising
out of”), had a median barrier been installed originally, the injury would not
7

The statute also requires design conformance “in effect at the time of
the preparation of the plan or design,” not “at the time of injury.” A.R.S. § 12–
820.03 (emphasis added).
9

have occurred. That connection does not go away even with subsequent
changes in circumstances, none of which even contributed to the injury. If
anything, the injuries arose out of both the State’s design plan and its failure to
change that design in light of changed circumstances. The affirmative defense
is still available in that scenario.
Furthermore, to inject allegations of breach into the equation will allow
clever plaintiff lawyers to artfully plead around § 12–820.03, and simply assert
that it was not the plan or design, but rather some subsequent change in
circumstance that caused the injuries. That is precisely what the court of
appeals did here. It took the defense out of the hands of the State and gave it to
the Plaintiff. The focus should remain on the injuries and whether there is a
causal connection to the plan or design, not on how a plaintiff or a court can
(re)characterize their claim.
C.

The Common Law and § 12–820.03 Peacefully Coexist.

In the court of appeals’ view, the State’s interpretation of § 12–820.03
(non-liability) cannot “peacefully coexist” with the common law. (Op., ¶ 24.)
But by their very nature — one the rule and the other the exception — the two
are mutually exclusive. In that sense, their coexistence is peaceful: the former
applies when the latter does not. So it seems the real issue for the court of
appeals was skeptical concern: a contrary holding would allow the State to

10

ignore drivers’ safety, and not update its roads despite “significant changes in
traffic volume and speed, vehicle size, accident frequency and similar
developments.” (Op., ¶ 24.) Aside from the fact that such skepticism ignores
the reality that a public entity, and its elected officials, must answer to its
constituents (those who travel the roads every day), who likely would not
tolerate their government’s deliberate indifference to a known and unreasonably
dangerous road condition, the statute itself alleviates this concern.
A.R.S. § 12–820.03 consists of two clauses. The first clause states the
circumstances under which a public entity is not liable for a roadway plan or
design — so long as it was prepared in conformance with generally accepted
standards at the time of the plan or design. The second clause, however,
contemplates a change in circumstances that renders the originally acceptable
standards unacceptable: “provided, however, that reasonably adequate warning
shall be given as to any unreasonably dangerous hazards which would allow the
public to take suitable precautions.” A.R.S. § 12–820.03. Thus, if a change in
circumstances after the roadway’s original plan or design render it unreasonably
dangerous, the public entity must provide reasonably adequate warning to be
relieved of liability. Under this interpretation, the public entity is still
accountable for a change in circumstances, and cannot simply do nothing in the
face of those changed circumstances.

11

D.

The Court of Appeals’ Construction of the Statute is
Unworkable.

Under the court of appeals’ interpretation of the statute, a public entity
can rely on the statute one day and be stripped of it the next. Conditions are
always changing, and they can change relatively quickly. If a public entity does
not become aware of the change in time to modify the roadway, or it cannot
timely secure funds to pay for, or private labor to construct the modification,
they are exposed to liability. If they manage to modify the roadway before an
accident occurs, it is only a matter of time before they are again divested of the
statute’s sanctuary because of the next round of changed circumstances. As a
result, public entities spend their days and budgets trying to keep up. Rapidly
growing cities, like Peoria, could construct a road one year and it could need
modification just a few years later because of the growing population. The
Legislature could not have intended § 12–820.03 to be so ineffectual.
The only sensible construction of the statute is to preclude liability
premised on purported changes in circumstances so long as the original plan or
design was prepared in conformance with generally accepted standards in effect
at the time of the preparation of the plan or design, and reasonably adequate
warnings of unreasonably dangerous hazards resulting from those changes in
circumstances were provided.

12

II.

CONCLUSION
For these reasons, the League urges the Court to grant the State’s Petition

for Review and resolve this significant issue of statewide importance.
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 23rd day of June, 2014.
STRUCK WIENEKE & LOVE, P.L.C.

By

/s/ Nicholas D. Acedo
Kathleen L. Wieneke
Nicholas D. Acedo
STRUCK WIENEKE & LOVE, P.L.C.
3100 West Ray Road, Suite 300
Chandler, Arizona 85226
Attorneys for Amicus Curiae League of
Arizona Cities and Towns

2910580.1
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ATTACHMENT A

Members of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns
Apache Junction
Avondale
Benson
Bisbee
Buckeye
Bullhead City
Camp Verde
Carefree
Casa Grande
Cave Creek
Chandler
Chino Valley
Clarkdale
Clifton
Colorado City
Coolidge
Cottonwood
Dewey-Humboldt
Douglas
Duncan
Eagar
El Mirage
Eloy
Flagstaff
Florence
Fountain Hills
Fredonia
Gila Bend
Gilbert
Glendale
Globe
Goodyear
Guadalupe
Hayden
Holbrook

Huachuca City
Jerome
Kearny
Kingman
Lake Havasu City
Litchfield Park
Mammoth
Marana
Maricopa
Mesa
Miami
Nogales
Oro Valley
Page
Paradise Valley
Parker
Patagonia
Payson
Peoria
Phoenix
Pima
Pinetop-Lakeside
Prescott
Prescott Valley
Quartzsite
Queen Creek
Safford
Sahuarita
San Luis
Scottsdale
Sedona
Show Low
Sierra Vista
Snowflake
Somerton
14

South Tucson
Springerville
St. Johns
Star Valley
Superior
Surprise
Taylor
Tempe
Thatcher
Tolleson
Tombstone
Tucson
Tusayan
Wellton
Wickenburg
Willcox
Williams
Winkelman
Winslow
Youngtown
Yuma
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JOHN E. GARRETSON, AS TRUSTEE OF THE EMERY E. OLDAKER TRUST, DATED
JULY 30, 1966; JOHN E. GARRETSON, AN UNMARRIED MAN,
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No. CV-13-0181-PR
Filed April 17, 2014
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Phoenix, for City of Phoenix
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Garretson and John E. Garretson, as Trustee of the Emery E. Oldaker Trust
Barbara Lawall, Pima County Attorney, Regina L. Nassen and Andrew L.
Flagg, Deputy Pima County Attorneys, Tucson, for Amicus Curiae Pima
County
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CITY OF PHOENIX V. GARRETSON
Opinion of the Court
Thomas C. Horne, Attorney General, Robert L. Ellman, Solicitor General,
Joe Acosta, Jr. (argued), and Bryan B. Perry, Assistant Attorneys General,
Transportation Section, Phoenix, for Amicus Curiae Arizona Department
of Transportation on behalf of John Halikowski, Director
JUSTICE PELANDER authored the opinion of the Court, in which CHIEF
JUSTICE BERCH, JUSTICE BRUTINEL, JUSTICE TIMMER, AND JUDGE
HOWARD* joined.
JUSTICE PELANDER, opinion of the Court:
¶1
The issue in this case is whether a property owner may be
entitled to compensation if the government, in the exercise of its police
power, eliminates the owner’s established access to an abutting roadway.
We hold that under those circumstances an owner may claim
compensable damage to private property within the meaning of Article 2,
Section 17 of the Arizona Constitution, even if other streets provide access
to the property.
I.
¶2
The superior court granted the City of Phoenix’s motion for
partial summary judgment. We therefore view the facts in the light most
favorable to John Garretson, the non-moving party. Gipson v. Kasey, 214
Ariz. 141, 142 ¶ 2, 150 P.3d 228, 229 (2007).
¶3
Garretson owns a parcel of real property in downtown
Phoenix that abuts Jefferson Street to the north, First Street to the east,
Madison Street to the south, and another parcel to the west. In 2006, the
City started installing light rail tracks along the south side of Jefferson
Street abutting the north side of Garretson’s property. As part of the
installation, the City erected a permanent concrete barrier between the
south side of the tracks and Garretson’s property. This barrier blocked
two driveways that provided vehicular access from Jefferson Street to

Vice Chief Justice Scott Bales recused himself from this case. Pursuant to
Article 6, Section 3 of the Arizona Constitution, the Honorable Joseph W.
Howard, Chief Judge of the Arizona Court of Appeals, Division Two, was
designated to sit in this matter.

*
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Garretson’s property. The property, however, still has access via Madison
Street.
¶4
After the City finished the project, it filed an eminent
domain action to determine the compensation owed to Garretson for a
temporary construction easement he granted the City for the purpose of
installing the tracks. Garretson counterclaimed, seeking damages for his
permanent loss of access to Jefferson Street. The City moved for partial
summary judgment on that claim. The superior court granted the motion,
ruling that a property owner is not entitled to compensation for loss of
access if he retains “free and convenient access” to the property.
¶5
The court of appeals vacated that ruling, holding that “when
the government eliminates a property owner’s established access to an
abutting street and the owner retains access from another street, the
owner is not necessarily foreclosed from obtaining compensation for
damages to the property under the Arizona Constitution.” City of Phoenix
v. Garretson, 232 Ariz. 115, 118 ¶ 10, 302 P.3d 640, 643 (App. 2013). After
summarizing pertinent Arizona cases, id. at 118–21 ¶¶ 13–24, 302 P.3d at
643–46, the court identified a “common thread”: “the government may
not completely remove or substantially impair a property’s existing access
to an abutting roadway without providing just compensation to the
owner.” Id. at 121 ¶ 25, 302 P.3d at 646. The court also ruled that
governmental police powers do not provide “an unqualified right to
destroy or substantially impair access without paying just compensation.”
Id. at 122 ¶ 26, 302 P.3d at 647.
¶6
We granted the City’s petition for review because the legal
issues raised regarding private property rights and governmental police
power are likely to recur and are of statewide importance. We have
jurisdiction under Article 6, Section 5(3) of the Arizona Constitution and
A.R.S. § 12-120.24.
II.
¶7
The Arizona Constitution provides that “[n]o private
property shall be taken or damaged for public or private use without just
compensation having first been made.” Ariz. Const. art. 2, § 17. Because
the City did not permanently take any of Garretson’s land, this case does
not involve a “taking” or “severance damages” as traditionally
3
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understood in eminent domain or inverse condemnation actions. Rather,
this case concerns the damages provision of Article 2, Section 17; the issue
is whether the City’s elimination of Garretson’s preexisting access to
Jefferson Street constitutes damage to his private property, supporting a
claim for just compensation.
A.
¶8
We do not write on a blank slate, but our prior cases are
somewhat difficult to reconcile. Although the court of appeals accurately
traced this state’s jurisprudence, three cases in particular warrant
discussion.
¶9
In State ex rel. Morrison v. Thelberg, the landowners’ property
abutted a conventional highway that the state converted to a controlledaccess highway with a slightly raised frontage road.1 87 Ariz. 318, 321, 350
P.2d 988, 989–90 (1960). Before the conversion, the landowners had
“direct and unlimited access” to the conventional highway from their
abutting property. Id. After the conversion, the landowners retained
unlimited access, but only to the frontage road rather than the main
highway. See id.
¶10
Overruling earlier cases, this Court held that “an abutting
property owner to a highway has an easement of ingress and egress to
and from his property which constitutes a property right” protected by
Article 2, Section 17. Id. at 324, 350 P.2d at 991. We further held that the
state must compensate landowners when that right of access is “taken
away or destroyed or substantially impaired.” Id. Applying that rule to
the facts, we concluded that the landowners’ access to the new controlledaccess highway had been substantially impaired by the conversion and
upheld the trial court’s damage award. Id. at 325–26, 350 P.2d at 992–93.
Because we allowed compensation for that impairment, we implicitly
In this opinion, we do not use the terms “highway,” “road,”
“street,” and “roadway” in any technical or statutorily defined way, see
A.R.S. § 28-101(13), (50), (52); rather, we use them generically and
interchangeably, as differentiated from a freeway or other “controlledaccess” or “limited-access highway,” where ingress and egress are
permitted only at certain government designated points. See State ex rel.
Herman v. Schaffer, 105 Ariz. 478, 480, 467 P.2d 66, 68 (1970).

1
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found a property right to directly access a particular road, even when
existing access points to and from the property are undisturbed.
¶11
We followed Thelberg’s principles in State ex rel. Herman v.
Wilson, upholding a compensation award when the government
destroyed a property owner’s access to an abutting road and did not
replace it with a frontage road or otherwise. 103 Ariz. 194, 197, 438 P.2d
760, 763 (1968). In Wilson, we recognized that, in the interest of public
safety, the government may limit “direct access to a public highway,” as
long as the alternative route “is not unreasonably circuitous.” Id. After
observing that “the substitute access road” in that case was “unreasonably
circuitous,” id., we held more broadly, “consistent with our former
decisions, that the complete destruction of direct access to a public
highway constitutes a damaging of property within the meaning of
[Article 2, Section 17].” Id.
¶12
In dissent, Chief Justice McFarland found our earlier cases
“simply not suitable for . . . super-highways.” Id. at 200, 438 P.2d at 766
(McFarland, C.J., dissenting).
In that new context, he urged
reconsideration of “our past decisions on the question of compensation for
impaired access.” Id. Chief Justice McFarland asserted that the majority
misapplied Thelberg, which “did not intend to change the rules previously
established and to include elements of damage not otherwise
compensable.” Id. at 201–02, 438 P.2d at 767–68; see also Defnet Land & Inv.
Co. v. State ex rel. Herman (Defnet I), 103 Ariz. 388, 391–92, 442 P.2d 835,
838–39 (1968) (McFarland, C.J., specially concurring) (reiterating his view
that prior cases should not apply to controlled-access highway cases).
¶13
A decade after Thelberg and just two years after Wilson,
Justice McFarland authored the Court’s unanimous opinion in State ex rel.
Herman v. Schaffer, 105 Ariz. 478, 467 P.2d 66 (1970), the facts of which are
very similar to Thelberg’s. In Schaffer, the landowners’ properties abutted a
divided highway, and each landowner “had direct access to both the
northbound and southbound lanes of traffic.” Id. at 479, 467 P.2d at 67.
The state converted the divided highway into Interstate 10, after which the
landowners retained the same access they previously had, except that the
access was to a frontage road that led to I-10, rather than to the freeway
itself. Id. The landowners sought compensation because the state’s
conversion project deprived them of direct access to a divided highway.
Id.
5
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¶14
We rejected the landowners’ argument, holding that “direct
access to a highway is not a private property right within the
contemplation of Article 2, Section 17 of the Arizona Constitution.” Id. at
481, 467 P.2d at 69. Writing for the Court, and consistent with his dissent
in Wilson, Justice McFarland focused on the novelty of controlled-access
highways and the state’s need to adequately regulate access for safety
reasons. See, e.g., id. at 480–81, 467 P.2d at 68–69. The Court framed the
“unreasonably circuitous” test, alluded to in Wilson, as relating to
controlled-access highways.2 Id. at 481, 467 P.2d at 69 (precluding
compensation if “the ingress and egress to the limited-access highway as
provided by a frontage road [is] not so circuitous as to be unreasonable”)
(emphasis added).
¶15
In adopting and applying the “unreasonably circuitous” test
in Schaffer, this Court recognized that the government may regulate traffic
and maintain safety through its police powers. We cited examples of
routine exercises of police power, including “prohibiting left turns,
prescribing one-way traffic, prohibiting access or crossovers between
separate traffic lanes, prohibiting or regulating parking, and restricting the
speed, weight, size and character of vehicles allowed on certain
highways.” Id. at 483, 467 P.2d at 71 (quoting Ray v. State Highway
Comm’n, 410 P.2d 278, 287 (Kan. 1966) (Fatzer, J., concurring)). We
concluded that, like those types of changes that do not result in
compensable harm to abutting landowners, creating a controlled-access
freeway system and regulating “high-speed traffic by limiting access” are
also noncompensable governmental actions. Id.
¶16
A landowner, we observed, “has never had a property right
in the traffic, great or small, on the highway, nor a right to recover
damages for a decrease in value of her premises by reason of the diversion
of traffic away from her property.” Id. at 483, 467 P.2d at 71 (quoting State
ex rel. State Highway Comm’n v. Meier, 388 S.W.2d 855, 857 (Mo. 1965)).
Because the controlled-access highway conversion left the landowners
Given that emphasis, the court of appeals in this case
understandably viewed Schaffer’s “unreasonably circuitous” test as limited
to cases involving “whether access to controlled-access highways has been
substantially impaired.” Garretson, 232 Ariz. at 123 ¶ 31, 302 P.3d at 648.
2
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with the same access they had before the conversion, they could not
obtain compensation for the loss of “direct access to the mainstream of
traffic.” Id. at 479, 467 P.2d at 67; see also id. at 486, 467 P.2d at 74 (finding
landowners’ “limitation of access” claim not compensable when their
access to I-10 via remaining frontage road “was not unreasonably
circuitous”).
B.
¶17
Taken together, Thelberg, Wilson, and Schaffer direct whether
landowners may have a compensable claim for damage to a property right
caused by roadway alterations when no physical property is taken. A
landowner’s preexisting means “of ingress and egress to and from his
property . . . constitutes a property right,” the taking or damaging of
which may require compensation under Article 2, Section 17. Thelberg, 87
Ariz. at 324, 350 P.2d at 991; see also Wilson, 103 Ariz. at 197, 438 P.2d at
763. That property right, however, is not taken or damaged when the
government alters a highway but leaves existing access points unchanged,
unless the access to the roadway system is “unreasonably circuitous.”
Schaffer, 105 Ariz. at 484–85, 467 P.2d at 72–73.
¶18
This rule does not undermine the government’s broad
authority to regulate traffic and maintain safety through its police power.
In general, governmental entities may alter highways without
compensating landowners whose property is devalued by various
roadway projects and traffic flow changes. See id. “[N]ot all . . . damage
resulting from a highway improvement [is] compensable.” Rayburn v.
State ex rel. Willey, 93 Ariz. 54, 57, 378 P.2d 496, 498 (1963). Thus, a
property owner is not entitled to compensation simply because changes in
the type, features, or traffic flow of an abutting roadway, or the
construction of a new road, reduce his property’s value.
Stated
differently, there is no constitutionally protected right of access to a
particular roadway, nor does a landowner’s entitlement to compensation
hinge on the nature or characterization of the old or new roadway.
¶19
Governmental police powers, however, are not unlimited,
and their exercise does not automatically preclude compensation. When
an alteration destroys or substantially impairs a preexisting right of
access, the affected landowner may be entitled to compensation, even
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though the alteration is permissible as an exercise of the police power. See
Thelberg, 87 Ariz. at 324, 351 P.2d at 991.
¶20
In clarifying the rule announced today, we find persuasive
City of Wichita v. McDonald’s Corp., 971 P.2d 1189 (Kan. 1999).3 In that case,
the Kansas Supreme Court distinguished between impairment of a “right
of access” and “regulation of traffic flow.” Id. at 1197. “Right of access”
refers to the “common-law right of access from the landowner’s property
to abutting public roads.”
Id.
A government generally owes
compensation when it takes or destroys the landowner’s right of access,
but not when a project results merely in regulating or reducing traffic
flow. Id. For example, the court concluded, “where a new highway is
constructed, moved, or traffic is re-routed,” landowners are generally not
entitled to compensation even if they are “adversely affected by the
changes.” Id.
¶21
Based on that distinction, the Kansas court ruled that a
landowner was not entitled to compensation when the City of Wichita
converted an abutting road from a four-lane divided highway to a six-lane
highway but did not affect the landowner’s access. Id. at 1198. The court
characterized the case as involving the city’s “regulation of traffic flow”
rather than impairment of a “right of access,” because the landowner
retained the four access points along the abutting road that had existed
before the alteration. Id. Thus, the landowner was not entitled to
compensation. Id.
¶22
Consistent with the Kansas court’s distinction, we conclude
that this case involves Garretson’s right of access, not merely a policepower regulation of traffic flow, as the City argues. The City completely
eliminated Garretson’s preexisting access to Jefferson Street, leaving him
with no means of ingress or egress to that street or any replacement
roadway in that location. Under these circumstances, he has a claim for
compensation under the Arizona Constitution.

Notably, in Schaffer this Court drew heavily from Kansas case law.
Schaffer, 105 Ariz. at 481–84, 467 P.2d at 69–72.
3
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C.
¶23
Despite Garretson’s loss of all direct access to Jefferson Street
and the north side of his property, the City and several governmental
amici argue that he is not entitled to compensation because he has other
ways to get to that street that are not “unreasonably circuitous,” as
described in Schaffer. In light of Schaffer’s express holding that “direct
access to a highway is not a private property right within the
contemplation of Article 2, Section 17 of the Arizona Constitution,” 105
Ariz. at 481, 467 P.2d at 69, this argument might seem persuasive. But
contrary to the City’s position, we view Schaffer as refining, rather than
revoking, our prior cases in an attempt to mesh results that admittedly
seem inconsistent.
¶24
Contrary to the City’s assertion, Schaffer did not overrule
Thelberg, and indeed it cited Thelberg and Wilson without questioning
either. See Schaffer, 105 Ariz. at 485, 467 P.2d at 73 (quoting Wilson’s
holding without disavowing it, and citing with approval Thelberg’s
discussion of the proper measure of damages). But the results in Thelberg
and Schaffer are difficult to reconcile. Under a strict application of
Thelberg’s rule, see supra ¶ 10, the landowners in Schaffer would have
prevailed on their right of access claim because in both cases the
landowners’ damages stemmed from impaired access to the new
controlled-access highway. Id. at 479, 467 P.2d at 67; Thelberg, 87 Ariz. at
326, 350 P.2d at 992–93. And conversely, had the rule in Schaffer applied in
Thelberg, the result in Thelberg might have been different. Schaffer, then,
necessarily rejected Thelberg only to the extent Thelberg found that
impairing direct access to a particular highway is compensable, even if
preexisting access points remained undisturbed. The inconsistency of
results in Thelberg and Schaffer, however, does not mean that the latter
overruled the former entirely.
¶25
In concluding that the principles announced in Thelberg
survive Schaffer, we observe that just two years before he authored
Schaffer, Justice McFarland dissented in Wilson and called for reevaluating,
not overruling, cases like Thelberg “when applied to the new type of highspeed limited-access highways now being built.” Wilson, 103 Ariz. at 200,
438 P.2d at 766 (McFarland, C.J., dissenting). Additionally, some of the
same justices who joined in Schaffer also joined in Thelberg and Wilson.
Given that fact, the absence of any suggestion in Schaffer that Thelberg was
9
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overruled, and the lack of any dissenting or specially concurring opinion
in Schaffer, it is unlikely that the Court in Schaffer intended to implicitly
overrule Thelberg and Wilson. Rather, Schaffer achieved exactly what
Justice McFarland sought to accomplish in his Wilson dissent—a
reconsideration of how Thelberg’s principles should apply in the modern
era of controlled-access highways.
¶26
Schaffer is best viewed as a case that corrected course on how
the law should apply to a controlled-access highway conversion when the
landowner’s preexisting means of ingress and egress are neither destroyed
nor substantially impaired. Thelberg announced the general rule that a
landowner’s right to access abutting roads is a constitutionally protected
property right, the destruction or substantial impairment of which is
compensable. 87 Ariz. at 324, 350 P.2d at 991. Thelberg, however,
incorrectly applied that rule to a landowner who did not lose any access to
an abutting road but rather sought compensation for his inability to
directly access a newly built controlled-access highway. Schaffer corrected
Thelberg’s misapplication of the general rule, concluding instead that a
landowner has no “direct-access right” to a newly built controlled-access
highway unless the remaining access is “unreasonably circuitous.”
Schaffer, 105 Ariz. at 484, 485, 467 P.2d at 72, 73.
¶27
Likewise, Wilson’s mention of the “unreasonably circuitous”
test is confusing and unnecessary because there, as in this case, the
government project completely eliminated the landowner’s preexisting
access. Wilson, 103 Ariz. at 197, 438 P.2d at 763. The “unreasonably
circuitous” test applies only when a property owner claims that the
government project substantially impairs access.
¶28
In sum, the rules set forth in Thelberg and its progeny,
including Schaffer, remain good law.4 Consistent with our prior cases, we
The progression of the Defnet case is consistent with our view that
Thelberg and its progeny survive Schaffer. In Defnet I, decided pre-Schaffer,
landowners lost direct access to Route 66 as a result of the state
constructing Interstate 40. 103 Ariz. at 391, 442 P.2d at 838. We remanded
the case to the trial court in part because the state’s appraisers did not
adequately consider the property’s loss of direct access, as required by
Thelberg. Id. On retrial, the jury awarded damages for that loss, and the
court of appeals affirmed the award post-Schaffer. Defnet Land & Inv. Co. v.
4
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hold that a property owner is entitled to compensation if the government
either completely eliminates or substantially impairs the owner’s access to
an abutting road and thereby causes the property’s fair market value to
decrease. As noted above, however, a landowner who claims or
establishes only substantial impairment is not entitled to compensation
unless the remaining access is unreasonably circuitous.
D.
¶29
In arguing that Garretson is not entitled to compensation,
the City relies heavily on two court of appeals’ cases: Tucson Title Ins. Co.
v. State ex rel. Herman, 15 Ariz. App. 452, 489 P.2d 299 (1971), and City of
Phoenix v. Wade, 5 Ariz. App. 505, 428 P.2d 450 (1967). But in both Wade
and Tucson Title, the landowners retained the access they had before the
government projects. See Wade, 5 Ariz. App. at 509, 428 P.2d at 454
(holding that because a “curb cut [was] sufficient” in providing the
landowners access to a driveway they previously could use, “the
landowners’ right[] to ingress and egress was not materially impaired or
destroyed”); Tucson Title Ins. Co., 15 Ariz. App. at 456, 489 P.2d at 303 (“In
the ‘after situation’ El Toro Road will pass under the new highway, thus
giving the land the same access and mode of travel on El Toro as existed
in the ‘before situation.’”). Consistent with those cases and with Schaffer,
we agree that when a road alteration leaves existing access untouched, a
landowner is not entitled to compensation based solely on a
reconfiguration of the roadway system or the reduction or other change of
traffic flow in the area. But in contrast to Wade and Tucson Title, the City
completely eliminated Garretson’s preexisting access to Jefferson Street
and left him with no means of ingress or egress on that side of his
property.
¶30
The City also argues that Garretson is not entitled to
compensation because his property is not land-locked, and he has
reasonable alternative means of access to the roadway system, including
Jefferson Street. In Thelberg, however, we explicitly found that “[o]ther
means of access may mitigate damages, but does not constitute a defense
State ex rel. Herman (Defnet II), 14 Ariz. App. 96, 103, 480 P.2d 1013, 1020
(1971). Had Schaffer overruled Thelberg, the court of appeals in Defnet II
could not have affirmed because the jury’s award in Defnet II was based in
part on Thelberg’s rule that loss of direct access is compensable.
11
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to the action.” 87 Ariz. at 325, 350 P.2d at 992 (internal citation omitted).
We reaffirm that principle here. The availability of other means of access
in a case such as this is relevant only to the measure of damages.
E.
¶31
We next address the City’s argument, based on Wade, that in
cases such as this trial courts, in their “gatekeeper function,” must always
preliminarily determine as a matter of law whether the government’s
action caused a material impairment of access. See Wade, 5 Ariz. App. at
509, 428 P.2d at 454 (stating that “[t]he trial court must rule as a matter of
law whether the interference of access constitutes destruction or material
impairment”). That contention misses the mark because this case involves
the City’s elimination, not material impairment, of preexisting access. In
addition, Wade was decided before Schaffer, in which we stated that
whether a property’s remaining access is unreasonable “is a question to be
resolved by the trier of fact in the first instance.” Schaffer, 105 Ariz. at 484,
467 P.2d at 72.
¶32
Thus, Schaffer implicitly rejected the notion that liability in
cases such as this is always a legal question. Moreover, determining
liability as a matter of law in Wade was appropriate because the facts there
were undisputed; the landowners previously had used a driveway to
access the abutting street, and after the government project they retained
that same access. Wade, 5 Ariz. App. at 507–08, 428 P.2d at 452–53.
Similarly, when, as here, no genuine issue of material fact exists on
whether the landowner’s access has been eliminated, the liability question
may be resolved as a matter of law.
¶33
The parties agree that Garretson previously had two points
of direct access to Jefferson Street that the City completely eliminated.
The parties dispute only the legal issue of whether Garretson may be
entitled to compensation based on his loss of access, an issue we have
resolved in his favor. Under these circumstances, there is no need to
litigate or resolve whether Garretson’s access has been substantially
impaired or whether his remaining access is unreasonably circuitous.
Rather, the only pertinent question remaining is whether Garretson’s
complete loss of access to Jefferson Street decreased the fair market value
of his property, a factual issue on which we express no opinion. See
Thelberg, 87 Ariz. at 325, 350 P.2d at 992 (explaining the amount of
12
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compensation as the “difference in the value of the remaining property
before and after the access thereto has been destroyed or impaired”); Pima
County v. Bilby, 87 Ariz. 366, 373, 351 P.2d 647, 651 (1960) (recognizing that
the property owner must prove to the trier of fact the loss of value).
¶34
As the court of appeals correctly noted, however, Garretson
did not cross-move for partial summary judgment on the issue of liability.
Garretson, 232 Ariz. at 117 ¶ 10 n.7, 302 P.3d at 642 n.7. Nonetheless,
because the City is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law on that
issue, see Ariz. R. Civ. P. 56(a), the superior court erred in entering partial
summary judgment in its favor.
III.
¶35
We reverse the superior court’s grant of partial summary
judgment in favor of the City, vacate the court of appeals’ opinion, and
remand the case to the superior court for further proceedings consistent
with this opinion.
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Consent Agenda
Item #5*

Resolutions of Appreciation

Summary:

Mayor Rob Adams and Councilmember Lynn Skelton stepped down from the
Executive Committee. Resolutions of Appreciation are attached for
consideration by the Executive Committee.

Responsible Person:

President Mark Mitchell

Attachments:

Resolutions of Appreciation

Action Requested:

Approval

RESOLUTION OF APPRECIATION FOR
Rob Adams
A RESOLUTION EXPRESSING THE APPRECIATION OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE LEAGUE
OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS TO ROB ADAMS FOR HIS DEDICATED SERVICE TO LOCAL
GOVERNMENT IN ARIZONA.
WHEREAS, ROB ADAMS served the citizens of the City of Sedona as an elected official for
eight years – two years on the council and for six years as Mayor; and
WHEREAS, ROB ADAMS has provided outstanding service to the League as a member of
the Executive Committee from 2009-2014; and
WHEREAS, ROB ADAMS served on the League Resolutions Committee, the League
Resolutions Subcommittee, the League Nominating Committee and other special League
committees; and
WHEREAS, ROB ADAMS was an active participant in League meetings and Conferences as
a speaker and a presiding officer; and
WHEREAS, ROB ADAMS could always be counted on to contact legislators about issues of
importance to cities and towns;
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the grateful appreciation of the League of
Arizona Cities and Towns be extended to ROB ADAMS for his service to city government in
Arizona and to the League.

RESOLUTION OF APPRECIATION FOR
Lynne Skelton
A RESOLUTION EXPRESSING THE APPRECIATION OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE LEAGUE
OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS TO LYNNE SKELTON FOR HER DEDICATED SERVICE TO LOCAL
GOVERNMENT IN ARIZONA.
WHEREAS, LYNNE SKELTON has served the citizens of the Town of Sahuarita on the
council since 1999 and also as Mayor from 2007-2011; and
WHEREAS, LYNNE SKELTON has provided outstanding service to the League as a member
of the Executive Committee from 2008-2014; and
WHEREAS, LYNNE SKELTON served on the League Resolutions Committee, the League
Nominating Committee and other special League committees; and
WHEREAS, LYNNE SKELTON was an active participant in League meetings and
Conferences as a speaker and a presiding officer;
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the grateful appreciation of the League of
Arizona Cities and Towns be extended to LYNNE SKELTON for her continued service to
municipal government in Arizona and to the League.
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Agenda Item #6

TPT Implementation Update

Summary:

This agenda item is to provide you with a report on progress and challenges to
date. League staff has spent hundreds of hours in meetings with state agencies,
city and town officials and other stakeholders to work on implementing the
provisions of HB 2111 from the 2013 session and HB 2389 from the 2014
session. The biggest news on this matter is agreement that DOR will not
implement collections for all cities and towns until January 1, 2016, a one-year
delay. We still face challenges in implementing the audit and construction
portions of the bills.

Responsible Person:

Tom Belshe, Deputy Director

Attachments:

Phoenix data requirements and reporting clarification letter to DOR
DOR delay of implementation letter to the League
League acknowledgement letter to DOR
Yellow Sheet article
DeMenna & Associates letter to the Governor
Phoenix Business Journal article

August 4, 2014
Lynette M. Nowlan, Assistant Director for Process Administration
Arizona Department of Revenue
1600 W Monroe St
Phoenix, AZ 85007

RE: Data Requirements and Reporting Clarification
Lynette,
Thank you for taking the time to meet at lunch on July 23rd. I want to clarify some
information about the Non-Program cities data requests and reporting needs.
Here is a short timeline of past events:
December 2013 - The City of Phoenix was given the testing results completed by the Arizona
Department of Revenue (DOR) related to ten test scenarios. The results packet given to the
City contained a sample report which called the “Payment Journal”. This was representative
of the reports given to current Program cities recording all financial transactions. Phoenix
was told that all data would be supplied to us in an Excel format. Phoenix staff asked for
other data format options at that time. No other options were available. The City then shared
the Payment Journal format with all Non-Program cities. The Non-Program cities
communicated to DOR that the information provided on this report would not be sufficient.
February 2014 - The City of Phoenix provided a listing of our data requirements – listing all
data fields that are considered essential to maintain data integrity and provide valuable
financial information to the city. These data elements were determined by examining the
City’s existing Tax Mantra system. See attached document.
June/July 2014 – DOR and Non-Program cities met to analyze the information needs and
understand the information that was available. Modifications were made to the data
requirements to reflect data fields in TAS. Non-Program city participants asked, multiple
times at these meetings, why cities could not receive all TPT and Use Tax related data fields
in TAS instead of a limited Excel report.
All of the Non-Program Cities appreciate DOR’s efforts to produce the standard reports for all
cities in the State including the revised Payment Journal. These reports will help all cities get
a good view of their business data using Excel and should continue into the future.
HB2111 states in Sections 42-5014, 42-5015 and 42-6001 that DOR shall “capture data with
sufficient specificity to meet the needs of all taxing jurisdictions.” I would like to formally

request that DOR provide ALL data fields related to TPT or Use Tax which are collected or
calculated in TAS. Of course, this would include the new fields which will be added as a
result of changes to AZTAXES. I request that this data be available for each city in a CSV
format. The distribution of this data should occur on a weekly basis as the Payment Journal
will be.
As you know, the City of Phoenix is hosting an Oracle BI solution which will be used by
various Program and Non-Program cities after Simplification occurs. This tool will be the
storage point and data analytics tool for all of the participating cities. This will allow each
interested City to perform critical data analysis in relation to revenues and operations.
Please let me know if you would like to discuss this request further. I can be reached at 602262-4578.
Thank you for your time.

Sandra Schilling, Deputy Finance Director – Acting
City of Phoenix Finance Department
251 W Washington 3rd Floor
Phoenix, AZ 85003

C:

Neal Young, City of Phoenix
Tom Belshe, League of Cities
David Raber, Department of Revenue
Tom Johnson, Department of Revenue

(Plus 13 pages of additional signers)

From the Phoenix Business Journal
:http://www.bizjournals.com/phoenix/news/2014/10/14/state-delayscentralized-sales-tax-payment-portal.html

State delays centralized sales tax
payment portal for contractors,
developers
Oct 14, 2014, 1:34pm MST

Mike Sunnucks
Senior Reporter- Phoenix Business Journal
Email | Twitter | Facebook
The state of Arizona needs an extra year to roll out a new portal centralizing how contractors
and other businesses pay their sales taxes.
A new $7 million centralized payment system was supposed to be up and running in January.
It is aimed at centralizing sales tax payments for businesses that know they might pay levies to
individual cities such as Phoenix, Mesa, Scottsdale, Chandler and Tempe.
Arizona Department of Revenue Director David Raber wrote League of Arizona Cities and
Towns Executive Director Ken Strobeck notifying him the implementation was being delayed
until Jan. 1, 2016.
“Unfortunately, the complexity and scale of programming necessitated by the city required,
location-based data elements in the department’s tax system preclude DOR from implementing
single point of administration by January 1, 2015,” Raber wrote in an Oct. 7 letter obtained by
the Phoenix Business Journal.
Other provisions of the more streamlined sales tax changes such as the state handling tax
license renewals will still go into effect in 2015.
Contractors will have to wait until next year to make their centralized payments.
Construction businesses and contractors have previously asked for delays to the streamlined
payment system. They wanted a six-month reprieve and a special state legislative session to
tweak the new rules. Now, they are getting an extra year at least for centralized payments.
“It’s just layers of confusion,” said Kevin DeMenna, a business lobbyist and spokesman for the

Arizona State Contractors Coalition. The group includes construction industry groups as well as
individual companies.
DeMenna said there are some complicated rules for contractors paying state and local sales
taxes and the efforts to streamline the process are creating some new concerns.
“Our guys are confused,” said DeMenna. “We need a delay.”
DeMenna wrote Gov. Jan Brewer on Oct. 1 asking for a special session and the six-month
delay.
A week later Raber notified cities of the 12-month delay.
Strobeck, whose group represents localities at the State Capitol, said the key is to have the
system work properly and efficiently when it launches. He said the Arizona Departments of
Revenue and Administration are working on the new system.
The state already handles local sales tax payments and processing for most localities – just not
18 of the mostly larger cities.
That list includes Phoenix and suburbs such as Peoria, Glendale and Avondale, as well as
Tucson, Flagstaff, Nogales and Sedona.
The aim of the changes was to give businesses and construction contractors a single portal and
payment point for various sales taxes they pay.
DOR officials did not respond to a request for comment.
Mike Sunnucks writes about residential and commercial real estate, government,
law, sports business and workplace issues.
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Agenda Item #7

Legislative Policy Discussion and Updates

Summary:

The results of the November 4 election will be discussed. Also, League staff
seeks Executive Committee discussion and guidance on legislative strategy
relating to shared revenue and other important policy issues. Several other
League task forces and projects are underway.
• Election Results; new Governor, legislative makeup and leadership
• Shared Revenue Issues
• PSPRS Task Force
• League Resolutions
• Other projects:
Impact Fees
Title 34
Panhandling model ordinance

Responsible Person:

Ken Strobeck & League Staff

Attachments:

2014 Municipal Policy Statement
2014 League Resolutions Chart
Impact Fee “wish list”

2015 Municipal Policy Statement
Overview
The League of Arizona Cities and Towns, a voluntary association of the 91 incorporated municipalities in
Arizona, is governed by two core principles: to protect shared revenues and promote local decisionmaking authority.
I.

Preserve Local Control

Decentralized government at the local level represents a fundamental principle of American
democracy, recognizing that when it comes to community governance, one size does not fit all.
The League calls upon the Legislature to respect the authority of cities and towns to govern their
communities in the best interests of their residents. The League will endorse legislation that supports
and sustains the principle of local control and reject legislation that conflicts with the autonomy of cities
and towns.
II.

Protect State Shared Revenue

The League is determined to safeguard the economic resources that cities and towns require to
ensure safety and provide high-quality services for their residents. To that end, the League calls upon
the Legislature to enact a budget that maintains existing historical formulas for the distribution of statecollected shared revenue to local governments.
III.

Economic Vitality

The League is determined to safeguard the fiscal tools cities and towns require to provide the
high-quality services their residents demand and continue to attract new economic opportunities. To
that end, the League calls upon the Legislature to:


Allow for the creation of Enhanced Municipal Services Districts in areas that are not
considered slum or blighted;



Authorize the formation of Revenue Allocation Districts to foster economic activity
within targeted geographic areas;



Explore mechanisms to improve the economic sustainability of the Public Safety
Personnel Retirement System; and



Support efforts to improve Arizona’s ports of entry with Mexico and related
infrastructure.

IV.

Infrastructure
The League is concerned with the ability of cities and towns to meet the ever-increasing
demands that our growing population places on existing infrastructure. Therefore, the League
will:

V.



Preserve Highway User Revenue Funds (HURF) allocated to Arizona cities and towns and
follow statutory formulas for the distribution of HURF monies;



Establish a Highway User Revenue Funds (HURF) study committee to develop
recommendations to improve transportation maintenance and infrastructure funding;



Restore funding for the Greater Arizona Development Authority to facilitate economic
development in rural communities; and



Pass legislation to allow improvement districts to pay for the operation and
maintenance of retention and detention bases.

Community Support
The League recognizes that all levels of government must work cooperatively in order to be
successful and provide citizens with the quality they expect and deserve. To that end, the
League calls upon the Legislature to:

VI.



Support efforts to restore the Arizona State Park Heritage Fund;



Seek to reduce the shortage of health care professionals; and



Support the long-term retention of Arizona’s military installations.

General Government
The League recognizes that success at the local level requires well-written state laws. Therefore,
the League will support legislation to:


Permanently authorize cities and towns to use the total number of votes cast for an
office when calculating the majority of votes cast;



Provide properly apportioned indemnification among parties in intergovernmental
agreements;



Simplify the requirements for annexation; and



Streamline and improve the process for creating and implementing development impact
fees.

League of Arizona Cities & Towns
2015 Resolution Submissions
No. Summary
Creation of Enhanced Municipal Services Districts as a new type of
1
improvement district not restricted to slum or blight.
Revenue Allocation District - any incremental increase in revenue
streams above the base could be used by the district to fund public
2
improvements within the district. Allows anticipated revenues to be used
to finance components of projects.
Make retention and detention basins eligible for operation and
4
maintenance cost payments through an improvement district.
Establish a mechanism enabling local government to create renewable
5
energy and conservation financing districts.
Stop future sweeps of Highway User Revenue Funds (HURF) allocated to
6
Arizona cities and towns and to restore HURF funding to FY2008 levels.

Sponsor
Lake
Havasu

Recommendation
Recommend for
Adoption

Lake
Havasu

Recommend for
Adoption

Yuma

Recommend for
Adoption
Recommend for
Adoption

Apache
Junction

Awaiting election results to
determine viability
Working on C-PACE
language
Meeting to discuss overall
Recommend for
shared revenue strategy
Adoption
11-13-14
Recommend for
Awaiting election results
Adoption
to determine best forum
Significant Municipal Awaiting opportunities for
Issue
support
Recommend for
Legislative referendum
Adoption
likely to appear
Two strategy meetings
Recommend with
with GADA
Amendments

Flagstaff

Recommend with
Amendments

Yuma

Recommend for
Adoption

Flagstaff
Yuma
Kingman

9

HURF revenue study committee to develop recommendations for new or
expanded revenue streams.
Restore AZ Housing Trust Fund.

10

Restore the Arizona State Park Heritage Fund.

Sedona

7

14

Appropriate $20 million to the Greater Arizona Development Authority
(GADA) infrastructure fund, restoring its original statutory mandate and
pre-FY2008 funding level.
Explore mechanisms to improve public safety pensions that create an
economically sustainable retirement system, such as including one
representative from both a large city and a small non-metropolitan city on
the PSPRS board.
Make the requirements for annexation a more simple and flexible process.

16

Ban the use of a cell phone, smart phone or similar data devices with one
or both hands while in control as the driver of a motorized vehicle, except
in the case of an emergency.

11

13

17
19
20

Permanently allow cities and towns to calculate the majority of votes cast
for a municipal office based on the total number of votes cast for that
office.
Reduce the shortage of health care professionals in Arizona, including
addressing the issue of residency.
Pass legislation or engage in other activities that support and advocate for
1

Action
Sponsor identified,
finalizing language
Awaiting election results
to determine viability

Flagstaff

Resolution will be rolled
into discussions of the
Pension Task Force

Sedona

Awaiting election results
to determine viability
Collected ordinances from
Significant Municipal cities to draft model.
Issue

Gilbert

Recommend for
Adoption

Language ready, multiple
sponsors identified

Sierra
Vista
Douglas

Recommend with
Amendments
Recommend for

Awaiting opportunities for
support
Awaiting opportunities for

21

League of Arizona Cities & Towns
2015 Resolution Submissions
resources to improve Arizona’s ports of entry with Mexico and related
Adoption
infrastructure.
Support the long-term retention of Arizona’s military installations.
Sierra
Recommend for
Vista
Adoption

support
Awaiting opportunities for
support

League Staff Recommendations
Support legislation to preclude the Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) from
1 requiring cities and towns to completely indemnify ADOT in order to obtain access to certain
federal funds.
Support legislation to streamline the implementation of development impact fees including,
2 but not limited to, expansion and clarification of allowable uses, shorter implementation time
frames, and reduction of complexity and ambiguity.

Recommend for
Adoption

Sponsor identified,
finalizing language

Recommend for
Adoption

Impact fee meeting
with city officials 1023-14.

Key to Committee Recommendations
Recommend for Adoption – Becomes a part of the Municipal Policy Statement, and will help guide legislative activity in the coming session.
Recommend with Amendments - Becomes a part of the Municipal Policy Statement, and will help guide legislative activity in the coming session,
but needed amending for either content or technical reasons.
#11 was amended to take out the language “insulate the fund from future sweeps.”
#12 was merged into #13, as both related to state retirement systems. Therefore #12 does not show up on this document as a separate resolution.
#19 was amended to add “including the issue of residency.”
Significant Municipal Issue – Although an important concept to cities and towns, does not quite rise to the level of legislative activity. League staff
may address the issue with state agencies and/or other stakeholders.
Not Recommended – The resolution may be too confined to one community, be on its face contrary to core principles, or not in line with current
agreements with other stakeholders.

2

Suggestions for impact fee changes
October 23, 2014

Shorter timeline
Eliminate second public hearing
1. Eliminate 24‐month grandfathering clause; does not apply when new
study is adopted (avoid the freeze at zero rate) new fees ok every six
months? Very hard to track property by property (Updates more
frequent than every five years)
Option for early payment
Date for biennial audit, consistent city to city (could specify in ordinance)
certified audit requirement for land use assumptions, other related items.
Define certified in fee study by consultants?
Advisory committee less formal, not appointed by council, ad hoc group
3 Explicit list of necessary public services. Parks, libraries, regional public
safety training centers (eliminate direct benefit language from
libraries) courts?
2. Ten year spending requirement, tied to refund language (finding
language that new study states previous requirements have been met)
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Agenda Item #8

League Annual Survey Results

Summary:

The thirteenth annual survey of the League was e-mailed to mayors, council
members, managers, clerks, attorneys, finance directors, public information
officers and intergovernmental coordinators. Staff will present the 2014
League Annual Survey and answer any questions the Executive Committee has
concerning the methods and results of the survey.

Responsible Person:

Matt Lore, Communication & Education Director

Attachment:

2014 League Annual Survey Results

2014 League of Arizona Cities and Towns
Annual Survey of Services
General Demographics
Three questions were asked in General Demographics: what the respondents’ role is in the city
or town, how many years the respondent had served or worked for the city or town and the
population category of the city or town they serve.
The highest numbers of respondents were city and town elected officials (26%) followed by
other (18%).

1

Other Responses:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Management Analyst
appointed councilman replacement
budget staff member
Deputy Clerk
Administrative Assistant
Senior Accountant
Management Assistant
internal auditor
Senior Financial Analyst
Management Assistant II
Community Development Director
Mid-Manager
Deputy Town Clerk

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Code Enforcement Manager
Deputy Director Phoenix Housing
Department (former Town Mgr)
Management staff
Deputy Town Clerk
Administrative Assistant
City/Town Deputy Clerk
HR Manager
Deputy City Clerk
Budget Manager
Deputy Town Clerk
Deputy City Clerk
Assistant City Clerk
Finance Assistant Director

The majority of respondents have served in their city or town 5 years or less (42%) with 22% of
the respondents serving 10 years or less in their community.

2

Respondents from cities and towns in the 10,000 to 100,000 population category had the
largest participation (46%) with the smallest number of respondents coming from those serving
in cities in the 5,000 – 9,999 population category (10%).

3

Overall Performance and Value
93% of the respondents rated the overall performance and value of the League as excellent or
good. This compares to a 97% excellent or good rating last year, 91% excellent or good rating in
2012, 96% excellent or good rating in 2011 and a 94% excellent or good rating in 2010.

Cross Year Comparison of “Excellent/Good” Rating on
Overall Performance and Value
Percent of Respondents that Rated the League's
Overall Performance "Excellent/Good"
2014

93%

2013

97%

2012

91%

2011

96%

2010

94%

2009
86%

98%
88%

90%

92%

94%

96%

98%

100%
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Comments on League's overall performance in serving cities and towns
•

I would like to see more form documents and "how to's/checklists" so many things we
all need to do in a similar way!

•

I would like to see ourselves be a little bolder in taking stands on items like state taking
away HURF & State Shared Revenue funds. More out in the public like opinion pieces
and such. With the state coming up with severe shortfalls in the next couple of years it's
going to be so important to protect what cities have lost during the downturn. I know
the school districts are going to be doing the same in terms of being more public about
what they loose from the state.

•

there is a lot of value present in this type of organization but it needs to be administered
properly

•

Often turn to the League on issue affecting the municipality

•

Always there for us.

•

Need of knowledge for an elected official is needed to move forward, that is provided by
the League.

•

The League is an invaluable asset when it comes to assisting and aiding our Town for
information and leadership training.

•

Very Strong and positive

•

Regardless of a municipality's size, the League has their best interest at forefront.

•

communications of all forms

•

The League is meeting our expectations. We are very satisfied with the service they
provide.

•

Has a pretty good balance on the rural issues with the urban. I think introduction to
newly elected officials could be stronger.

•

Very helpful in providing information and assistance with matters.

•

Great job on TPT

•

The League is very involved with Arizona's cities and towns as evidenced by the weekly
legislative calls and publications the League puts out for our benefit.

•

Tom's leadership during the Tax Simplification implementation has been great!
5

•
•

I am not very aware of what the League does or accomplishes.
good job there

•

The League is very responsive to our questions and provides support in serving our
interests.

•

I attend at least one of the semi-annual trainings. When Tom presents your work
regarding the interactions with the legislature, it is apparent that the league is busy and
on our side.

•

I appreciate the weekly calls on legislative issues.

•

I always feel well informed on what's happening that will impact directly or indirectly my
organization.

•

reliable and quick to provide information

•

Does ok but seems to cater to larger cities in programs and services.

•

I know I can always call on the League for assistance.

•

The League has always been very responsive.

•

The League does a great job in providing support, training and keeping us updated with
everything that keeps changing.

•

Good advocacy and information

•

Had to do better with the Election Consolidation Law and the Campaign sign changes

•

My experiences are limited to the newsletters/emails updates and the Summer
Meeting. But my experiences have been very positive, and think the League does a good
job with both.

•

Always there to answer questions and provide available information.

•

Our Town looks up to and relies on cooperation and assistance from the League. The
League never lets up down.

•

League office staff is always available to answer questions that I may have. Always
professional and courteous.

•

Have been very helpful and have promptly answered all questions I have had.
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•

I think large towns and cities a better served by you than rural communities.

•

I think it does pretty well but think the League needs to take a harder stance and fight
on some issue rather than falling back and compromising as much as it does.

•

The League is a very valuable resource for our community, as well as all communities in
the state.

•

I can always count on the League for Election forms and information as well as giving
insight to proposed legislation.

•

seems to favor lager cities

•

Matt and the League staff have been helpful and eager to assist AMCA with whatever is
requested. Thanks!

•

very good

•

They usually focus only on the bigger cities and rarely focus on smaller communities

•

The resources and networking through the League are extremely valuable.
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Legislative Program
94% of the respondents rated the Legislative Program as excellent or good. This compares to
a 95% excellent or good rating last year, 90% excellent or good rating in 2012, a 93% excellent
or good rating in 2011, and a 95% excellent or good rating in 2010.

Cross Year Comparison of “Excellent/Good” Rating on
Legislative Program
Percent of Respondents that Rated the League's
Legislative Program "Excellent/Good"
2014

94%

2013

95%

2012

90%

2011

93%

2010

95%

2009
87%

94%
88%

89%

90%

91%

92%

93%

94%

95%

96%
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Comments on Legislative Program
•

I rely on it annually. It would be nice if we could better present joint feedback on bills
through the league through use of technology.

•

Step in the right direction.

•

needs to be less wordy/concise and brief

•

Appreciate the regular updates.

•

It is nice to have a website and people to contact to get good information on Legislative
issues and how they will affect our Town.

•

Keep doing the great job you do for us!

•

Always provide timely updates and call for action when necessary.

•

Monday morning briefings very useful

•

Keep it up. This is needed very bad considering the matters Legislators seem to dream
up!

•

Only honor legislators if they vote the way the league wants it done, not the area they
represent.

•

Don't forget issues that affect small towns more than the big guys and/or affect a few
cities/towns rather than all of the cities/towns. [Ex. Home Rule debacle was not settled
until the end of the session after repeated questioning by me]

•

I had the opportunity several years ago to work with Rene and I found the expertise of
the staff to be exceptional.

•

I think the legislative program is one of the league biggest strengths.

•

couldn't get through the session without the League's help

•

Good source of information on pending issues of cities and towns in Arizona

•

Would like more reports

•

More attention to the smaller town’s needs ... Clifton is not Phoenix or Tucson so their
criteria does not apply
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•

this is a wonderful program on behalf of all the cities and towns. Especially when we the
resources are not available for us to do ourselves. We thank you for what you do on our
behalf.

•

Couldn't do our job without it

•

It would be good if the League updated the legislative bill monitoring section more
quickly and more frequently.

•

Could there be a different format that would highlight changes in status? It seems so
repetitive if nothing changes.

•

The League staff is vigilant in fighting for or against bills that will benefit or hurt cities
and towns, especially small rural communities.

•

I think more effort could have been put forth on development fees. Perhaps a
modification to allow small towns to implement them without getting another study.

•

Rene and all of the staff are very dedicated to providing service to all of the
communities in Arizona, and they are very knowledgeable, pleasant and approachable.

•

The Monday legislative calls are very informative.

•

provides excellent summaries for new laws/bill appreciate the weekly Legislative Update
Conference Calls

•

I have noticed often times on the legislative conference calls we are told oh don't worry
about this bill or that bill they won’t go anywhere and then we suddenly get
consolidated elections and new campaign finance bill?!

•

The legislative alerts and background information on current and pending legislation has
been incredibly helpful.
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Conference and Training
92% rated the Conference and Training Program as excellent or good. This compares to a 96%
excellent or good rating last year, a 94% excellent or good rating in 2012, a 97% excellent or
good rating in 2011, and a 91% excellent or good rating in 2010.

Cross Year Comparison of “Excellent/Good” Rating on
Conference and Training Program
Percent of Respondents that Rated the League's
Conference and Training Program "Excellent/Good"
2014

92%

2013

96%

2012

94%

2011

97%

2010

91%

2009
88%

97%
89%

90%

91%

92%

93%

94%

95%

96%

97%

98%
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Comments on Conferences and Trainings
•

the more tedious a presentation the more it’s proximate to lunch needs to be coincided

•

Have always learned about new issues at trainings.

•

Always provides information and answers.

•

I enjoy attending the Annual Conference and attending training seminars that are held
by the League.

•

I have never participated in a League training program. New Council Members praise
the program.

•

Good

•

The League supports the GFOAz, the trainings are great and include excellent and timely
topics.

•

The only reason I gave an Average score rather than good or excellent is because the
Annual Conference and ACMA seemed to all be about the Valley.

•

Usually a lot of the same topics every year

•

Would like workshops with more information than just general training.

•

I have only heard good comments from the town council on the League Conferences.
Election training is great.

•

Unfortunately, my rank is too low now to rate an invitation; but they have always been
great

•

Get more involved with the NLC and their University

•

Can't comment--no experience with the training.

•

Usually meets needs, but too often geared to larger cities and not smaller towns.

•

I have declined to go to the annual conference for the last couple of years. I find it is, in
general, a waste of my time.

•

League provides good information regarding new election legislation.

•

The location, training and overall program is excellent.

12

•

I was disappointed in this year's conference. There was not enough time allowed for
Q&A and each session had too many speakers.

•

AMCA had a great conference/training - even though I didn't get to attend.

•

I attended the election training which provided excellent information on the new
election laws.

•

Great support to ACMA. Very good annual League conference this year. The youth
program was really beefed up. Content was super. Nicely done! New elected official
training is always well received.

•

Again a lot of focus is given to larger municipalities.

•

AMCA and ACMA have been vital to my development.
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Technical Assistance
96% of the respondents rated the Technical Assistance Program as excellent or good. This
compares with 94% excellent or good rating last year, 91% excellent or good rating in 2012, a
93% excellent or good rating in 2011, and a 90% excellent or good rating in 2010.

Cross Year Comparison of “Excellent/Good” Rating on
Technical Assistance Program
Percent of Respondents that Rated the League's
Technical Assistance Program "Excellent/Good"
2014

96%

2013

94%

2012

91%

2011

93%

2010

90%

2009
87%

92%
88%

89%

90%

91%

92%

93%

94%

95%

96%

97%
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Comments on the Technical Assistance Program
•

I'd like more materials on municipal finance. The current manual is good--but more
detail would be helpful.

•

Not had any experiences.

•

Used often.

•

How is this information shared?

•

Haven't used.

•

I have not yet participated in needing or using the Technical Assistance Program but it is
good to know it is available.

•

OK

•

not aware of this program

•

Have never used any

•

Did not use.

•

Great job

•

Never experienced a delay

•

Can't comment--no experience with the program.

•

This is probably your best side.

•

Really not familiar with this.

•

Accessed publications numerous times. Very informative and well done.

•

Tom Belshe is always a lot of help as well as Cathy Connelly.
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Communication and Outreach
93% of the respondents rated the Communication and Outreach Program as excellent or
good. This compares to a 95% excellent or good rating last year, a 91% in 2012, a 92% excellent
or good rating in 2011, and a 91% excellent or good rating in 2010.

Cross Year Comparison of “Excellent/Good” Rating on
Communication and Outreach Program
Percent of Respondents that Rated the League's
Communication and Outreach Program "Excellent/Good"
2014

93%

2013

95%

2012

91%

2011

92%

2010

91%

2009
87%

90%
88%

89%

90%

91%

92%

93%

94%

95%

96%
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Comments on Communication and Outreach Program
•

Do not use much.

•

Love list serve

•

Another source of good information.

•

Not an overwhelming amount of paper is distributed. We do appreciate the bulk of
information in electronic format.

•

The website is very informative.

•

Updated Clerk's website and listserv are very helpful

•

Great job

•

Too much "feel good"; not enough substance.

•

Good information

•

Little experience with this.

•

The AZ Cities @Work program is really terrific. Great job by Matt!! Regular
communication via e-mail is also great.

17

League Services
Respondents were asked to rank the five most valuable services the League provides to our
members. Below is a chart with each of our services in order of respondent rank.
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Cross Year Comparison of Most Valuable Services League Provides To Members

2009

Services that are most valuable to our members
(Respondents were asked to make 5 choices)
2010
2011
2012
2013

2014

1

Legislative
Lobbying

Legislative
Lobbying

Legislative
Lobbying

Training
Seminars

Legislative
Lobbying

Legislative
Lobbying

2

Legislative
Bulletin

Legislative
Bulletin

Training/
Seminars

Legislative
Lobbying

Legislative
Bulletin

Training/
Seminars

3

Annual
Conference

Annual
Conference

Legislative
Bulletin

Legislative
Bulletin

Annual
Conference

Legislative
Bulletin

4

Budget and
Finance
Information

Newly Elected
Officials Training

Annual
Conference/
Model City Tax
Code Admin

Budget and
Finance
Information

Training/
Seminars

Annual
Conference

Awareness of League Services
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General Questions
How can the League improve our overall service to your city or town?
•

No suggestions

•

I think the new resolutions committee has a lot of potential!

•

Not sure just yet.

•

Legal advice needs to be offer on a more one to one level to the smaller cities.

•

Keep the communication flowing as you have done in the past.

•

I think the League is doing an excellent job in providing a platform for young
professionals to network.

•

doing you are doing well

•

Keep up the excellent work!

•

Raise its profile

•

I am unable to answer as I don't have much involvement in my current role with City of
Mesa.

•

I can't think of anything at the moment. The staff is a great source of support.

•

Increase opportunities for elected official training and even certification, as in
http://www.caled.org/economicdevelopment/services/local-elected-officials-training
and http://www.nlc.org/build-skills-and-networks/education-and-training

•

I can't think of anything. The League has been very helpful to our municipality.

•

More events throughout the year, maybe rotating locations.

•

More training for small towns - our problems are different than those of the cities.

•

Find a way to improve the state legislature.

•

Keep up the good work

•

Can't think of anything at this time.
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•

Make sure everyone knows of all the services the League provides

•

Excellent service

•

Do more lobbying for small towns.

•

Continue to provide the services you are now.

•

You are doing a good job.

•

Keep up the great work!

What additional services would you like the League to offer?
•

More guides and training materials. The current ones are great--but I'd like more.

•

Union information to all dept. dealing with unions. More involvement with elected
officials on understanding their roll.

•

I am not sure if this is provided, but I would like to see some information on
transitioning, Meaning going from one position to another. In addition, assistance to
members on resume, cover letters, coaching on interviews, etc. I think that would be
very helpful.

•

I do not have any suggestions at this time. Thank you.

•

more training classes

•

Litigation brief bank

•

Maybe some type of mentoring program for new city clerks who are not very
experienced in the role and responsibilities of a city clerk.

•

Access, when needed, to the 9th floor

•

We have council members that attend the newly elected seminar each time they are reelected. Should not this been just for new council members or is there enough new
information to justify attending every other year?

•

No additional ones come to mind.

END OF SURVEY
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
Friday, November 14, 2014 at 10:00 a.m.

Agenda Item #9

Report of AZ Cities @ Work Campaign

Summary:

Update on latest activities of AZ Cities @ Work and Cities and Towns Week

Responsible Person:

Matt Lore, Communication & Education Director

Attachments:

Pictorial Update

Great Arizona Road Trip - AZ City & Town Magazine
The League prints AZ City & Town magazine
biannually in the summer and winter. The
summer 2014 edition showcased “The Great
Arizona Road Trip,” a feature article that
gave readers a look at local activities and
tourist attractions in the various cities and
towns throughout Arizona.

A publication of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns | Summer 2014
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AZ Cities @ Work Update

AZ Cities @ Work Update: Summer

Through the AZ Cities @ Work website, the League featured individual road trips showcasing each of
Arizona’s 91 cities and towns. Divided into six regions of the state, the website was transformed into
a digital copy of the magazine, with more than 100 blog posts and visuals showcasing not only our
beautiful state, but each of the municipalities.

AZ Cities @ Work Update

Great Arizona Road Trip - Enhanced Web Magazine

AZ Cities @ Work used “The Great Arizona Road Trip” as an opportunity to expand its social media
reach, delving into the new platforms of Pinterest and Instagram to showcase the visuals of each city
and town.
Facebook

Instagram

AZ Cities @ Work Update

Great Arizona Road Trip - Social Media

Pinterest

AZ Cities @ Work Update

Great Arizona Road Trip - Social Media Cont.

Twitter

Summer Social Media Contest
To ﬁnish out the summer, AZ Cities @ Work developed a Twitter contest to increase
followers and participation via social media. The contest, which culminated at the
League Annual Conference, encouraged Twitter participants to share with us what
they loved about their city or town.

AZ Cities @ Work Update

Great Arizona Road Trip - Social Media Cont.

AZ Cities & Towns Week - Municipal Toolkit
To celebrate the 13th Annual Cities & Towns Week and assist the cities and towns in participating,
the League created an online toolkit, which featured a variety of tools, including sample press releases,
social media messaging, and event ideas.
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AZ Cities @ Work Update: Fall
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To enhance resident participation during AZ Cities & Towns Week, AZ Cities @ Work hosted three
social media contests in the month preceding Cities & Towns Week.

The ﬁrst social media contest encouraged
participants to watch the AZ Cities @ Work
PSA and name a city or town they saw in
the video.

Where in AZ? was a social media contest done
through Facebook. Individuals were prompted
to view a series of six photos from throughout
Arizona and guess which city or town the photo
was located.

#AZ1ofaKind was a Facebook & Twitter contest that
encouraged citizens to send in photos that showcased
what made their city or town unique.

AZ Cities @ Work Update

AZ Cities & Towns Week - Social Media Contests

To get cities and towns in the spirit of Cities & Towns Week, the League sent out its signature
Cities & Towns Week posters to all 91 cities and towns. These posters were displayed in
city halls, community centers and libraries. The League also made personalized posters
available for cities and towns to showcase their individual services.

AZ Cities @ Work Update

AZ Cities & Towns Week - Posters

More than one third of Arizona’s cities and towns
participated in the 13th Annual Cities & Towns
Week in a variety of ways.

Proclamations
Many cities and towns issued proclamations to
let their citizens know they were participating
in Arizona Cities & Towns Week.

League of Arizona Cities & Towns Executive Director
Ken Strobeck with Gilbert Councilmember Ben Cooper.

League of Arizona Cities & Towns Communication and
Education Director Matt Lore with Chandler Mayor Jay
Tibshraeny and City Councilmember Nora Ellen.

Governor Jan Brewer joined the League in celebrating Arizona
Cities & Towns Week by issuing a proclamation.

League of Arizona Cities & Towns Legislative Associate
Dale Wiebusch with Prescott Valley Mayor Harvey
Skoog and Vice Mayor Lora Lee Nye.

AZ Cities @ Work Update

AZ Cities & Towns Week Participation Proclamations

Cities and towns across the state also showcased Arizona Cities & Towns Week on their municipal
websites and social media landing pages.

AZ Cities @ Work Update

AZ Cities & Towns Week Participation - Websites

Several cities and towns held events to celebrate Arizona Cities & Towns Week.

Winslow hosted an open house at their city hall
to bring in children from the local elementary
school and citizens to view booths about public
safety and the library.

The City of Mesa held their annual “Celebrate Mesa!” event this
year in conjunction with Arizona Cities & Towns Week.

AZ Cities @ Work Update

AZ Cities & Towns Week Participation - Events

Many cities and towns used social media as a way to celebrate Cities & Towns Week.

AZ Cities @ Work Update

AZ Cities & Towns Week Participation - Social Media

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
Friday, November 14, 2014 at 10:00 a.m.

Agenda Item #10

Recap of 2014 Annual Conference

Summary:

Staff will give a brief overview of the 2014 Annual Conference Survey and
Financial Report.

Responsible Person:

Matt Lore, Communication & Education Director

Attachments:

Letter from Mayor Stanton
Attendance Report
Financial Report
Survey results

2014 LEAGUE ANNUAL CONFERENCE
ATTENDANCE REPORT
Date:

August 19‐22, 2014

Location:

Sheraton Downtown Phoenix
Phoenix, Arizona

1, 187 persons attended the conference. 83 of the 91 cities and towns (91%) were
representated at the event. The following is a summary of those who attended.

Position
Mayors
Vice Mayors
Councilmembers
Manager/Assistant Manager
Clerk/Deputy Clerk
Attorney/Assistant Attorney
Magistrate/Assistant Magistrate
Police Chief/Public Safety Director
Finance Director
Fire Chief
Parks & Recreation Director
Librarian
Public Works
Intergov
Other City/Town
Spouse (Includes " 58 Badge Only"; 11 Comps)
Complimentary
Life Member
COG Director
State Department
State Representatives
State Senators
Speakers
Sponsors
Other
Youth
TOTAL

Total
Registrants
71
43
241
68
12
20
2
3
6
2
0
1
2
17
37
121
45
6
5
51
11
6
114
155
41
107
1,187

2014 Annual Conference - Sheraton Downtown Phoenix
I N C O M E
SPONSORS
Arizona Lottery
APS
Arizona Pipe Trades 469
Arizona State University Office of Public Affairs
Cigna Healthcare
American Legal Publishing
Arizona Municipal Risk Retention Pool
CivicPlus
H-PACT
Climatec
OpenGov
Play Unplugged
Republic Services
Ritchie Bros. Auctioneers
Union Pacific
The University of Arizona
Waste Management
Arizona Food Marketing Alliance
AT&T – Desert Southwest (DSW)
Brown & Associates Certified Inspection, Inc.
EPCOR
American Fidelity Assurance Company
Arizona Chapter of the Associated General Contractors (AGC)
Arizona Public Employers Health Pool (APEHP)
Arizona Transit Association
Central Arizona Project
CenturyLink
Charles Abbott Associates, Inc.
Comcast
Community Associations Institute of Central Arizona
Cox Business
Curtis, Goodwin, Sullivan, Udall & Schwab, PLC
DLR Group
Erin P. Collins & Associates, Inc. (ECA)
Gammage & Burnham
HighGround, Inc.
Kutak Rock LLP
McCarthy Building Companies, Inc.
Molera Alvarez LLC / A Government & Public Affairs Firm
Motorola Solutions
Mountain States Employers Council (MESC)
Pulice Construction, Inc.
RBC Capital Markets, LLC
Resolution Copper Mining
Severn Trent Services, Inc.
Sherman & Howard
smartworksplus, inc.
Southwest Gas
Squire Patton Boggs
Salt River Project
Stifel
Total Transit
Tucson Electric Power Company & UniSource Energy Services
Water Infrastructure Finance Authority of Arizona
W.C. Scoutten, Inc.
Zions Bank

Level
Diamond
Platinum
Platinum
Platinum
Platinum
Endorsed Partner
Endorsed Partner
Endorsed Partner
Endorsed Partner
Gold
Gold
Gold
Gold
Gold
Gold
Gold
Gold
Silver
Silver
Silver
Silver
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze
Bronze

Contribution
Additional
$15,000
$10,000
$10,000
$1,500
$10,000
$10,000
$2,000
COMP
COMP
COMP
COMP
$8,000
$8,000
$8,000
$8,000
$8,000
$8,000
$8,000
$1,550
$8,000
$5,000
$5,000
$5,000
$5,000
$800
$2,500
$2,500
$800
$2,500
$800
$2,500
$2,500
$800
$2,500
$2,500
$800
$2,500
$800
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
$2,500
TOTAL SPONSORS

Totals
$15,000.00

$43,500.00

$65,550.00

$20,800

$91,500.00
$236,350.00

Registrations
Member (Early) [Includes 6 non-refundable registrations]
Non-Member (Early)
Member
Non-Member
Member Cancellation Fees ($25.00)
Sponsor (NBO)
Sponsor (Early)
Sponsor
Miscellaneous (Single Day)
Miscellaneous (NBO)
Miscellaneous (NBO & Session)
Miscellaneous (Sessions Only)
Miscellaneous (Two-Day)
Miscellaneous ( NBO & General Lunch)
Miscellaneous (NBO; & Dinner)
Miscellaneous (Dinner)
Miscellaneous (Lunch)
Golf (paid only-including 1 Cancellation-No Refund)
Spouse (Name Badge Only)
Additional General Lunch Tickets Purchased
Additional Dinner Tickets Purchased
Spouse (Full Program Registration) [Includes 3 non-refundable registrations]
Showcase Booths (includes Cities with extra booth)
Showcase Booths (with electricity)
Showcase Booth (add extra table)
Pre-Conference Workshop - PSPRS
Mobile Workshop - Spouse Musical Instrument Museum
Mobile Workshop - State Capitol Tour
Youth Program

483
22
28
19
45
26
13
12
10
1
0
1
0
6
20
1
4
23
31
3
3
55
50
10
8
17
1
36
107

EXPENDITURES
BANQUET / HOTEL CHARGES
Sheraton Downtown
Deposit (July 2014)
Guest Rooms
1/40 Comp Room Credit
Banquiet / Catering Charges
Audio Visual Charges
Parking Charges
ADJ - Room Service LAH16B
Sheraton rebate (per contract)
Reibursement (AZ We Want - Gabe Zimmerman green room)
Reibursement (HPACT reception)
GOLF
Golf Course (Encanto 18-Hole Golf - City of Phoenix)
Food at course
Best Buy (prizes - $50 for 1st place foursome; $25 for 2nd place foursome; 4 idividual $25 prizes)
RESOLUTIONS COMMITTEE
Resolutions Subcommittee - June 17, 2014 (Duck & Decanter)
SHOWCASE
CSI etc.
SPOUSE PROGRAM
Musical Instrument Museum
TRANSPORTATION
Parking passes
VIA Adventures - Arizona (shuttle)
VIA Adventures - Arizona (Tour - Musical Museum)
VIA Adventures - Arizona (Tour - State Capitol)
U-Haul
ExecuCar - Airport pickup for speaker Eisenberg
ExecuCar - Airport pickup for speaker Applewhite

Fee
$290
$340
$310
$390
$25
$25
$340
$390
$175
$25
$50
$25
$310
$60
$100
$75
$35
$55
$25
$35
$75
$135
$195
$65
$75
$25
$35
$10
$60

27 @ 18.00

Total
$140,070
$7,480
$8,680
$7,410
$1,125
$650
$4,420
$4,680
$1,750
$25
$0
$25
$0
$360
$2,000
$75
$140
$1,265
$775
$105
$225
$7,425
$9,750
$650
$600
$425
$35
$360
$6,420
Total Revenue

$206,925.00
$443,275.00

$10,000.00
$11,622.28
-$3,303.99
$169,191.47
$39,457.62
$341.00
-$234.73
-$4,432.00
-$386.10
-$8,408.80

$213,846.75

$1,013.76
$800.00
$400.00

$2,213.76

$355.35

$355.35

$2,345.25

$2,345.25

$486.00

$486.00

$400.00
$2,036.50
$561.63
$561.63
$134.94
$64.90
$94.40

$3,854.00

SPEAKER FEES/EXPENSES, ENTERTAINMENT
Wayne Applewhite (Friday closing session)
Elliot Eisenberg (Wednesday opening session)
Youth Program speaker (scholarship donation for student)
Youth Program speaker (Elizabeth Sparks)
Arizona PBS (Gubernatorial Debate)
Skyline Productions, Inc. (Gubernatorial Debate)
Sonora Translators & Interpreters
Cary Pfeffer - Parade of Flags
Kathy Kerchner - Media Training
Sonoran Swing Band (Thursday dinner entertainment)
Ferrari LLC (HPACT reception band - to be reimbursed)
AWARDS
Award Mart - Service Award & Legislator plaques, gavels & Governor award
Marco (wood frames) - Legis Friend Award (32); 12-year Service Award (14)
MTM Recognition - 8 year Service Award covers (40)
Fusion Frames - Sponsor Awards (56)
Walgreens - photo printing for Legislators, Governor & Sponsors
PRINTING / Banners, Posters, Brochures, Flyers, etc.
Panoramic Press (program - 900)
Marco (800 printed canvas bags)
Black copy charges - resolutions, lists, etc.
Color copy charges
Postage
Marco (ribbons)
Marco (black wallet badge holders)
Marco (clear plastic badge holders)
Alphagraphics (2 banners 33x80)
YOUTH PROGRAM
Youth Conference Planning - April 17, 2014 (Duck & Decanter)
Youth Program supplies
MISCELLANEOUS
Phoenix Philanthropy (work on Arizona Community Foundation)
Cvent registration fees (2.00 per registrant/per event) - Regular Registration
Cvent registration fees (2.00 per registrant/per event) - Golf
Cvent registration fees (2.00 per registrant/per event) - Tours
Cvent registration fees (2.00 per registrant/per event) - Parade & Festival
Conference Discussion Meeting - February 5, 2014 (Duck & Decanter)
Planning Committee Meeting - March 26, 2014 (Duck & Decanter)
Mobile App (Attendify)
Miscellaneous supplies, tips
Miscellaneous - staff meals (Brick $308.37)
Aaron Hoskins Photography
Apple iPod touch - social media
Boy Scouts donation for stuffing canvas bags

$2,951.61
$6,000.00
$250.00
$125.00
$19,500.00
$550.00
$2,460.00
$250.00
$1,299.45
$1,500.00
$1,200.00

$36,086.06

$1,866.30
$1,276.04
$426.40
$1,209.60
$54.10

$4,832.44

$1,488.04
$4,029.48
$201.00
$279.24
$262.65
$210.60
$968.59
$79.80
$332.82

$7,852.22

$113.44
$59.53

$172.97

$1,000.00
$1,142.00
$46.00
$74.00
$100.00
$246.24
$248.35
$599.00
$300.01
$308.37
$1,419.60
$215.52
$900.00
Total Expenses
Excess Revenue Over Expenditures

$6,599.09
$278,643.89
$164,631.11

46 @ 27.74
40 @ 10.66
56 @ 21.60

3,350 @ .06
2,327 @ .12
780 @ .27
959 @ 1.01
228 @ .35

571 @ 2.00
23 @ 2.00
37 @ 2.00
50 @ 2.00
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Commentts:
 Most
M importan
nt session we
e attended
 Do not recall ant
a notificatio
on of this even
nt
 Paanelists were
e very knowledgeable.
 Well
W done. Info
ormative on an
a important topic to the Cities
 Th
he speakers for
f the eventt were the pe
eople that I w
wanted to heear from. Thee facilitator gguided
th
he conversation the direction that it sho
ould have go ne.
 I came
c
away with
w a better understandin
u
g and thoughht the debate was lively.

1

Commentts:
 Th
hey all said th
he same thingg. I guess theyy didn't realizze they were talking to a ro
oom full of
politicians. It was
w good to be
b able to meet them afterrwards.
 Well
W done, on time and gre
eat moderator.
 sttump speeche
es
 Wonderful
W
opp
portunity to meet
m
and liste
en to the can didates. Than
nk you.
 Th
hank you!
 Th
hat was a gre
eat inclusion. Thank you!
 Audio was excellent able to
o hear undersstand all partiicipants
 It was an excellent debate.
 It was very smart to host th
he forum so th
hat the local eelecteds and staff could hear from theiir
m to vote for.
next potential governor. It helped me make my decission for whom
l
a lot and changed who I voted for.
 I learned
 Ducey insulted
d group by no
ot coming
 Moderator
M
Qu
uestions were
e to the point
 Where
W
was Du
ucey?

2

Commentts:
 Difficult to heaar / see key speaker
s
and he
h spoke to ffast on econo
omy issues; charts hard to
o read
frrom where I was
w sitting
 It was difficultt to hear / co
omprehend what
w
was bei ng said in th
he back of the room, espeecially
during the eco
on presentatio
on.
 Mr.
M Eisenberg was very enttertaining and informativee. Thank you for the advicce to the aud
dience
an
nd how this affects
a
you ele
ements.
 To
oo many grap
phs. Couldn't make sense of
o them. Boriing
 Very entertain
ning speaker!
W
entertaining the speaaker was not the best for ccontent.
 While
 As in every yeaar league doe
es a great job
peaker was good
 Sp
 Ke
eynote was entertaining
e
but
b spent too much time oon national isssues
 Exxcellent speaker; got everyyone revved up.
 Th
he economist was very good
g
and enttertaining, I l earned somee things and he reinforceed my
fe
eeling that things are not great
g
but theyy are slowly im
mproving.
 sp
peaker was ve
ery good

3

Commentts:
 I finally
f
undersstand the issu
ue better

Comm
ments:
 I heard
h
this wh
hen they had it at Yavapai College. It waas excellent there.
 in
ndividual city experience was
w excellent
 Didn't feel it applied to our country town.
 We
W need a statewide imple
ementation pllan

4

Commentts:
 Th
his was intere
esting but nott helpful to what
w
I was loooking for.
 Th
hank you for identifying a variety of options and shoowing how th
hey are being used.
 So
ome great infformation; exxcellent panell of speakers!!
 wished
w
had go
one more into
o grassroots fiinancing optioons
 I have
h
to look back through
h me notes bu
ut I think I gott some valuab
ble informatio
on to use in the
fu
uture.
 Needed more time for Q&A
A.

Comments
s:







Wish
W I had bee
en able to attend this one also.
Didn’t get to attend, but really wanted to. heard it waas great
Th
he presenter clearly provid
ded guidance
e on how to w
work with thee media to preesent and affiirm
th
he message th
hat should be
e shared.
Wanted
W
to atte
end this sessiion but it conflicted with aanother I atteended. Maybee offer this on
ne
next year again
n.
his session thrroughout the conference
heard great things about th
5

Commentts:
 Very knowledggeable speake
er.
 Good overview
w for most ele
ected officialss.
 To
oo much info
o for time to present
p

Commentts:
 Very informatiive for a new councilperso
on.
e; however, soome presentaation skills traaining would be
 Presenter was obviously knowledgeable
helpful.
 Kind of dry.

6

Commentts:
 ke
ept my intere
est
 AZ Cities and towns can reaally help one another
a
by offfering to "exxchange" City Managers fo
or one
or two weeks each
e
year to bring their exxperience andd connectionss to other mu
unicipalities to
o
help with challlenges, experrience fresh id
deas, establissh connection
ns, etc. Maybee sister cities or
Big‐Small city support,
s
etc.
 re
ead better thaan it worked

Commentts:
 Better question would have
e been, after college what would make you come ho
ome to work
 Not a very worrthwhile discu
ussion.
 Th
his deserves a larger audie
ence.
7





el members
Exxcellent pane
Very insightful comments by
b our young leaders, it shoould be offerred again
he facilitator did a poor job of guiding the
t conversattions to relatee to the electted officials and
Th
sttaff that were
e in the room. It was more
e of a story te lling session rrather than an opportunity for
me
m to learn ho
ow to attract and retain the youth in ouur communityy.

Commentts:
 Very interestin
ng discussion..
he continuingg technical diffficulties were difficult to oovercome
 Th
 Sh
hould be requ
uired for all members
m
and staff!
 Computer problems left litttle time for Q & A.
 so
ome problem
ms with IT caussed some delay
 Isssues with the
e AV system
 So
o very though
ht‐provoking.
 So
omething eve
eryone needss to think about.

8

Commentts:
 Th
he presentatiions were info
ormative, alth
hough not te rribly optimisstic for progreess. Especiallyy
giiven the lengtthy time fram
me looming fo
or the compleetion of the Environmental Studies.
 make
m
it a doub
ble session wiith a break...vvery good
 Very timely & relevant topic. Great diverrsity of prese nters!
hat we need to
t get involve
ed and stay acctive as this w
will be comingg right througgh
 It reinforced th
his communitty and we will have terrificc opportunitiees or they cou
uld just pass u
us right on byy.
th
 Would
W
work be
etter if municcipalities are kept current with the ongoing work on
n this project

Commentts:
 Most
M of the attendees were
e veterans, so
o the needed audience waas outside thee doors. This w
was a
grreat message
e, needed for most officialss to take hom
me. Maybe wee could get m
more in the seats,
an
nother time.
 Good resource
e with Sean Price
9

Commentts:
 Very informatiive. Even my Financial Dire
ector picked uup some new
w tips to incorporate into o
our
to
own budget.
 well
w done and very informaative not enou
ugh time for qquestions butt very helpfull

Commentts:
 Would
W
have be
een better wiith a handoutt summarizingg topics covered & some o
other backgro
ound
 In
nformation a little unfocussed
 allways too mu
uch on the fro
ont end and not
n enough tim
me for questiions
10

Commentts:
 I enjoyed
e
this conversation
c
very much
 It was interesting to see perspectives fro
om south of tthe border
hank you for the translatio
on devices...e
excellent ideaa! But the sign
ning ceremon
ny should've b
been
 Th
had in anotherr room.
nformation ne
eeds to be on
n going througgh a link on c ity web sites or the League's web site
 In
 Great translatiion tools greaat content excciting press... Winner!

Commentts:
 Faantastic session! I appreciaate Phoenix'ss advice and loocal perspecttive. I was verry interested to
hear the variou
us challengess in water resource allocattions. Excellen
nt panel, veryy knowledgeaable.
11










ne’s thoughtss in AZ
Very important to keep watter in everyon
No information applicable to
t the rural areas and no ttime for Q and
d A.
maller commu
unities
Needed to geaar more to sm
CA
AP, SRP, Phoe
enix Water, Yuma
Y
Irrigatio
on District, annd ADWR..... A
All we heard aabout was the
aggricultural ne
eeds of Yuma and the heavvy urban usess/sustainabilitty of Phoenixx metro area aand
Tu
ucson. I asked
d attendees NOT
N serviced by these ent ities to raise hands ‐ 95% o
of the
ap
pproximatelyy 80‐100 atten
ndees!!! This is the proble m! Water is rreal statewidee issue and w
we
co
ould get a staatewide persp
pective or disccussion. How
w many comm
munities in thee League are NOT
in
n the urban ce
enters? Let's really start in
ncluding rural , not just lip sservice!!!!
Would
W
have be
een better tittled five thinggs about Phoeenix water no
obody in the rrural areas care
ab
bout
Evveryone is no
ot in CAP
Heard it was not "rural" eno
ough and cen
ntered mostlyy on major meetro's

Commentts:
 Knowledgeable panelists
 All the time waas spent on th
he election with
w no meaniingful look ah
head to 2015.
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Commentts:
 Good informattion given; exxtremely know
wledgeable sppeaker.
 Presenter know
wledgeable and
a presented
d material in cconfident, hu
umorous fashion.

Commentts:
 Very informatiive.
 I would
w
have liike to understtand how myy community ccould get involved to imprrove and
participate in the
t process.

13

Commentts:
 It was boring.
 All contributorrs were "up" on
o events and
d were inform
mative and hu
umorous at tiimes.
 Best session evver!
 Always fun and
d interesting!!

Commentts:
 in
nformation an
nd contacts with
w presenters was great
 Th
he presider was
w obviously highly intelliggent and veryy handsome.
 Th
he presenterss had experie
ence in the fie
eld and share d with us theeir experiencee and
re
ecommendations for the future. This is a critical issuue for AZ com
mmunities.
 Very informatiive but only an
a overview ‐ no nuts and bolts
14

Commentts:
 Th
his session se
erved as excellent background for challeenges facing cities and tow
wns. I would b
be
in
nterested to hear
h
additional options forr addressing tthe Cliff.

Commentts:
 not what I expected, left eaarly
 Great perspecttives.

15

Commentts:
 Presenters were less than "stellar",
"
some better thann others. Conttent was really geared to a
narrow demoggraphic.
 Nothing really new, but a good attempt to help smalller communitties.
 I still
s don't kno
ow how to answer when asked what inccentives you can give. I haave heard whaat
Tu
ucson offered
d Tesla and when
w
asked why we didn't I have to resp
pond becausee the City Attorney
saays it would violate
v
state statutes.
s
 grreat speakerss well presentted, good takkeaways

Commentts:
 Good discussio
on and Q&A'ss with all town leaders.

16











oom was packked, informattion was good
d....moderatoor dominated the meetingg....asking
ro
questions, com
mmenting on answers, leftt virtually no ttime for audieence to ask q
questions. Thiis was
th
he first time in 5 years thatt I experience
ed such behavvior. It was reegrettable and left many
le
eaving the roo
om without a chance to ge
et a question answered.
So
ome extreme
ely interestingg concepts presented.
Very thought provoking
p
ommissions, I walked awayy
Good speakerss. Even thouggh my town doesn't have bboards and co
with
w some ideaas on how to get commun
nity memberss more involveed.
Th
he presenterss clearly shared their ideass on how we can increase participation
n in my
co
ommunity. Th
here suggestions were verry helpful. Thee facilitator gguided me meeeting well, but at
a point he just seemed to have
h
a converrsation with thhe presenterss. He correcteed his actionss and
in
nvolved the audience.
Liiked the form
mat of comparring/contrastiing routes thee two cities h
have taken.
grreat ideas we
ell presented by cities more Q&A wouldd have been b
beneficial

Commentts:
 Appreciated th
hat there werre large and small airports discussed.
nteresting, bu
ut for small airports, not much
m
help...
 In
 Fllagstaff was good.
g
The big boys don’t apply to the reest of the statte. We don’t need an updaate
on sky train. How do I grow
w my single FB
BO airport?
d of urban and
d rural.... Thee same perspeective or conccepts can't w
work
 Again, Arizona is comprised
or both. I cam
me looking forr ideas and su
upport in deveeloping rural airport usagee and
fo
in
nfrastructure.. Directors of the largest faacilities want to brief on th
heir strengthss, not how sm
maller
ciities and town
ns can improvve their lot!!
 Skky Harbor is in a league that doesn't pe
ertain to us. W
We could do b
better but forr some reason
n the
Airport Authorrity isn't interrested in grow
wing.

17

Commentts:
 Th
here were other politicians who fit into
o this categorry who would not have maade it more
in
nteresting.
 Very enlighten
ning discussion. Next questtion: how do we reform th
he current sysstem to makee it
more
m
efficient?

Commentts:
 Room was cold
d
 Great participaants, Needed much more time
t
for Q&A
A
 Halikowski alw
ways does a go
ood job

18

Commentts:
 I found
f
this pre
esentation fascinating. The discussion oof the rate structure challeenges facing A
APS
were
w
particularly eye‐opening. The presenter's persppective related to fixed cossts vs.
co
onsumption based
b
costs was
w rather interesting. I waas disappointeed in the lackk of
professionalism
m displayed by
b a number of
o the audiennce in their ch
hallenges to the panel. I beelieve
he panel addrressed them with
w tremend
dous grace annd dignity. I w
would not likee to see a repeeat
th
performance of
o this behavior from an au
udience againn. I thank the members of the panel forr
sh
haring their tiime and expe
ertise with us.
 Running betwe
een the ADOTT session and this one.

Commentts:
 Th
his session was very good and worth re
epeating withh more time aallocated.
19








omething new
w. Started slo
owly, but it was a great adddition. Need to have it earrlier next year, not
So
th
he last mornin
ng. Too manyy attendees had already leeft.
Good idea
u saved the be
est two sessio
ons for the lasst day when 33/4 of the atttendees are ggone
As always, you
f
flowingg and rural leaaders were geetting ideas for their problems
or sunbathing.. Ideas were freely
‐ FINALLY!!!
his needs a litttle better orgganization bu
ut is a very goood process th
hat should bee continued. IIt
Th
alllowed for exchange of ide
eas and meeting other parrticipants.
Sh
hould allow more
m
time forr this next yeaar.
Have one at th
he beginning of
o the conference and at tthe end. Allow
ws more peop
ple to networrk
hroughout the
e conference and meet more people.
th

Commentts:
 Well
W worth the
e time spent in
i attending!
 Th
his deserves a larger audie
ence. I would say I got the most from th
his one alonee
 As always, you
u saved the be
est two sessio
ons for the lasst day when 33/4 of the atttendees are ggone
ut fundamenttally the typee training I feeel the Leaguee
or sunbathing.. Same idea as last year, bu
sh
hould be provviding most of
o the elected officials in thhe state (mayybe this subject could be
mandatory
m
forr managers, also). Good se
ession!
 Te
echnical issue
es at start and
d then nothin
ng really caugght my interesst. We did leaave early as a
re
esult.
 Great speaker. I left the con
nference upliffted.


me for one se
ession. Have one
o at the beeginning of the conferencee and at the end.
Not enough tim
Th
his would kee
ep more peop
ple to the end
d of the confeerence and a better attend
dance at the llast
se
ession. It wass a very good presentation but a lot of m
material to co
over in the tim
me allotted.

20

Golf
G and Mob
bile, Speecial Events

Commentts:
 To
oo hot to wan
nt to play
 $5
55 for Encantto is way too much moneyy
 En
njoyed the raain. Would like to see Tom do it again n ext year.

Commentts:
 I didn't
d
go to this but I thou
ught it was an excellent chooice for visiting mayors an
nd/or spousess.
 My
M husband was
w very impressed and ho
opes to take m
me sometimee.
21



omments from
m those atten
nding
Heard great co

Commentts:
 Very insightful

Commentts:
 Lo
ots of fun!
 Need A/C nextt time.
 Not a lot of participation. All
A cities need to support or it will eventtually go awayy
22

















his is always a fun event. Still
S not sure what
w
I am goiing to do with
h all the stufff I collected.
Th
Pure theater! Surprised
S
thaat City of Glen
ndale and Cityy of Scottsdalle were not reepresented b
by
own represen
ntatives.
to
Th
he room was too hot.
Se
eemed to be a lot fewer booths than 20
013. Could usse a bigger sp
pace, lines forr activities maake
fo
or lots of "pinch points" for maneuverin
ng around othher booths. W
Would also heelp to start it right
affter last session. A lot of "e
early birds". Good
G
food, niice seating arreas.
Evvery year see
ems to get bettter.
highlight of the
e event greatt opportunity to visit our nneighboring co
ommunities
Best I have see
en in several years
y
It's great to see all the adults acting like kids on Hallooween. I always enjoy the ggoodies!
Great fun.
As participantss, we found th
he logistics to
o be the easieest ever in getting materiaals into the ro
oom.
Th
he room was very hot!!
Always a highlight
Highlight of the conference
e.
Great event. Always
A
glad to
o participate and
a meet new
w people.
an
n improveme
ent over last year
y

Receptions and
d Mealss

Commentts:
 It was congested.

23

Commentts:
 Th
he attendees do not seem
m to be interessted in stayinng around afteer dinner so w
why spend th
he
money
m
on evening entertainment? For those
t
who waanted to visit it was too lou
ud!
 Very loud with
h alot of rude people talkin
ng over the sppeaker.
 fo
ood was averaage
 So
ound system was horrible. Food was no
ot as tasty.
 missed
m
this but heard it was great
 Music
M
is alwayys too loud.
 Needs better organization
o
‐ call me
oo much chicken
 to
 Great band! Th
he steak was tough.
 Acoustics could have been better in the banquet roo m.
 sh
hould not havve music. peo
ople want to visit
v
 to
oo much talking when pressenting awards. Chaotic
 Liiked the new format.
 Lo
oud and disre
espectful to th
he awardees.. The emcee sshould've waited until eveeryone was eaating
an
nd generally occupied.
o
Or a better soun
nd system or something. I didn't like haaving the dinn
ner
on Wed. Prefe
er it on Thurs. Youth Comm
missioners couuld not attend the showcaase.
ood sucked ass usual...musiic was good
 fo
 Pe
eople in the room
r
were ve
ery rude. No respect
r
for thhose receivingg recognition. It could have
been better co
ontrolled by the leader.
egan meal came after desssert and was inedible
 ve

24

Commentts:
 Exxcellent to he
ear from our own
o senator
 Way
W to crowde
ed, need to have 2 doors
 Fo
ood was averrage
 Always a treat to listen to Senator
S
McCaain.
oo bad he waas late but the
e award part of the luncheeon was imprressive
 To
 Nice lunch, enjjoyed Sen. McCain, nice presentations..
M
an expaansion of the
e Zimmerman Awards coul d be discusseed for rural co
ommunities...
 Maybe
Many
M
of our grreat staff members can be
e overlooked just by the m
magnitude of tthe
. In scale, maany smaller to
acccomplishme
ents in larger communities
c
owns and citiees have just aas
many
m
great staaffers.
 To
oo much chiccken
 Lo
oved Sen. MccCain's talk.
 I was
w with fourr other people who could not find seatiing so we leftt. Very disapp
pointing.
 Great to hear from
f
Senatorr McCain.
 not enough room...had to eat
e somewhere else
 Vegan meal waas devoid of protein
p
and in
nedible
 Unfortunately was not able
e to attend lun
nch as there w
were not eno
ough tables. W
Was very
disappointed.
 Se
enator McCaiin was excelle
ent!

25

Commentts:
 Andre at the Bar
B was a true
e highlight to the social ho urs at the con
nference
 Venue was a good
g
size. Hottel was very nice,
n
rooms veery clean, goo
od staff.
 exxcellent staff
 Did not use; paarking terrible
e!
 Paarking was te
errible
 Paarking was an
n issue
 Might
M
have had shuttle tran
nsportation th
hroughout doowntown. I did a ton of waalking back to
o my
downtown office throughout conference
e and was exhhausted from
m so much waalking in the h
heat.
Also, mid‐augu
ust is always prime
p
monsoon season, soo it's difficult to get wheree you need to go
when
w
so manyy roads are flo
ooded!
 Waiting
W
for the
e ballroom to
o open for lun
nch was ratheer uncomfortaable. Is there a better wayy to
fo
or a line so evveryone does not feel the need
n
to buncch up at the d
door?
 Resort staff waas wonderful.
 Good location,, lousy parkin
ng, great room
ms, wonderfuul weather forr August!
 Great job by AZ
A League.
 In
n room breakffast was adve
ertised at $18
8.50 plus tax, tip and deliveery fee ended
d up be over $40.
 Paarking was crrazy otherwise would have
e scored exce llent
 Paarking was baad and roomss were medio
ocre
 Laack of parkingg at the hotel was a big ne
egative
 Exxcellent venu
ue
 with
w the excep
ption of parking, the resortt was perfectt
 Paarking was a nightmare
 Paarking was a real hassle
 Rooms were co
omfortable and getting around in the hhotel was eassy.
 Bad parking an
nd the bell pe
ersonnel not very
v
helpful.
 Th
he food was not
n up to par as compared
d to other connferences
 housekeeping was excellent
26













Parking was a real problem. Did not like the downtown location
parking terrible, no chairs in hallways for persons to sit.
Parking was an issue
parking is an issue
poor parking
Reception desk service was avg, valet and bell service was poor. Lack of parking and queen/king
rooms. I will never stay there again
The parking situation was a little annoying, but I suppose that is may be expected when a
conference is at a downtown location...
boring location...pick a good resort
Resort accommodations excellent, however, lack of parking at hotel. We should practice of
accommodations with parking at the same facility.
really great service and staff at hotel
The parking situation was not good.

Please let us know what worked well and what we can do to
improve the League Annual Conference for next year


















Preprinted agendas with locations and maps supplied ahead of time,
I liked the seminars this year better. They were geared more toward information and education
rather than just chatting sessions. I learned a lot this year.
I would have liked to attend more discussions. I missed several that I wanted to attend because
of overlap.
Plenty of rooms this year. However not enough parking
It can't not be corrected but on several occasions the topics I wanted to participate in conflicted
with others.
Have a course from the NLC University available
Although I could not attend very many sessions (being somewhat busy with councilmembers of
municipalities we represent) I received a lot of feedback about how good the sessions were.
Parking was difficult for those of us not staying at the hotel. Otherwise, it was a very good
conference.
Things went well, no complaints.
Change the location and never to return to this location for this event!
Star Pass is not a good place to have the League event. Hard to get to. Overflow hotels are miles
away No amenities close to resort
Come up with a better way to seat us for the different lunches and dinners so we do not have to
crowd near the doors and then get run over when the doors finally do open. If you do come up
with a better seating arrangement you can open the doors 30 minutes early and let everyone
stroll in. The way APS did the welcome dinner was excellent. Take a lesson.
Appreciated it was all in one building ‐ did not have to go outside or walk a long way
I spent quite a while looking for a seat at the luncheon. Is there a way to reserve seats ahead of
time? I ended up sitting with folks from Eloy and Casa Grande and it was a very profitable lunch
conversation, but having to wander for 10 minutes looking for a seat was not fun.
Release attendee list to network more effectively / strategically
Very inconvenient to hold the LACT in downtown Phoenix. Parking was unavailable or
inconvenient. Access was difficult. Should hold at an outlying "resort" setting. The rooms where
meetings were held were way too cold!
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Session suggestions: 1. Impact Fees. Follow up to new law effective 8/1/14 including impact to
fee amounts and budget impacts; 2. Healthcare. To include service provider options, plan
options, and cost sharing strategies. Many smaller cities do not have the resources and I think
this is an opportunity for the League to help address a major financial issues. 3. Public Pensions.
Status update of all state administered pension plans.
Sessions that i attended were good. Some topics could use more time. Maybe written questions
in advance in addition to open forum.
Better vendor display area. Need to encourage attendees to visit the vendor booths. Very poor
set up
find a cooler climate
Everything was good
Everything worked well. Never stop generating ideas that will make it that much better.
This conference is well worth the money and time. It is so well run, the information is always so
applicable and the staff always impresses me. Thank you for your efforts!!!
I would like to provide more details and suggestions, but I would prefer to do it via email. Also, I
would love to be involved in the planning or on the committee for next year, too. Thanks AZ
League staff. You did a great job.
As good if not better than several previous. Every year seems to get better.
Everything went really well. But maybe next year make it so it's not so hot or rainy.
Allow more time for questions and answers. Far more helpful than having 5 panelists and then
no time to question them to help cement what was said.
Overall, this was a great conference. League staff was awesome.
All was great only downfall was the parking situation in downtown area.
Overall organization of conference is very well done.
Having 5 speakers in some sessions left almost no time for Q&A time. Having those helps
cement the information presented.
Moving showcase to Thursday was great.
As noted the opening session speaker was not that captivating and not enjoyed as much as prior
speakers.
The audio systems at almost every session were poor at best. You go to listen, what’s the point
if you can't hear everything.
I'm looking forward to looking at the powerpoints of the conferences that I was unable to
attend.
Only use hotels which can provide sufficient parking for attendees
Overall an excellent conference
Parking poor
As in every year, I see too much emphasis placed on input based on the needs of the big, urban
cities. Since we call it a League for the entire state, maybe we need to rethink sessions designed
for either OR both. I truly believe most presenters spend WAY TOO MUCH TIME talking and
there isn't enough feedback and questioning time available to attendees. We come to learn, but
it seems only the presenters ideas are truth. Let's let others in a session might enhance the
lessons with their feedback, too.
Have Ed Hochuli come speak
I have come to realize that these League Conference sessions are geared around the larger
municipalities. Some of us smaller rural municipalities share some of the same issues but we
never have an opportunity for helpful sessions. This is the fifth year I have attended and every
time I think a session is something that might be beneficial to us, it's all about the larger
municipalities. We have an airport, all of the utilities, water problems, etc. and could really
benefit from some sessions that are geared for smaller cities and towns.
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Parking was definitely an issue. It was very inconvenient to have to keep hiking to the overflow
parking garage. I only saw a shuttle one time (I made many trips). Also, it was very inconvenient
for unloading and loading for the Festival of Cities event.
Breakout sessions need topical improvement. Understand the range of experience in the room
but would like topics that are more challenging and current to towns and cities. Given the
number of break‐outs at one time there could be a range of topics to attract different
experience levels. Know how hard this is, but it would help. Overall, another good conference in
a great location. Thank you.
I think it was the best of the 9 I have attended. The sessions were very good!
Please ensure the materials for each training session are available at the League website, as
there were courses that were worth attending that occurred during the same time and
conflicted with others deemed more important or beneficial.
Overall I thought the conference was very good. The venue was a little too small.
Liked having the conference in one hotel and didn't have participants spread out all over the
area.
Since the conference was geared toward the elected officials, it was great.
I was prepared to dislike being downtown Phoenix in mid‐August. I loved it! Rather than being
"captive" at a resort property, I had the freedom to explore a variety of restaurants, shops, and
movies across from the hotel. So, location was primo! As far as curriculum goes, I think it's time
for a revamping, both in subject matter and in presentation style. The catering at the hotel was
excellent. Each meal was prepared well and presented in optimum condition. The hotel was
comfortable and easy to navigate. The Showcase is always enjoyable. The heat in the room and
the music were the only negatives. While the music was good, it lasted about an hour too long.
Overall, it was a successful Conference.
It would have been helpful to know that internet access was free in the rooms. I read
somewhere that it was $15 per 24 hours so I only accessed the internet once in the five days I
was in the hotel and I'm still trying to catch up on emails.
Make sure the events presented are as described.
The hotel was way too cold. Everyone was wearing jackets or sweaters. Cold air was coming
down right on my head thus I completely lost my voice and could hardly talk in the round table
discussions on Friday morning breakfast.
The resorts on the outskirts of town are better such as the Hyatt in Scottsdale or the Star Pass in
Tucson
The parking was atrocious. The programs were good, but there were so many concurrent ones ‐‐
I felt like I missed a lot. I most enjoyed what I usually do ‐‐ meeting and interacting with a lot of
other municipal officials.
Do not have the conference at the Sheraton in the future.
Incorporate discussions on self‐improvement for current leaders.
More time for sessions to have Q&A.
Hold it at a place that has adequate parking and doesn't gouge its quests to make up for its own
inadequacies.
Great topics, good choices, parking is an issue.
Bring back Elliot Eisenberg
Worked well to have enough block of rooms at the conference hotel. Some vendor displays
were out of the way and probably had less exposure because of that
Shorter sessions and more topics.
The Youth program was excellent this year. What a great idea to have an Instagram scavenger
hunt. AND to break them up from their own group. The kids all had a great time. Also the
SeedSpot speaker really struck a chord with many of the young people. Thanks for taking the
time to really structure something terrific for our young people!
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Have split sessions at the beginning and end to allow more time to cover the topic. Have a
jeopardy game with questions pertaining to municipalities. This would be some fun
entertainment. You could even do who wants to be a millionaire game with similar questions.
Play Unplugged here. As a Gold sponsor we were disappointed with our experience at this
conference. Our placement was in the back corner and we saw less foot traffic as a result. These
conferences are only appealing to us if we can get contacts and get in front of potential clients.
In the future foot traffic should be considered more carefully when considering sponsorship
slots and positioning. Also face time with large cities is key ‐ most foot traffic was smaller cities
looking for swag. Other conferences have done a raffle for $200‐$400 that requires signatures
from each booth. This ensures foot traffic and allows for face time. Fun conference, but perhaps
not worth the money for us this year.
Parking can be improved.
Loved the free Wi‐Fi, charging stations and receptions for networking. Simplifying the parking
pass vouchers would be helpful. Maybe have them out at all times or include the vouchers with
registration packet.
Parking was horrible, and the hotel charges for Valet were excessive. I know parking is always a
problem, but this location was not good...
The conference meetings were very well informative. Receptions and meals as well. The only
downside was parking.
Special needs food better choice of sessions on both days in lieu of too many great choices day
one. General comment day two was there weren't enough choices
It was great having all events in one building. Temperature in session rooms very uncomfortable
(cold). Overall great event.
Would like to maybe see the conference held in the northern part of the state. Phoenix and
Tucson in August is brutal. Would be nice for the rest of the state to travel for a change.

30

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
Friday, November 14, 2014 at 10:00 a.m.

Agenda Item #11

2013-2014 Audit Report

Summary:

The report from the annual audit of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns is
presented for your review and approval.
The Property Corporation of Cities and Towns is a separate nonprofit
organization which owns and operates the League building. However, rather
than prepare a separate audit for the Property Corporation, our auditors have
recommended that it be included in the League=s financial statement. The audit
report you have implements that recommendation.

Responsible Person:

Ken Strobeck

Attachments:

Audit Report for FY ended June 30, 2014

Action Requested:

Approval of Audit Report

Board of Directors
League of Arizona Cities and Towns
Phoenix, Arizona
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns for the year ended
June 30, 2014, and have issued our report thereon dated October 16, 2014. We have previously
communicated to you information about our responsibilities under auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and Government Auditing Standards, as well as certain
information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. Professional standards also require
that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit.
Significant audit findings
Qualitative aspects of accounting practices
Accounting policies
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant
accounting policies used by the League of Arizona Cities and Towns are described in Note 1 to the
financial statements.
No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed
during the year.
We noted no transactions entered into by the League during the year for which there is a lack of
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial
statements in the proper period.
Accounting estimates
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions
about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their
significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them
may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial
statements were:


Management’s estimate of the useful lives and remaining useful lives of capital assets is based
on the League’s previous experience and current condition of capital assets. We evaluated the
key factors and assumptions used to develop the useful lives and remaining useful lives in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.



Management’s estimate of compensated absences is based on employees who have currently
vested and those who are expected to vest. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions
used to develop compensated absences balance in determining that it is reasonable in relation
to the financial statements taken as a whole.

An independent member of Nexia International

Board of Directors
League of Arizona Cities and Towns
Page 2

Financial statement disclosures
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to
financial statement users. There were no particularly sensitive financial statement disclosures.
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.
Difficulties encountered in performing the audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our
audit.
Uncorrected misstatements
Professional standards require us to accumulate all misstatements identified during the audit, other
than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management.
Management did not identify and we did not notify them of any uncorrected financial statement
misstatements.
Corrected misstatements
None of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management
were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole.
Disagreements with management
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial
statements or the auditors’ report. No such disagreements arose during our audit.
Management representations
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated October 16, 2014.
Management consultations with other independent accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation
involves application of an accounting principle to the League’s financial statements or a determination
of the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards
require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant
facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants.
Significant issues discussed with management prior to engagement
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and
auditing standards, with management each year prior to engagement as the League’s auditors.
However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our
responses were not a condition to our engagement.

Board of Directors
League of Arizona Cities and Towns
Page 3

Other information in documents containing audited financial statements
With respect to the required supplementary information (RSI) accompanying the financial statements,
we made certain inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the RSI, including whether
the RSI has been measured and presented in accordance with prescribed guidelines, whether the
methods of measurement and preparation have been changed from the prior period and the reasons
for any such changes, and whether there were any significant assumptions or interpretations underlying
the measurement or presentation of the RSI. We compared the RSI for consistency with management’s
responses to the foregoing inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge obtained
during the audit of the basic financial statements. Because these limited procedures do not provide
sufficient evidence, we did not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.
Our auditors’ opinion, the audited financial statements, and the notes to financial statements should
only be used in their entirety. Inclusion of the audited financial statements in a document you prepare,
such as an annual report, should be done only with our prior approval and review of the document.
* * *
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the board of directors and
management of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns and is not intended to be and should not be
used by anyone other than these specified parties.

a
Phoenix, Arizona
October 16, 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Directors
League of Arizona Cities and Towns
Phoenix, Arizona
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns (League), as
of and for the year ended June 30, 2014, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the League’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the League’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the League’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

An independent member of Nexia International

(1)

Board of Directors
League of Arizona Cities and Towns

Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the major fund, the aggregate remaining
fund information, and the General Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund
Balance – Budget and Actual of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns as of June 30, 2014, and the
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis on pages 3 – 10 be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 16,
2014, on our consideration of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns' internal control over financial
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the result of that testing, and not to
provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
League of Arizona Cities and Towns’ internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

a
Phoenix, Arizona
October 16, 2014

(2)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

We, the League of Arizona Cities and Towns (the League), are pleased to provide an overview of our
financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014. The intended purpose of the Management
Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is to provide an introduction to the basic financial statements and
notes, that provides an objective and easy to read analysis of our financial activities based on currently
known facts, decisions, and conditions, by providing an easily readable summary of operating results
and reasons for changes, which will help to determine if our financial position improved or deteriorated
over the past year. This report addresses current operational activities, the sources, uses, and changes
in resources, adherence to budget, service levels, limitations, and significant economic factors.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
 While the League does not have any governmental authority, it is an instrumentality of the
incorporated cities and towns, created and operated for their benefit. It is governed by elected
city and town officials and its only members are the cities and towns of Arizona. Therefore, the
League reports under Government Accounting Standards based on the composition of the
board.
 The assets of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns exceeded its liabilities at the close of the
most recent fiscal year by $2,149,875 (net position). Of this amount $1,834,693 (unrestricted net
position) may be used to meet the League’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.
 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the League of Arizona Cities and Towns’ governmental
funds reported combined ending fund balances of $1,827,844, an increase of $203,785 in
comparison with the prior year.
 At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was
$1,792,928 or 75 percent of total General Fund expenditures.
 General Fund revenues exceeded budgeted revenues by $43,835 for fiscal year 2014.
Additionally, expenditures fell below the budget by $199,027 in the General Fund.
 General Fund revenues were more than expenditures by $203,785; a positive variance of
$242,862 from the budget.
 The League includes one separate legal entity in its report - The Property Corporation of
Arizona Cities and Towns. Although legally separate, the “component unit” is important because
the League is financially accountable. A description of the component unit is available in Note 1
on page 21. Separate Financial Statements are not available for this entity.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the League’s basic financial
statements. The League’s financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) governmentwide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the basic financial statements.
In addition to the basic financial statements, this report also includes a Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards.
Government-Wide Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of
the League of Arizona Cities and Towns’ finances, in a manner similar to private-sector business.
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The statement of net position presents information on all of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns’
assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases
or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the
League of Arizona Cities and Towns is improving or deteriorating.
The statement of activities presents information showing how the League’s net position changed during
the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal
periods (e.g., uncollected dues or fees and earned but unused vacation leave).
The governmental activities of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns include general government
expenses provided to support Arizona governments. The government-wide financial statements also
include the activity of the Property Corporation, reported as an internal service fund, included as a
blended component unit. The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 11 - 12 of
this report.
Fund Financial Statements
Also presented are the traditional fund financial statements for governmental funds. The fund financial
statements focus on major funds of the League, rather than fund type. A fund is a grouping of related
accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific
activities or objectives. The League of Arizona Cities and Towns, like other state and local
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements. All of the funds of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns can be divided into three
categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.
Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as balances of spendable resources available at
the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term
financing requirements. Since the governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term
spendable resources, while the governmental activities on the government-wide financial statements
have a longer term focus, a reconciliation of the differences between the two is provided with the fund
financial statements. The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 13 - 17
of this report.
Proprietary Funds – The League of Arizona Cities and Towns maintains one type of proprietary fund.
The internal service fund is an accounting device used to account for the activity of the Property
Corporation that owns and operates the League’s office space. Because these services predominantly
benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been included within governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. The basic proprietary fund financial statements
can be found on pages 18 - 20 of this report.
Fiduciary Funds – The League of Arizona Cities and Towns utilizes the fiduciary fund to account for
monies held in an agency capacity for other local governments. The fiduciary fund financial statements
can be found on page 21 of this report.
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements
The notes to the basic financial statements (pages 22 - 31) provide additional information that is
essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial
statements and should be read with the financial statements.
Required Supplementary Information Other Than MD&A
Governments have an option of including the budgetary comparison statements for the General Fund
and major special revenue funds as either part of the fund financial statements within the basic financial
statements, or as required supplementary information after the footnotes. The League has chosen to
present these budgetary statements as part of the basic financial statements.
Government-Wide Financial Analysis
Net Position
Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. Table A-1
reflects the condensed Statement of Net Position of the League at June 30, 2014 showing that assets
exceeded liabilities by $2,149,875. The League does not currently have any enterprise funds that would
otherwise be classified as business-type activities; all funds are considered governmental activities.
Table A-1
Net Position
Governmental Activities

Assets
Current and Other Assets
Capital Assets
Non-Depreciable
Depreciable (Net)
Total Assets
Liabilities
Other Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Due Within One Year
Total Liabilities
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

Percent
Change

2014

2013

$ 2,467,558

$ 2,148,738

51,611
263,571
2,782,740

51,611
269,217
2,469,566

558,427

452,727

23.3

74,438
632,865

73,500
526,227

1.3
20.3

315,182
1,834,693
$ 2,149,875

319,988
1,623,351
$ 1,943,339

14.8 %
(2.1)
12.7

(1.5)
13.0
10.6

Net position consists of two components. The League of Arizona Cities and Towns’ net investment in
capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, furniture, fixtures and equipment), less any related debt used to
acquire those assets that is still outstanding reflects 15% of the League’s total net position. The League
of Arizona Cities and Towns uses these capital assets to provide services to Arizona governments and
its members; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Net investment in capital
assets decreased as a result of the net effect of current year depreciation expense, current year
additions and a reduction in capital lease obligations.
(5)
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The League does not have any restricted net position, other than those invested in capital assets. The
remaining balance, unrestricted net position ($1,834,693) may be used to meet the League’s ongoing
obligations to Arizona governments and its members.
At the end of the current fiscal year, the League of Arizona Cities and Towns is able to report positive
balances in both categories of net position for the League as a whole.
Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities. Table A-2 compares the revenue and expenses for the current and previous
fiscal year.
The program revenues include charges for services and intergovernmental revenues that are clearly
identifiable to an operating function of governmental activities. The League’s revenues are not identified
with any operating function and are therefore reported as general revenues.
Table A-2
Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities
2014
REVENUES
General Revenues:
Affiliate Group Contributions
Annual Conference
Membership Dues
Local Government Directory
Risk Management
Rental Revenue
Seminars and Meetings
Miscellaneous
Investment Income
Total Revenues

$

136,200
385,065
1,818,420
138,899
17,852
27,590
82,772
3,157
2,609,955

2013

$

136,200
396,978
1,818,420
1,365
135,366
22,469
39,150
94,364
4,960
2,649,272

Percent
Change

- %
(3.0)
(100.0)
2.6
(20.5)
(29.5)
(12.3)
(36.4)
(1.5)

EXPENSES
Salaries and Employee Benefits
Annual Conference, Seminars and Travel
Consultant and Professional Services
Executive Committee
Insurance
Membership Dues and Subscriptions
Office Supplies, Printing and Rentals
Postage and Shipping
Rent, Utilities and Communication
Maintenance Services and Agreements
Interest
Depreciation
Total Expenses
CHANGE IN NET Position
Net Position - Beginning of Year
NET Position - END OF YEAR

$
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1,622,590
275,163
211,163
10,187
10,116
54,840
69,529
3,485
65,126
55,414
37
25,769
2,403,419

1,625,765
287,216
242,102
11,680
12,374
54,061
71,294
3,644
73,693
68,762
251
29,131
2,479,973

206,536

169,299

22.0

1,774,040
1,943,339

9.5
10.6

1,943,339
2,149,875

$

(0.2)
(4.2)
(12.8)
(12.8)
(18.2)
1.4
(2.5)
(4.4)
(11.6)
(19.4)
(85.3)
(11.5)
(3.1)

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Revenues decreased $39,317. The major decrease in revenues included an $11,913 decrease in
annual conference revenue, $11,560 decrease in seminars and meetings revenue, and an $11,592
decrease in miscellaneous revenues.
The decrease in annual conference revenues is attributed to the usual variables that affect each annual
conference. These variables include registration fees and sponsorships. Every year is different based
on the location of the conference as well as the economy at the time. Typically conferences held in the
Valley have a higher attendance rate than those outside of the Valley. The FY14 conference was held
in Oro Valley and therefore resulted in fewer attendees which resulted in a decrease in registration
fees. Sponsorship revenue is highly unpredictable from year to year
The decrease in revenues from seminars and meetings was primarily due to hosting fewer fee-based
trainings in FY13-14. Instead, the League hosted several webinar trainings which did not have
registration fees
The decrease in miscellaneous revenue was due to distributions received from the Lehman Brothers
and NCFE bankruptcy cases in the prior year that was not reflected in the current year.
Expenses decreased $76,554. The major decreases in expenses included a $12,053 decrease in
annual conferences, seminars and travel, a $30,939 decrease in consultants and professional services,
an $8,567 decrease in rent, utilities and communication, and a $13,348 decrease in maintenance
services and agreements.
The 4.2% decrease in annual conferences, seminars and travel is attributed to the difference in facility
costs at the Hilton El Conquistador in comparison to the costs of the previous year’s annual conference
host hotel, fewer on-site trainings and seminars and less travel. The annual conference, seminars and
travel budget categories are unpredictable and vary from year to year.
The 12.8% decrease in consultant and professional services is due to the reduction of contract work for
the AZ Cities Work campaign which is now in a maintenance phase. The campaign was launched in the
previous fiscal year and required extensive contract work.
The 11.6% decrease in rent, utilities and communication is due to a reduction in operating expenses.
The League qualified for an exemption under ARS 42-6004(A)(11) and Phoenix Model City Tax Code
14-445(s). As of July 1, 2013, the League was no longer required to file and pay transaction privilege
tax to the City of Phoenix on rental income.
The 19.4% decrease in maintenance services and agreements is due to a reduction in funds available
for capital and maintenance to capital. This balance varies from year to year based on need. This year
the League did not need to upgrade or replace much computer and network equipment.
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE LEAGUE’S FUNDS
The focus of the League’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows,
and balances of resources that are available for spending. Such information is useful in assessing the
League’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful
measure of the League’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. The League
only reports one governmental fund - the General Fund. The General Fund is the chief operating fund
of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns.
(7)
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As of the end of the current fiscal year, the League’s General Fund reported an ending fund balance of
$1,827,844, an increase of $203,785 in comparison with the prior year. As a measure of the General
Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare the General Fund fund balance and total fund
expenditures. The General Fund unassigned fund balance represents 75 percent of total General Fund
expenditures.
During the current fiscal year, major variances in revenue from the previous fiscal year included an
$11,913 decrease in annual conference revenues, an $11,560 decrease in seminars and meetings and
an $11,592 decrease in miscellaneous revenues.
The decrease in annual conference revenues is attributed to the usual variables that affect each annual
conference. These variables include registration fees and sponsorships. Every year is different based
on the location of the conference as well as the economy at the time. Typically conferences held in the
Valley have a higher attendance rate than those outside of the Valley. The FY14 conference was held
in Oro Valley and therefore resulted in fewer attendees which resulted in a decrease in registration
fees. Sponsorship revenue is unpredictable from year to year as well.
The decrease in revenues from seminars and meetings was primarily due to hosting fewer fee-based
trainings in FY13-14. Seminars and meetings vary from year to year based on issues and the training
needs of members.
The decrease in miscellaneous revenue was due to distributions received from the Lehman Brothers
and NCFE bankruptcy cases in the prior year that was not reflected in the current year.
In addition to the increases and decreases in revenues, the League reported a decrease in General
Fund expenditures of $68,649. The decrease in expenditures was the result of conservative spending
and the lack of need to spend. Many of the League’s expenditure line items vary from year to year
based on need.

BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS
The League’s annual budget is the legally adopted expenditure control document of the League.
Budgetary comparison statements are required for the General Fund and all major special revenue
funds and may be found on page 16. This statement compares the original adopted budget, the budget
if amended throughout the fiscal year, and the actual expenditures prepared on a budgetary basis. The
League did not amend its budget during the fiscal year.
General Fund revenues of $2,588,358 exceeded budgeted revenues of $2,544,523 by $43,835 and
expenditures of $2,384,573 fell below budgeted expenditures by $199,027.
The excess of revenues over budget was largely due to $35,065 excess revenues over budget for
annual conference fees and $24,596 excess revenues over budget for miscellaneous revenues, offset
by a $22,410 short-fall in revenues as compared to budget for seminars and meetings. The excess of
revenues over budget was due to the unpredictable nature of these budget categories
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Major budget variances during the current fiscal year included salaries and benefits falling below
budget by $79,188, annual conference, seminars and travel falling below budget by $19,837, consultant
and professional services falling below budget by $69,037, and capital outlay falling below budget by
$13,696. Salaries and benefits fell below budget due to staffing changes and unfilled positions. Annual
conference, seminars and travel fell below budget due to lower hotel costs for the annual conference,
fewer seminars and less travel needs.
Consultant and professional services fell below budget largely due to fewer legal service needs.
Capital outlay was below budget due to careful spending and lack of needs to upgrade or replace
existing equipment.
CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
The League’s capital assets for its governmental activities as of June 30, 2014 amount to $315,182 (net
of accumulated depreciation), a decrease of 2%. For government-wide financial statement
presentation, all depreciable capital assets were depreciated from acquisition date to the end of the
current fiscal year. Governmental fund financial statements record capital asset purchases as
expenditures, whereas the proprietary fund financial statements record capital asset purchases as
assets. See Note 3.A. in the Notes to the Financial Statements for further information regarding capital
assets.
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:
 A new roof for $9,265 and an HVAC system for $10,858.
Table A-3 provides a breakdown of the capital assets of the League at June 30, 2014 and 2013.
Table A-3
Capital Assets (Net)

Land
Buildings and Building Improvements
Equipment and Furniture

$

Total Capital Assets

$

Governmental Activities
2014
2013
51,611
$
51,611
251,155
245,489
12,416
23,728
315,182

$

320,828

The League did not have any outstanding bonded indebtedness.
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES
The 2015 budget was constructed with minimal increases to overall expected revenues and expenses.
Spending will remain conservative.
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REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the League’s finances for all of those
with an interest in the League’s finances and to demonstrate accountability for the use of those funds.
Questions about any of the information provided in this report, or requests for additional financial
information should be addressed to:
League of Arizona Cities and Towns
1820 West Washington Street
Phoenix, AZ 85007
Or visit our website at:
http://www.azleague.org
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LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2014

Governmental
Activities
ASSETS
Cash and Investments
Receivables:
Accounts Receivable, Net
Prepaid Items

$

2,408,247
20,040
39,271

Capital Assets:
Non-Depreciable
Depreciable Assets
Total Assets

51,611
263,571
2,782,740

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable
Unearned Revenue

39,768
518,659

Long-Term Liabilities:
Due Within One Year
Total Liabilities

74,438
632,865

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

$

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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315,182
1,834,693
2,149,875

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Functions/Programs
Governmental Activities:
General Government:
Expenses:
Salaries and Employee Benefits
Annual Conference, Seminars and Travel
Consultant and Professional Services
Executive Committee
Insurance
Membership Dues and Subscriptions
Office Supplies, Printing and Rentals
Postage and Shipping
Rent, Utilities and Communication
Maintenance Services and Agreements
Interest
Depreciation
Total Expenses

$

General Revenues:
Affiliate Group Contributions
Annual Conference
Membership Dues
Risk Management
Rental Revenue
Seminars and Meetings
Miscellaneous
Investment Income
Total General Revenues

1,622,590
275,163
211,163
10,187
10,116
54,840
69,529
3,485
65,126
55,414
37
25,769
2,403,419

136,200
385,065
1,818,420
138,899
17,852
27,590
82,772
3,157
2,609,955

Change in Net Position

206,536

Net Position Beginning of Year

1,943,339

Net Position End of Year

$

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
(12)

2,149,875

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2014

General
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and Investments
Receivables:
Accounts Receivable
Prepaid Items
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities:
Accounts Payable
Unearned Revenue
Total Liabilities

$

2,325,174

$

16,834
34,916
2,376,924

$

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable for Prepaid Items
Unassigned
Total Fund Balance
Total Liabilities and Balance

$

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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38,424
510,656
549,080

34,916
1,792,928
1,827,844
2,376,924

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET
OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO
THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2014

Total Fund Balances for Governmental Funds

$

1,827,844

Total net position reported for governmental activities in the statement
of net position is different because:
Capital assets used in governmental funds are not financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds. Those
assets consist of:
Governmental Capital Assets
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Capital Assets used in Governmental Activities

$

140,170
(127,807)
12,363

Long-term liabilities, including compensated absences, are not due and
payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the
governmental funds.
Compensated Absence Payable
Total Long-Term Liabilities

(74,438)
(74,438)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of
certain activities to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the
internal service fund are included in governmental activities in the
Statement of Net Position
Total Net Position of Governmental Activities

384,106
$

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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2,149,875

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

General
Fund
Revenues:
Affiliate Group Contributions
Annual Conference
Membership Dues
Risk Management
Seminars and Meetings
Miscellaneous
Investment Income
Total Revenues

$

Expenditures:
Current:
Salaries and Employee Benefits
Annual Conference, Seminars and Travel
Consultant and Professional Services
Executive Committee
Insurance
Membership Dues and Subscriptions
Office Supplies, Printing and Rentals
Postage and Shipping
Rent, Utilities and Communication
Debt Service:
Principal
Interest
Capital Outlay
Total Expenditures

136,200
385,065
1,818,420
138,899
27,590
79,096
3,088
2,588,358

1,620,812
275,163
204,963
10,187
6,358
54,840
69,529
3,485
132,055
840
37
6,304
2,384,573

Excess of Revenues Over/(Under) Expenditures

203,785

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year
Fund Balance, End of Year

$

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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1,624,059
1,827,844

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Net Change in Fund Balances-Total Governmental Funds

$

203,785

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
activities are different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However,
in the statement of activities, assets are capitalized and the cost is
allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as
depreciation expense. This is the amount by which depreciation
exceeded capital outlays in the current period.
Depreciation Expense
Net Change in Capital Assets

(10,682)
(10,681)

The governmental funds report the issuance of long-term debt as
financing sources, while repayment of long-term debt is reported as
an expenditure. In the governmental funds; however, issuing debt
increases long-term liabilities and does not affect the statement of
activities and repayment of principal reduces the liability. The net
effect of these differences in the treatment of capital leases is as
follows:
Payment of Capital Lease Principal

840

Compensated absences do not require the use of current financial
resources in the governmental funds and are therefore not reported
as expenditures in the governmental funds; however, the net change
in compensated absences is reported as a net increase or decrease
in the government-wide financial statements.

(1,778)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge rent for the
use of the facility owned by the property coporation. The net revenue
of the Internal Service Funds is reported with governmental activities.
Change in Net Assets of Governmental Activities

14,370
$

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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206,536

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Original and
Final
Budget
Revenues:
Affiliate Group Contributions
Annual Conference
Membership Dues
Risk Management
Seminars and Meetings
Miscellaneous
Investment Income
Total Revenues

$

Expenditures:
Current:
Salaries and Employee Benefits
Annual Conference, Seminars and Travel
Consultant and Professional Services
Executive Committee
Insurance
Membership Dues and Subscriptions
Office Supplies, Printing and Rentals
Postage and Shipping
Rent, Utilities and Communication
Contingency
Debt Service:
Principal
Interest
Capital Outlay
Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over/(Under) Expenditures
Fund Balance, Beginning of Year
Fund Balance, End of Year

131,200
350,000
1,818,423
135,400
50,000
54,500
5,000
2,544,523

Actual
$

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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$

5,000
35,065
(3)
3,499
(22,410)
24,596
(1,912)
43,835

1,700,000
295,000
274,000
12,000
7,600
52,000
72,000
4,000
137,000
10,000

1,620,812
275,163
204,963
10,187
6,358
54,840
69,529
3,485
132,055
-

79,188
19,837
69,037
1,813
1,242
(2,840)
2,471
515
4,945
10,000

20,000
2,583,600

840
37
6,304
2,384,573

(840)
(37)
13,696
199,027

(39,077)

$

136,200
385,065
1,818,420
138,899
27,590
79,096
3,088
2,588,358

Variance

1,675,275
1,636,198

203,785

$

1,624,059
1,827,844

242,862

$

(51,216)
(206,408)

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2014

Governmental
Activities Internal
Service Fund
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables, Net:
Accounts Receivable
Prepaid Items
Total Current Assets

$

83,073
3,206
4,355
90,634

Noncurrent Assets:
Capital Assets:
Non-Depreciable
Depreciable (Net)
Total Assets

51,611
251,208
393,453

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable
Unearned Revenue
Total Liabilities

1,344
8,003
9,347

NET POSITION
Investment in Capital Assets
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

$

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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302,819
81,287
384,106

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Governmental
Activities Internal
Service Fund
Operating Revenues:
Rental Revenue
Miscellaneous
Total Operating Revenues

$

Operating Expenses:
Utilities
Repairs and Maintenance Services and Agreements
Accounting and Auditing
Insurance
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses

122,852
3,676
126,528

38,071
49,110
6,200
3,758
15,088
112,227

Operating Income

14,301

Nonoperating Revenues:
Investment Income

69

Change in Net Position

14,370

Net Position Beginning of Year
Net Position End of Year

$

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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369,736
384,106

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Governmental
Activities Internal Service
Funds
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from Customers
Payments to Suppliers
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

$

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of Capital Assets

130,323
(101,577)
28,746

(20,123)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment Income

69

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

8,692

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year

74,381

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR

$

83,073

$

14,301

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET CASH PROVIDED
BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Income
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET CASH
PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Depreciation Expense
Change in Assets/Liabilities:
Receivables
Prepaid Items
Accounts Payable
Unearned Revenue
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities

15,088

$

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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(514)
(113)
(4,325)
4,309
28,746

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
FIDUCIARY FUND – AGENCY FUND
JUNE 30, 2014

Agency
Funds
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents

$

192,608

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Due to Other Governments

$

192,608

See accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2014

NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accompanying financial statements of the League of Arizona Cities and Towns (the
League) have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America applicable to governmental units adopted by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). A summary of the League’s more
significant accounting policies follows.
A. Reporting Entity
The League of Arizona Cities and Towns was established in 1937, and is a voluntary
association of all the incorporated cities and towns in Arizona. The League is comprised
of 90 members and provides legislative framework for municipal needs and concerns
and is a technical assistance resource for all of the incorporated communities in
Arizona. League policy is established by all members at the annual meeting and policy
direction is provided during the year by a 25 member Executive Committee composed
of elected officials from cities and towns around the state.
The accompanying financial statements present the League and its component unit
entity for which the League is considered to be financially accountable. Blended
component units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the
League’s operations.
Included within the reporting entity:
The Property Corporation of Arizona Cities and Towns is a not-for-profit corporation
which was incorporated in 1970 as a 501(c)(4) by the incorporated cities and towns in
the State of Arizona to construct and operate the office space for the League and other
governmental units. The Corporation’s officers and board of directors consist of officers
and members of the Executive Committee for the League. The operations of the
Property Corporation of Arizona Cities and Towns are reported as an internal service
fund because the Property Corporation largely charges rent to the League and other
governmental entities. The activity is included in the governmental activities on the
League’s financial statements and is reported as a blended component unit because
the Corporation provides a financial benefit almost exclusively to the League of Arizona
Cities and Towns. Separate financial statements are not prepared for the Property
Corporation of Arizona Cities and Towns.
B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the
statement of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the
primary government and its component units. The effect of interfund activity has been
removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which are normally supported
by intergovernmental revenues are reported separately from business-type activities,
which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. The League did not
have any business-type activities.
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NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements (Continued)
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a
given function or segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those
that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues
include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit
from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2)
grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital
requirements of a particular function or segment. Internally dedicated resources such as
intergovernmental, membership dues, fees and other items are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues. All revenues of the League are considered
to be general revenues.
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary
funds. Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the
fund financial statements.
C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation
The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Significant revenues susceptible
to accrual include dues, seminars and meetings, risk management, annual conference
and investment income and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal
period. Monies received in advance of the revenue recognition criteria are reported as
unearned revenues. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and
available only when cash is received by the League.
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues
are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are
considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon
enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the League
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the
current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as
under accrual accounting, except expenditures related to compensated absences which
are recorded only when payment is due.
The League reports the following major governmental funds:
Major Governmental Funds
General Fund – the General Fund is the League’s primary operating fund. It accounts
for all financial resources of the League, except those required to be accounted for in
another fund.
(23)
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NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2014

NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation
(Continued)
Additionally, the League reports the following fund type:
Internal Service Fund – the Internal Service Fund accounts for the Property
Corporation’s financing of operating and maintaining office space provided to the
League and other governmental entities.
Fiduciary Fund – the Fiduciary Fund is used to account for funds held by the League
in a fiduciary capacity. The League reports two agency funds to account for
conference fees received on-behalf of other governments.
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the
government-wide financial statements.
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating
items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and
producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing
operations. The principal operating revenues of the internal service fund are rental
income charged to the League and other governmental entities. Operating expenses for
the internal service fund include the cost of maintaining the facilities and utilities. All
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating
revenues and expenses.
When restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned resources are available for use,
for governmental activities it is the League’s policy to use restricted resources first, then
committed, assigned and unassigned resources as they are needed.
D. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity
1. Deposits and Investments
The League’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand,
demand deposits, cash and investments held by the State Treasurer, and highly
liquid investments with maturities of three months or less from the date of
acquisition.
State statutes authorize the League to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and
U.S. agencies, certificates of deposit in eligible depositories, repurchase
agreements, obligations of the State of Arizona or any of its counties or incorporated
cities, towns or duly organized school districts, improvement districts in this state
and the State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool. Investments are
stated at fair value.
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NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
D. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity (Continued)
2. Receivables
All receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles.
3. Prepaid Items
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods
and are recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial
statements.
4. Capital Assets
Capital assets, which include land, buildings and improvements, and furniture,
fixtures and equipment are reported in the governmental activities column in the
government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the League as
assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $750 and an estimated useful life
in excess of one year.
Capital assets purchased or acquired are carried at historical cost or estimated
historical cost. Contributed assets are recorded at fair market value as of the date
received. Additions, improvements and other capital outlays that significantly extend
the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Other costs incurred for repairs and
maintenance are expensed as incurred.
Depreciation on all assets is provided on a straight-line basis over the following
estimated useful lives:
Buildings and Improvements
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

10-40 Years
3-10 Years

5. Compensated Absences
The liability for compensated absences reported in the government-wide statements
consists of unpaid, accumulated leave balances. The liability has been calculated
using the vesting method, in which leave amounts for both employees who currently
are eligible to receive termination payments and other employees who are expected
to become eligible in the future to receive such payments upon termination are
included.
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NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
D. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity (Continued)
6. Net Position
In the government-wide financial statements, net position is reported in three
categories: net investment in capital assets; restricted net position; and unrestricted
net position. Net investment capital assets is separately reported because the
League reports all of the League assets which make up a significant portion of total
net position. Restricted net position accounts for the portion of net position restricted
by parties outside the League. Unrestricted net position is the remaining net position
not included in the previous two categories. The League reported no restricted net
position.
7. Fund Equity
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report non-spendable fund
balance for amounts that are not available for appropriation. The League has not
adopted a fund balance policy defining restricted, committed, assigned and
unassigned fund balances. The League therefore, does not define the terms under
which committed fund balances become committed or are released from such a
commitment. In addition, the Board has not designated an individual or group of
individuals the authority to assign fund balances. The League did not report any
restricted, committed or assigned fund balances.

NOTE 2

STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY
A. Budgetary Information
The League’s budget policy provides that the Executive Committee adopt and approve
an annual budget. The budget for the General Fund is prepared on the modified accrual
basis of accounting.
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NOTE 3

DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS
A. Assets
1. Deposits and Investments
Deposits and investments at June 30, 2014 consist of the following:
Deposits:
Cash on Hand
Cash in Bank
Investments:
State Treasurer's Investment Pool
Total Cash and Investments
Less: Fiduciary Fund
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

$

$

100
465,655
2,135,100
2,600,855
(192,608)
2,408,247

Deposits
At June 30, 2014, the carrying amount of the League’s deposits was $465,655 and
the bank balance was $499,884. Of the bank balance, $250,000 was insured by
federal depository insurance and $249,884 was uninsured and uncollateralized.
Investments
The League’s investments consist of only funds invested with the Local Government
Investment Pool.
Interest Rate Risk – The League does not have an investment policy that addresses
interest rate risk; however, the League manages its exposure to declines in fair
values by limiting its investments to the Local Government Investment Pool which
has a weighted average maturity of 40 days.
Credit Risk – The State Board of Deposit provides oversight for the State
Treasurer’s pools, and the Local Government Investment Pool Advisory Committee
provides consultation and advice to the Treasurer. The fair value of a participant’s
position in the pool approximates the value of that participant’s pool shares. The
shares are not identified with specific investments and are not subject to custodial
credit risk. The LGIP maintains a rating of AA+ from Standard & Poor’s.
Custodial Credit Risk – For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the
failure of the counterparty, the League will not be able to recover the value of its
investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.
The League currently does not have a policy with regard to custodial credit risk.
However, the League’s investments consist only of funds deposited with the Local
Government Investment Pool which is overseen by the State Board of Deposits.
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NOTE 3

DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (CONTINUED)
A. Assets (Continued)
2. Capital Assets
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2014 was as follows:
Beginning
Balance
Governmental Activities:
Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated:
Land
Capital Assets, Being Depreciated:
Buildings and Building Improvements
Equipment and Furniture
Total Capital Assets, Being
Depreciated
Accumulated Depreciation for:
Buildings and Building Improvements
Equipment and Furniture
Total Accumulated Depreciation
Total Capital Assets, Being
Depreciated, Net
Governmental Activities Capital
Assets, Net

$

51,611

Increases

$

-

Ending
Balance

Decreases

$

-

$

51,611

704,480
176,410

20,123
-

-

724,603
176,410

880,890

20,123

-

901,013

(458,991)
(152,682)
(611,673)

(14,457)
(11,312)
(25,769)

-

(473,448)
(163,994)
(637,442)

269,217

(5,646)

-

263,571

-

$ 315,182

$ 320,828

$

(5,646)

$

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs as follows:
Governmental Activities:
General Government
Internal Service Fund
Total Depreciation Expense,
Governmental Activities

$

10,681
15,088

$

25,769

B. Unearned Revenue
Resources received are recognized as unearned revenue to the extent that the
earnings process has not been completed. These resources are recorded as revenue
when the related obligations have been satisfied. As of June 30, 2014, The League
reported $510,656 of unearned revenue in the governmental funds and $518,659 of
unearned revenues in the governmental activities. Unearned revenue was largely
composed of summer conference registration fees, sponsorship revenues and
membership dues.

(28)

LEAGUE OF ARIZONA CITIES AND TOWNS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2014

NOTE 3

DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (CONTINUED)
C. Obligations under Leases
Operating Lease
The League leases copiers and other equipment under the provisions of long-term
lease agreements classified as operating leases. Rental expenditures under the terms
of the operating leases totaled $7,923 for the year ended June 30, 2014.
The future minimum lease payments for these leases are as follows:
Year Ending June 30,
2015
2016
Total

7,923
6,583
14,506

$

Capital Lease
The Organization had acquired a copier under the provisions of a long-term lease
agreement classified as a capital lease for accounting purposes because the lease
provided for a bargain purchase option or a transfer of ownership by the end of the
lease term. Accordingly, the asset totaling $6,169, at June 30, 2014, is capitalized.
The following table summarizes the asset and the accumulated depreciation:
Equipment
Accumulated Depreciation
Total

$

6,169
(6,169)
-

$

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, the League made the final principal and
interest payments due on the outstanding lease.
D. Long-term Debt
The capital lease and compensated absences are paid entirely by the General Fund of
the League. Changes in long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2014 are as
follows:
Beginning
of Year
Governmental Activities:
Capital Leases
Compensated Absences
Total Governmental
Activities

Additions

End of
Year

Retirements

Due within
One Year

$

840
72,660

$

101,355

$

(840)
(99,577)

$

74,438

$

74,438

$

73,500

$

101,355

$

(100,417)

$

74,438

$

74,438
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NOTE 4

OTHER INFORMATION
A. Risk management
The League of Arizona Cities and Towns is exposed to various risks of loss related to
torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural
disasters.
The League carries commercial insurance for all risks of loss, including workers’
compensation and employee health and accident insurance. Settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage during any of the
past three fiscal years and no significant reduction in insurance coverage during the last
fiscal year.
B. Commitments
On December 31, 2012, the League signed a commitment with a hotel for the 2014
Annual Conference. At June 30, 2014, the League is liable for $90,000 if the League
cancels the agreement.
On December 31, 2013, the League signed a commitment with a hotel for the 2015
Annual Conference. At June 30, 2014, the League is liable for $47,171 if the League
cancels the agreement.
C. Economic Dependence
The League receives 70% of its revenues from membership dues and 15% from its
annual conference. The League’s operations depend on continued support from these
funding sources.
D. Retirement plans
Arizona State Retirement System
Plan Description
The League contributes to a cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension
plan administered by the Arizona State Retirement System. Benefits are established by
state statute and generally provide retirement, death, long-term disability, survivor, and
health insurance premium benefits. The System is governed by the Arizona State
Retirement System Board according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5,
Article 2.
The System issues a comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information. The most recent report may be
obtained by writing the System, 3300 North Central Avenue, P.O. Box 33910, Phoenix,
AZ 85067-3910 or by calling (602) 240-2001 or (800) 621-3778.
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NOTE 4

OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Arizona State Retirement System (Continued)
Funding Policy
The Arizona State Legislature establishes and may amend active plan members’ and
the League’s contribution rate. For the year ended June 30, 2014, active plan members
and the League were each required by statute to contribute at the actuarially
determined rate of 11.54 percent (10.65 percent retirement, 0.65 percent for health
insurance premium, and 0.24 percent long-term disability) of the members’ annual
covered payroll. The League’s contributions to the System for the years ended June 30,
2014 and prior two fiscal years were equal to the required contribution and are as
follows:

Retirement
Fund

Year Ended June 30,
2014
2013
2012

$
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113,622
112,165
110,982

Health Benefit
Supplement
Fund
$

6,935
7,113
7,084

Long-Term
Disability
Fund
$

2,560
2,626
2,699

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS REPORT

THIS PAGE BLANK

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON
AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Directors
League of Arizona Cities and Towns
Phoenix, Arizona
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the League of Arizona
Cities and Towns (League), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2014, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the League’s basic financial statements, and have
issued our report thereon dated October 16, 2014.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the League of Arizona
Cities and Towns' internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
League’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the
League’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the League’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

An independent member of Nexia International
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Board of Directors
League of Arizona Cities and Towns

Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the League of Arizona Cities and Towns'
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
League’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the League’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

a
Phoenix, Arizona
October 16, 2014
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Additional Informational Materials
Not Part of the Agenda:

League Budget Report
Property Corporation Budget Report
ARTICLE: Legislature, butt out of cities’ business
ARTICLE: City projects scrapped across Arizona after law change

League of Arizona Cities & Towns
FY 2014-2015 Budget vs. Actual
July through September 2014
Jul - Sep 14
Ordinary Income/Expense
Income
4057 · Valley Schools Health Pool
4000 · Affiliate Group Contribution
4005 · Annual Conference
4010 · Dues
4012 · Executive Recruitment Income
4020 · Miscellaneous
4030 · Risk Pool
4035 · Seminars & Meetings
4040 · Interest Income
4055 · US Communities Purchasing Prog
Total Income
Expense
5005 · Annual Conference (Expense)
5010 · Benefits
5015 · Capital Outlay
5025 · Contingency
5030 · Equipment Rental & Maintenance
5035 · Executive Committee
5043 · Executive Recruitment
5050 · Insurance
5055 · Postage & Shipping
5057 · PR & Communications
5060 · Printing
5065 · Professional Services
5065-1 · Accounting Services
5065-3 · Legal Services
5065-2 · Contract Lobbying & Consulti...
Total 5065 · Professional Services
5070 · Rent
5071 · Salaries
5075 · Seminars and Meetings
5085 · Subscriptions & Dues
5090 · Supplies
5095 · Telecommunications
5100 · Travel
Total Expense
Net Ordinary Income
Net Income

Budget

$ Over Budget

% of Budget

0.00
21,908.36
554,884.90
1,560,547.00
0.00
1,845.00
70,038.47
2,365.84
663.29
0.00

25,000.00
136,200.00
350,000.00
1,818,423.00
6,000.00
14,000.00
138,898.00
50,000.00
5,000.00
13,000.00

-25,000.00
-114,291.64
204,884.90
-257,876.00
-6,000.00
-12,155.00
-68,859.53
-47,634.16
-4,336.71
-13,000.00

0.0%
16.1%
158.5%
85.8%
0.0%
13.2%
50.4%
4.7%
13.3%
0.0%

2,212,252.86

2,556,521.00

-344,268.14

86.5%

276,323.56
142,580.81
0.00
0.00
2,992.28
0.00
0.00
1,909.88
3,107.54
1,500.00
961.70

220,000.00
525,000.00
20,000.00
10,000.00
25,000.00
12,000.00
3,000.00
7,600.00
4,000.00
110,000.00
10,000.00

56,323.56
-382,419.19
-20,000.00
-10,000.00
-22,007.72
-12,000.00
-3,000.00
-5,690.12
-892.46
-108,500.00
-9,038.30

125.6%
27.2%
0.0%
0.0%
12.0%
0.0%
0.0%
25.1%
77.7%
1.4%
9.6%

5,484.65
5,942.08
3,799.98

42,000.00
40,000.00
80,000.00

-36,515.35
-34,057.92
-76,200.02

13.1%
14.9%
4.7%

15,226.71

162,000.00

-146,773.29

9.4%

26,250.00
296,668.38
150.75
33,104.53
8,948.34
9,326.60
3,991.47

105,000.00
1,255,000.00
50,000.00
55,000.00
35,000.00
32,000.00
26,000.00

-78,750.00
-958,331.62
-49,849.25
-21,895.47
-26,051.66
-22,673.40
-22,008.53

25.0%
23.6%
0.3%
60.2%
25.6%
29.1%
15.4%

823,042.55

2,666,600.00

-1,843,557.45

30.9%

1,389,210.31

-110,079.00

1,499,289.31

-1,262.0%

1,389,210.31

-110,079.00

1,499,289.31

-1,262.0%

Property Corporation

FY 2014-2015 Budget vs. Actual
July through September 2014
Jul - Sep 14
Ordinary Income/Expense
Income
4000 · Rental Income
4005 · Miscellaneous
4010 · Interest
Total Income
Expense
5000 · Maintenance Services/Agreements
5015 · Utilities
5020 · Repairs and Maintenance
5025 · Operating Expenses
5030 · Accounting and Auditing
5035 · Insurance
5040 · Capital Outlay
Total Expense
Net Ordinary Income
Net Income

Budget

$ Over Budget

% of Budget

37,330.80
0.00
14.27

119,400.00
3,100.00
50.00

-82,069.20
-3,100.00
-35.73

31.3%
0.0%
28.5%

37,345.07

122,550.00

-85,204.93

30.5%

9,827.44
9,561.75
1,093.47
970.37
700.00
1,259.87
2,697.06

32,000.00
36,000.00
12,000.00
5,000.00
6,450.00
4,900.00
25,000.00

-22,172.56
-26,438.25
-10,906.53
-4,029.63
-5,750.00
-3,640.13
-22,302.94

30.7%
26.6%
9.1%
19.4%
10.9%
25.7%
10.8%

26,109.96

121,350.00

-95,240.04

21.5%

11,235.11

1,200.00

10,035.11

936.3%

11,235.11

1,200.00

10,035.11

936.3%

Legislature, butt out of cities' business
Editorial board, The Republic | azcentral.com

7:33 a.m. MST August 25, 2014

Our View: Court gets ruling right, but cities on their own should
ponder what the best dates for elections are.
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Give the Legislature this: It had a strong argument
when it moved municipal elections to summers and
falls of even-numbered years. Voter turnout would
rise.
There was just one problem. This isn't the
Legislature's call, particularly when it comes to
charter cities. What's the point of adopting home
(Photo: Carlos Chavez/The
Republic)

rule if any decision can be overruled by state
lawmakers?
That's essentially the reasoning behind an Arizona

Court of Appeals ruling striking down the law, particularly as it applies to Phoenix and
Tucson. The court agreed with a Pima County Superior Court judge who ruled that
charter city authority supersedes state law in setting municipal-election dates.
It's not the first time a court has told the Legislature to butt out of cities' business.
Sadly, it's unlikely to be the last time. Lawmakers, whose hands should be full
addressing the challenges facing the state, too often see themselves as some sort of
a super City Council.
They're not. City governments are their own entity, best equipped to respond to the
unique needs of their residents. Legislators, particularly conservative ones, should
remember that.
But cities ought to acknowledge that the lawmakers had a point. Cities that moved
from a March-May to an August-November election schedule saw drastic increases in
voter participation. More residents decided whom they wanted as representatives.
Off-cycle city elections tend to be low-turnout affairs dominated by activists and
employee union groups, which can lead to city councils more beholden to those
groups than to the best interests of the community.
There's a good discussion to be had: Is it worse to risk having a municipal election
overwhelmed by state and national campaigns or to let a small number of people
decide a city's direction?
But it's a discussion that should take place in city halls and community forums, not at
the Capitol.

City projects scrapped across Arizona after law change
SOME OF THE BIGGEST PARKS AND LIBRARIES IN METRO PHOENIX
Legislation was implemented in August that changed the way cities collect and use development-impact fees, in part limiting the sizes of parks and buildings that can
be built with the money. Now, the fees can be used to fund no more than 10,000 square feet of a new library and 30 acres of a new park.
In contrast, here are some of metro Phoenix's largest parks and libraries. (Note: fees were not used to build most of these.)

Kaila White - The Republic

Kaila White, The Republic | azcentral.com

11:17 a.m. MST October 2, 2014

A new library in Glendale; expansion of a water-treatment plant in Scottsdale; Avondale's trail system and a
fire-training facility in Gilbert. All have become victims of recent changes in state funding laws.
Across the Valley, big plans for new city projects — some going back more than a decade — are being
shelved and stripped out of budgets as officials lose money they had earmarked to pay for them.
(Photo: Mike Rynearson/The
Republic)

Glendale has stopped any progress on a new municipal court.

Legislation that passed in 2011, and which went into full effect in August, changed the way cities collect what are known as development-impact fees
from builders and developers and redefined what they can build with that money.
The Legislature passed the law at the urging of the homebuilding industry, which argued that passing the fees on to homebuyers was unfair and a drag
on their business, particularly during the Great Recession. Cities opposed the changes.
Now, many cities' officials are grappling with how to find funding for new parks, libraries and more without the fees they've used for decades.
Development had already slowed because of the economic downturn, which limited cities' ability to issue bonds and reduced property-tax revenue,
another common source of funding for city projects. The changes to the fees were a double whammy, and many cities have even less money and more
restrictions for new projects.
"Timing couldn't be worse," said George Flores, Buckeye's development-services director. "There's a lot of unforeseen issues down the road."
Impact fees are a one-time charge that developers pay to municipalities on new single-family homes, apartments and other construction. They are
intended to pay for the new roads, water lines and other infrastructure near the development, so existing residents don't have to.
The legislation required complicated changes to the fees and redefined "necessary public services" that could be funded with the money. Fees for
sanitation, landfill, general government, arts and culture and administrative buildings were eliminated by January 2012.
The biggest changes, many city officials say, are limits on the sizes of parks and buildings. The fees can be used to fund no more than 10,000 square
feet of a new library, 3,000 square feet of a new community center and 30 acres of a new park. In addition, projects funded by the fees must be
completed within 10 years, except for water infrastructure, which can take 15 years.

Parks, libraries take a hit
Those limitations have hit parks, libraries and trails especially hard.
The money can't be spent for auditoriums, arenas, arts and cultural facilities, aquariums, clubhouses, environmental education, golf courses,
museums, zoos and more, though swimming pools are allowed. Library fees cannot be used to buy books, furniture or equipment.
"If you think about a community center at 3,000 square feet, that's the size of a large house," said Dawn Buckland, Gilbert's management and budget
director. A 10,000-square-foot library would be about two basketball courts, and a 30-acre park would be slightly larger than the Amazon warehouse in
southwest Phoenix.

The limitations are a big problem for Glendale's plans for a $27 million library at Glendale Heroes Regional Park. The city spent $1.2 million for design
plans totaling 33,500 square feet in 2008.
"You can build four walls and a roof, but you still have to populate it with computers and magazines and furniture and carpet," said Erik Strunk, director
of Glendale's Community Services Department.
The library was put on hold in 2010 because of the recession, but city officials decided to completely scrap it once they saw that it would have to be
built and operating within a decade or else the fees would have to be refunded.
They can't fund it in that time, Strunk said, and now the plans they commissioned are obsolete.
"We basically had to go back and strip out a lot of capital-improvement projects in my budget and the library is one of those," Strunk said. "We've gotta
go back to the drawing board."
Fees are now collected for and used in specific zones of each city, so in some cases, fees actually rose in one zone and fell in another. But in the case
of libraries, many cities eliminated the development fee collected specifically to fund libraries, including in Glendale, Peoria, Mesa and Surprise.
Cities weren't raking in money from the fees, but it was a steady stream that, over time, played a big part in financing a new project.
Peoria collected about $200,000 from library fees last year. Mesa collected more than $1.3 million in library-fee revenue in the last three years, which it
used to pay off debt from building the Red Mountain Branch of the Mesa Public Library in 1995.
In Gilbert, the town has historically created fewer but larger parks, said Dawn Buckland, Gilbert's director of the Office of Management and Budget. The
town has already bought large parcels of land with plans to develop them into parks, but officials will have to find another source of money.
"I think parks down in the southern part of the city are going to be some of our largest concerns because there are some legitimate needs down there,"
she said.

Looking forward
Arizona homebuilders have lauded the legislation, which they say ensures that fees pay for projects near development and that those projects are
done quickly, said Jackson Moll, deputy director of municipal affairs for the Home Builders Association of Central Arizona.
It's not fair to charge a fee for a park that ends up being built across the city, he said, and if an amenity benefits more than just the new people in the
development, then cities should find another source of money.
While costs for developers have fallen in many cities, some local officials think that will be only temporary.
In Scottsdale, a major expansion of a water treatment center was put on hold because the need is forecasted in 11 years, outside the necessary 10year limit.
"We are going to come back in the near future and propose to raise our fees because of these timing issues," said Gina Kirklin, Scottsdale's enterprise
finance manager.
ON THE BEAT
Kaila White covers Glendale City Hall, the Glendale Municipal Airport, homeowner associations, public safety and other municipal issues
How to reach her
kaila.white@arizonarepublic.com
Phone:602-444-6914
Twitter: @kailawhite
Read or Share this story: http://azc.cc/1x37y4e

